
AGENDA

CABINET

IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING CABINET SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
WEDNESDAY , 25 NOVEMBER 2020

VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS

ALL MOBILE TELEPHONES TO BE SWITCHED TO SILENT FOR THE 
DURATION OF THE MEETING

Part 1

1. Appointment of Chairperson  

2. Declarations of Interest  

3. Gnoll Estate Country Park Masterplan  (Pages 3 - 200)

4. Neath Business Improvement District Ballot  (Pages 201 - 214)

5. Traffic Order 2020 and Traffic Calming Measures at Penscynor, 
Cilfrew (Revocation) (20 MPH Speed Limits)  (Pages 215 - 228)

6. Miscellaneous Grant Fund Applications  (Pages 229 - 234)

7. Information Technology Equipment for Schools  (Pages 235 - 240)

8. Admission to Community Schools:2022/2023  (Pages 241 - 268)

9. Urgent Items  
Any urgent items (whether public or exempt) at the discretion of the 
Chairperson pursuant to Section 100b (4)(B) of the Local 
Government Act 1972



10. Access to Meetings  
To resolve to exclude the public for the following item/s of business 
pursuant to Regulation 4 (3) and (5) of Statutory Instrument 2001 
No.2290 and the undermentioned exempt Paragraph 14 of Part 4 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.

Part 2

11. Leisure Services Financial Arrangements (Exempt Under 
Paragraph 14)  (Pages 269 - 282)

S.Phillips
Chief Executive

Civic Centre
Port Talbot Thursday, 19 November 2020

Cabinet Members: 

Councillors. R.G.Jones, C.Clement-Williams, D.Jones, E.V.Latham, 
A.R.Lockyer, P.A.Rees, P.D.Richards, A.Wingrave and L.Jones



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Cabinet Board

Wednesday 25th November 2020

Joint Report of Michael Roberts, Head of Street Care and 
Simon Brennan, Head of Property & Regeneration 

Matter for Decision

Wards Affected:  Neath North, Neath South, Cimla and Tonna.

Gnoll Estate Country Park Masterplan

Purpose of the Report

1. To summarise the outcome of the Gnoll Estate Country Park 
Masterplan and the opportunities that the plan presents for 
enhancing the park in line with community feedback.

2. To seek Members’ approval to deliver the prioritised visitor 
experience recommendations this financial year (2020/2021) and the 
longer term proposals over a period of 3-5 years.

3. To outline options for the delivery of the visitor accommodation 
elements of the masterplan.

4. To seek Member approval to delegate authority to negotiate the 
terms of an access agreement with neighbouring landowners The 
Woodland Trust.

Executive Summary

5. This report summarises the outcome of the Gnoll Estate Country 
Park Masterplan process which undertook consultation with the local 
community, local Councillors and relevant stakeholders. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



6. The report outlines and prioritises actions within the visitor 
experience action plan and summarises the proposals for visitor 
accommodation development.

7. The report seeks approval from Members to enter into an access 
agreement with The Woodland Trust in relation to their land which 
borders onto the country park.

Background

8. During 2019 Officers involved in the Management of Gnoll Country 
Park and the Authority’s Tourism Team began discussions around 
the potential for the development of onsite visitor accommodation at 
the park, in particular the installation of a caravan/ camping site and 
the refurbishment of the former Ranger’s cottage. 

9. Rather than developing accommodation in isolation it was 
recognised that there was also a need to; 
1) Understand the opportunities for investment within the Park which 

could support visits by existing audiences, in particular the local 
community; and,

2) Identify additional revenue generation opportunities at the site.

10. Given that the accommodation proposals were likely to require a high 
level of investment and external grant funding, it was essential that 
the Authority was able to measure the feasibility and sustainability of 
the proposals put forward. 

11. In late 2019 NPTCBC appointed Planning Solutions Consulting Ltd to 
undertake an analysis of Gnoll Estate Country Park to assess the 
feasibility of developing on site visitor accommodation within the park 
and improvements that could be made to the wider visitor 
experience. 

12. As part of this study Planning Solutions were instructed to strike a 
balance within their recommendations, between ensuring that the 
park continues to appeal to its current local audience and proposals 
to attract staying visitors. 

13. To inform the master planning process a series of consultation 
exercises were undertaken in January 2020 as follows;
 An online survey of existing visitors and the local community. The 

purpose of the survey was to understand motivations for visiting 

Page 4



the park and obtain views on how the park can be improved. This 
survey received 818 responses and the findings have formed the 
basis of the Visitor Experience Action Plan (please refer to 
Appendix 1).

 A workshop with park staff 
 A workshop with The Friends of Gnoll Country Park and wider 

stakeholders such as The Woodland Trust. 
 A workshop with NPTCBC relevant Cabinet Members and local 

Councillors whose wards include or border on the park.   

14. Due to NPTCBC staff resources being directed towards Covid-19 
efforts the overall completion of the masterplan was delayed until 
post summer 2020, however Planning Solutions Consulting Ltd 
carried on with their research and analysis throughout this period.

15. Visitor Experience Action Plan

16. As stated above; due to the high level of engagement by the local 
community and visitors through the online survey, in addition to the 
feedback obtained during the consultation workshop, it has been 
possible to devise a robust action plan (please refer to Appendix 1) 
to address specific issues and developments relating to;
 Enhancing the Sense of Welcome and Car Parking
 Catering Offer
 Interpretation
 Play and Adventure Activities
 Events
 Marketing
 Other activities (i.e. additional proposals that can add value). 

17. Whilst some of the actions contained within the action plan can be 
delivered relatively quickly, there are some, such as; addressing 
limited staffing resources, seeking funds for marketing activities and 
high cost developments such as café refurbishment etc., that will 
need further consideration and identification of funding to deliver. 

18. There is an allocation of £50,000 set against delivery of elements of 
the Gnoll Country Park Masterplan within the NPTCBC Capital 
Programme. 

19. Officers have discussed the prioritisation of actions which are 
deliverable within the time frame remaining to allocate the funds and 

Page 5



it is recommended that the following are taken forward for delivery by 
31st March 2021;

19.1 Signage at entrance points and pay points explaining how car 
parking costs are reinvested into the park. The aim of this 
action is to enable visitors to the park to understand how the 
car parking fees help to sustain the park for their enjoyment.

19.2 Interpretation panels throughout the park which highlight key 
features and historical assets which will enable visitors to better 
understand the context of the park. 

19.3 In readiness for the summer season agree locations and 
construct BBQ points.

19.4 Install additional seating/picnic benches at new vantage points 
within the park.

19.5 Enhance/create walking routes by installing way markers and 
producing electronic PDFs of the walks so that they can be 
downloaded from the Gnoll Country Park website. As part of 
this Officers would also seek to create a designated running 
trail.

19.6 Rebrand of Café to include a revised (locally/ Welsh relevant) 
menu and enhance overall quality by installing new signage 
and branded clothing for staff.  Officers will seek funds for the 
longer term refurbishment of the café/ internal spaces within the 
centre. 

 
19.7 Subject to budget and space available, consider additional 

playground equipment within the adventure playground in order 
to refresh the offer and maintain interest in the facility.

20. In order to maintain momentum and deliver on the longer term 
actions set out within Appendix 1, it is proposed that an Officer 
working group is formed to work alongside The Friends of Gnoll 
Country Park and The Woodland Trust (as key deliver partners) to 
address the remaining actions over a 3-5 year period. It is proposed 
that this group then reports annually to Board to update on progress.

21. The Visitor Experience Action Plan in intended as a ‘working 
document’ which will be regularly amended to reflect emerging 
opportunities and priorities over the next 3 – 5 years.  For example, 

Page 6



the masterplan does not currently include detailed actions around 
conserving and enhancing biodiversity at Gnoll Estate Country Park 
which is noted as a key priority for respondents of the online survey, 
the Officer Working Group will ensure that biodiversity actions (and 
other priorities) are taken forward within the action plan.

22. Visitor Accommodation Proposals

23. The masterplan undertakes a detailed analysis of the potential visitor 
accommodation development opportunities at Gnoll Estate Country 
Park, specifically at the location of the former service yard which is 
situated behind the former Ranger’s Cottage. The full Gnoll Estate 
Country Park Master Plan document can be found in Appendix 
2.

24. Although the original proposal related to the feasibility of a caravan/ 
camping site and the refurbishment of the Ranger’s Cottage for 
holiday accommodation, the masterplan took a pragmatic approach 
by undertaking an analysis of a wide range of accommodation types 
in order to find a fit which is right for the park.

25. In order to establish the feasibility of developing on site visitor 
accommodation the masterplan outlines the findings of 
comprehensive research relating to;
 Drive time profiles (population within 180 minute drive time of the 

park)
 Demographics within the stated drive times
 Competitor landscape – to understand over or under supply of 

specific accommodation types nearby and country park/ forestry 
recreation sites within an approximate 10 mile radius.

 Average annual accommodation occupancy rates for different 
types of accommodation in Wales

 Emerging trends within the accommodation sector and case 
studies relating to accommodation development at similar 
attractions. 

26. From this research the masterplan undertakes a scored assessment 
of the accommodation developments which offer the greatest 
potential for Gnoll Estate Country Park.
 

27. The weighted scoring matrix which is shown in Figure 1: 
Accommodation Options Scoring Matrix, scores each option 

Page 7



against a set of specific criteria with scores ranging from 1 to 10 (with 
10 being the maximum awarded). 

28. The scoring matrix prioritises two key opportunities for the 
establishment of visitor accommodation at Gnoll Estate Country 
Park;

1) Refurbishment of the former Ranger’s Cottage to create a high 
quality holiday cottage. 

2) The introduction of a cluster of 12 high quality wooden camping 
pods inclusive of ensuite bathroom facilities. 

29. Figure 2 illustrates the potential site layout for the proposals above.

Page 8



Figure 1: Accommodation Options Scoring Matrix

P
age 9



Figure 2: Illustration of proposed layout of accommodation

P
age 10



30. The Masterplan document outlines the costs and operating models 
for the proposed accommodation and officers are keen to move 
forward with these proposals. However, due to the significant 
ongoing impact of Covid 19 the likelihood of sourcing external 
funding in the near future to develop these proposals is decreasing. 
In addition to this the ability of the Council to prioritise funding for 
these proposals at this time may be unrealistic.

31. There is likely to be significant ongoing demand for UK domestic 
breaks in the long term and the location of the proposed 
accommodation may attract interest from private sector holiday 
accommodation developers. 

32. In order to establish a delivery model for accommodation provision at 
Gnoll Estate Country Park it is proposed that officers;

1) Undertake a comprehensive search for suitable external 
funding (including establishing the likelihood of post Covid-19 
funding streams) which could enable a development of this 
nature to be delivered by the Authority

2) Examine the potential ‘in principle’ demand from the private 
sector for taking the proposals forward by undertaking an 
Expression of Interest exercise 

3) Report to Board on the findings of the above exercises to agree 
a model for delivery of visitor accommodation at Gnoll Estate 
Country Park.

33. Access Agreement with The Woodland Trust

34. In 2019 The Woodland Trust purchased approximately 95 ha (235 
acres) of land which borders onto Gnoll Estate Country Park.

35. Officers were given approval by Members to enter into discussions 
with The Woodland Trust in relation to joint working and reciprocal 
access for visitors. 

36. Creating physical linkages, including a pathway and construction of a 
footbridge, between Gnoll Estate Country Park and The Woodland 
Trust site will raise the profile of the park whilst enabling visitors to 
enjoy a much larger area of land for recreation. This will in turn 
enhance the visitor experience and increase dwell time. The access 
structures will fully remain the responsibility of the Woodland Trust, 
this to include maintenance and liability matters. 

Page 11



37. The Woodland Trust is not proposing to create on site car parking on 
their land for use by its members and is seeking to enable its visitors 
to utilise parking available at the Gnoll Estate Country Park car park.

38. Whilst increased usage of the existing car park will have clear 
benefits it could also create additional pressures at busy periods, 
whereby the car parking provision throughout the park regularly 
reaches capacity on peak days. In order to address this officers are 
currently in discussion with The Woodland Trust regarding future 
potential investment for increasing car parking provision to manage 
visitor flows.

39. A plan indicating the scale and location of The Woodland Trust land 
and its proximity to Gnoll Estate Country Park can be found in 
Appendix 3.

Financial Impacts

40. There is already an allocation of £50,000 within the Council’s capital 
programme to deliver improvements linked to the Gnoll Estate 
Country Park Masterplan this financial year (2020/2021).  

41 The longer term and/ or larger scale improvements identified will 
require external grant funding and Officers will seek these 
opportunities out where possible.  

42 There is likely to be a match funding requirement against any future 
grant funding applications and where this arises separate reports will 
be submitted to Board for approval.

43 Discussions are taking place with The Woodland Trust in relation to a 
potential contribution towards maintenance costs of the approaching 
access path. 

Integrated Impact Assessment

44 A first stage impact assessment has been undertaken to assist the 
Council in discharging its legislative duties (under the Equality Act 
2010, the Welsh Language Standards (No.1) Regulations 2015, the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the 
Environment (Wales) Act 2016. The first stage assessment has 
indicated that a more in-depth assessment is not required.  

Page 12



Valleys Communities Impacts

45 None 

Workforce Impacts

46 None. 

Legal Impacts

47 None

Risk Management Impacts

48 None. 

Consultation

49 As part of the master planning process a survey was undertaken of the 
local community/ existing visitors which received 818 responses, this 
feedback is reflected in the visitor experience action plan (Appendix 
1).

50 In addition to the above a series of workshops were held with local 
members and park staff to seek their views on how the park should 
develop. The workshops were also attended by The Friends of Gnoll 
Country Park and The Woodland Trust. 

Recommendations

51 That Members agree the prioritised visitor experience action plan 
projects for delivery by 31st March 2021 (as noted in paragraphs 19.1 
to 19.2) and the formation of an officer working group to liaise with key 
partners on the delivery of the remaining actions within the visitor 
experience action plan over a 3-5 year period.

52 That Members grant approval to enable Officers to undertake further 
research into available funding streams for the proposed development 
of on-site visitor accommodation in addition to undertaking an 
expression of interest exercise with the private sector. The findings of 
these exercises will then be reported back to Members so that a 
delivery model can be agreed. 

Page 13



53 That delegated authority be granted to the Head of Streetcare and the 
Head of Property and Regeneration in consultation with the relevant 
Cabinet Member to negotiate the terms of an access agreement with 
The Woodland Trust to enable reciprocal access for visitors.

Reasons for Proposed Decision

54 The proposed recommendations will facilitate the enhancement of 
facilities and access within Gnoll Estate Country Park, enabling the 
park to continue to attract a local audience whilst also increasing its 
contribution to the visitor economy through the development of onsite 
visitor accommodation.

Implementation of Decision

55 The decision is proposed for implementation after the three day call in 
period.

Appendices

56 Appendix 1 – Visitor Experience Action Plan
57 Appendix 2 – Gnoll Estate Country Park Visitor Experience and 

Accommodation Masterplan
58 Appendix 3– Woodland Trust Location Plan.
59 Appendix 4– IIA Screening Form.

List of Background Papers

Officer Contact

Michael Roberts – Head of Streetcare, Tel: 01639 686966

Simon Brennan – Head of Property and Regeneration, Tel: 01639 686370

Page 14



 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  1 
 

Gnoll Estate Country Park: Visitor experience 

development action plan 
Whilst the focus of the work is on assessing the feasibility of introducing visitor 
accommodation at Gnoll Estate Country Park, we recognise that there is a need to enhance 
the wider offer to meet the needs of overnight guests but also members of the local 
community.   Please note that this action plan should be read in conjunction with the full 
report (Gnoll Estate Country Park Accommodation Masterplan Final Report), which 
provides the wider background context (stakeholder research, full primary research and 
market review). 
 

 

Note:  The visitor modelling for the adjacent Woodland Trust site has not yet been carried 

out (it is planned as a future stage of work).   Depending on the outcome this could 

significantly increase the level of throughput generated at Gnoll Estate Country Park 

which would impact on our recommendations below. 

 

 

Visitor needs 
In the table below we set out the findings from the primary research.  Overall, there is a 

positive outlook in terms of introducing new facilities / enhancing existing facilities to 

improve the overall offer at Gnoll Estate Country Park.  There are several areas where 

visitors would like to like to see change or new facilities introduced.  For example, this is 

particularly evident in terms of additional interpretation or improved signage, 52% of 

respondents felt the provision of additional information on the history of the country park 

was either a high priority or essential element which could be enhanced. 

 

Page 15

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  2 
 

 
 

In respect of festivals / events respondents were asked to comment on ideas for the type of 

events.  Responses included: 

 

 “Winter wonderland, food festival, wellness festival…” 

 

 “A family concert would be lovely or a big family day out concert fair” 

 

 “Music concerts, Christmas lights…” 

 

 “Open air theatre…” 

 

 “Music, craft festival, environmental issues/raising awareness, making things from 

junk (sculptures)” 

 

 “Regular craft lessons/sessions (which could be hosted in the meeting room)” 

 

 “Live bands, open cinema, food & drink markets, more children’s events” 

 

 “Events need to be more environmentally based...e.g wood carving etc. I really dislike 

the funfair" 

 

 “Welsh music, something for St David's Day” 

Facility / service High priority (%) Essential (%) Desirable (%) Not needed (%)
Would not like 

to see (%)

New play area 14 11 37 34 4

Scultpure trail 13 6 51 25 5

Play trail 22 11 52 12 3

Indoor play 15 14 32 28 10

Enhance café 21 26 40 12 1

Additional interpretation 6 5 26 48 5

Improved signgage 9 8 36 44 3

Dedicated BBQ area 13 10 38 25 15

Outdoor cinema 17 14 40 19 10

Enhanced focus on conservation / 

environment
32 30 32 6 0

More information on the history of the 

site / local area
28 24 37 10 1

Rowing boats for hire 20 13 41 15 11

Festivals / events 19 22 36 15 8

Page 16

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  3 
 

 

 “Ghost tours, history tour of site, themed days from18th century, music festivals, 

family fun sports day” 

 

 “The Margam Park luminate event was a massive hit and sell out at Christmas, 

maybe we could explore the logistics of replicating a similar event at the Gnoll. 

 

However, one respondent commented they “don't want to see themed events spoiling the 

tranquillity of the area.” 

 

Other ideas / comments, included: 

“I would love to see the park promote camping excursions, small festivals such as Neaths’ 

Band Fest, which is currently held in pubs in Neath. The addition of boats of the lake would 

be exciting and appealing to all ages. Previously, the Gnoll held ghost tours in the cellars, this 

held great appeal! It was interesting and fun! The Gnoll holds so much history for Neath. 

Adding a campsite option will bring people to the town, it will need to be manned to avoid 

teenagers but Clyne Gardens and Langors Lake, Brecon have done it so well!” 

 

Respondents were asked whether the improvements they selected as either high or 

essential would make them likely to visit more often.  91% stated they would. 

 

Respondents were also asked what they would not like to see introduced at Gnoll Estate 

Country Park.   The answers generated varied responses but a number of comments were 

raised about car parking charges “Higher charges for car park. The current price is far too 

high.”   There are some concerns about the type of events and the noise which is associated 

with these.   

 

Also, consideration should be given to the impact that enhancing or introducing new 

facilities could have upon the wildlife / environment and that the country park should not 

be ‘over commercialised’.     

 

Development action plan 
Based upon the drawing the research and consultation together we set below out a range of 

initiatives in an action plan format to enhance the visitor experience of the wider country 

park.   

 

These represent a package of initiatives which set out the next steps for Gnoll Estate 

Country Park.    

 

 

Page 17

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  4 
 

 
 

These have been themed or categorised under the following headings: 

 

 
 

It is important to note that there are key guiding principles which provide a framework for 

developing the action plan: 

 

 Where possible interventions / project should make a positive financial contribution 

to Gnoll Estate Country Park, but recognising that a number of interventions will not 

have a ‘direct financial impact’ but may increase dwelltime and engagement with 

visitors 

Page 18

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  5 
 

 

 Interventions should respect the qualities that make Gnoll Estate Country Park a 

special place to visit 

 

 The projects should be targeted at the local communities (it is recognised that visitor 

accommodation will draw people from further afield) 
 

Health initiatives 

At a National and County Borough Level there is a policy drive around encouraging people 

to become more active to reduce levels of obesity along with improving physical health 

and mental wellbeing.  Country parks and recreation sites have a key role to play in this 

respect. 

 

It is interesting to look at Moors Valley Country Park which is a hub site used by the 

Council to encourage people to become more active.  17 weekly health walks of different 

lengths, these include Nordic Walking, Wellness Walks, Workout Walks which are self-

sustaining along with running, cycling (including night cycling and accessible cycling), 

Mindfulness in Nature, Summer Evening Yoga and Fitness Buggy Workouts.   

 

Subject to seed funding this initiative could be introduced at Gnoll Estate Country Park.  

Alongside health and wellbeing outcomes there are financial benefits in respect of direct 

spend on car parking and within the café. 

 

 

Indicative cost  

We have allocated an indicative cost to all initiatives using the scale above. Please note all 

costs are subject to review by a QS, site survey and they do not take into account services or 

professional fees or Council staff time or any additional services required.  All figures are net 

of VAT. 

 

 £ <£1,000 

 ££ - £1,001 to £10,000 

 £££ - £10,001 to £25,000 

 ££££ - £25,001 to £50,000 

 £££££ - £50,001 to £100,000 

 ££££££ - £100,000+ 

 

Impact and priority 

The impact on the visitor experience and financial position (direct income) along with the 

priority of the project are set out as Low, Medium and High. 

 

Resources 

Page 19

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  6 
 

The initiatives have a resource implication in terms of delivering the project and this is 

highlighted in the action plan (this does not cover the operational phase – please see 

commentary below). 

 

 

Page 20

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  7 
 

Enhancing the sense of welcome and car parking 
 

Enhancing the sense of welcome and car parking 

 

Actions Rationale Indicative 

cost 

Impact Priority Staff 

resource Visitor 

experience 

Financial 

Introduce welcome signage at 

all vehicle entry points and 

main pedestrian entry points  

 

 Enhance the immediate sense 

of arrival 

 

 Create a strong and positive 

first impression 

 

£££ M L M L 

Incorporate orientation 

information at key points 

(entry, car parking and nodes 

within the country park) 

highlighting important 

features of Gnoll Estate 

Country Park 

 

 To signpost key elements of 

the visitor experience to 

encourage visitors to use / 

explore specific areas within 

Gnoll Estate Country Park 

£££ M L M L 

Introduce signage at payment 

points to explain to visitors 

how the car parking income is 

used 

 Increase acceptance / 

willingness to pay car parking 

fee 

 

££ M L H L 

P
age 21

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  8 
 

 Used to explain future 

increases in car parking charges 

 

 Reduces complaints 

 

Consider reviewing charging 

tariffs based on different 

dwelltime bands 

 

 Potential to increase income 

generated via car parking 

 

 Wider acceptance of car 

parking charges 

 

£ H M H M 

Consider introduction of 

ANPR system 

 To minimise leakage and 

maximise revenue 

 

 Improve customer experience 

(paying on exit rather than at 

start of journey).  Reducing 

queues  

 

££££/£££££ H M M L 

Extend existing hard standing 

car parking 

(recognise need to consider 

any ‘claw back’ from Ryder 

Cup funding) 

 Provide additional car parking 

spaces 

 

 Reduce dependency on good 

weather to accommodate 

additional cars during peak 

periods 

££££££ H H H (see 

first 

column) 

H 

P
age 22

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  9 
 

 

 Reduces staff time spent 

managing the car park during 

peak periods 

 

Introduce car parking tariff on 

the lower level to have a 

consistent policy (we 

recognise that this needs to 

be handled sensitively).  

Would also need to consider 

controlling parking / access 

on the lower level road 

leading up to the former 

Ranger’s Cottage 

 Maximise revenue generated 

onsite 

Part of above 

work 

package 

L L/M H M 

 

  

P
age 23

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  10 
 

PRECEDENT IMAGES 

 

   
 

ANPR system introduced within car parks managed at Hampshire County Council’s country parks 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 24

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  11 
 

  
 

Attenborough Nature Centre – explaining how the car parking “donation” is used and messaging at Alice Holt Forestry England site 

 

  

P
age 25

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  12 
 

Catering 

 

Improve the quality of the catering offer to maximise spend 

 

Actions Rationale Indicative 

cost 

Impact Priority Staff 

resource Visitor 

experience 

Financial 

Open up hatch in reception 

space during peak periods 

(near main entrance within 

visitor centre) to serve a  

selection of drinks, ice-cream, 

premade sandwiches and 

snacks 

 Reduce queues during peak 

periods and relieve pressure on 

main servery 

 

 Increase sales / income 

 

 Could be trialled relatively 

quickly 

 

££ H M H L 

Redesign of kitchen / servery 

counter (current facilities are 

not ideal and impact on the 

experience / offer).  Including 

investment in equipment 

 

Counter would enable food to 

be displayed in an attractive 

fashion 

 Maximise revenue 

 

 Reduce queues / improves 

throughput 

 

 Create a more welcoming offer 

/ space 

 

£££££  H H H H 

P
age 26

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  13 
 

Redesign menu (including 

healthy options / daily specials 

/ pre-booked high-teas etc) 

 

 Meeting the needs of customers 

 

 Help to reposition the café  

 

 Increase average spend and use 

of the café 

 

Part of above H M/H H L/M 

Market test option to hire out 

café outside of core opening 

hours to service functions / 

social uses e.g. wedding 

anniversaries, birthdays (not 

18th birthdays).  Also, 

opportunity for functions use 

of meeting space with 

improved catering offer 

 

 Maximise revenue generated 

from ‘asset’  

££ H M H L 

Enhance ambiance e.g. picture 

windows, wood burning stove 

 Improve customer experience, 

create a more warm / 

welcoming atmosphere 

 

 Taken together this package of 

initiatives has the potential to 

improve visits outside of the 

core season 

 

££££ M/H M H M 

P
age 27

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  14 
 

Trial ‘dog friendly’ café outside 

of peak season  

 Meet needs of visitors (25% of 

respondents to the survey 

stated walking the dog was the 

main reason they visit the 

country park) 

 

NA H L/M H L 

Introduce weekly barbecue 

food offer to be run by 

catering staff during summer 

period (one evening per week 

on a trial basis) 

 

 Used to extend opening hours 

 

 Provides additional revenue 

 

 Engage with new audiences 

£ M L M L 

Refresh internal decor  Creates strong positive first 

impression and welcoming 

atmosphere where people want 

to spend time 

 

Part of above 

package of 

initiatives 

H L M L 

Rebrand café as part of 

‘relaunch’ (including signage, 

menus etc) 

 Create stronger identity in the 

market place 

 

 Key part of ‘refreshing’ the offer 

/ experience 

££ M L H L (external 

agency) 

 
We did consider a standalone kiosk but we have been informed that if this was introduced that this would impact negatively on the event 

organisers business.   It is recognised that the Council are investing in the external space immediately outside of the café. 
 

P
age 28

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  15 
 

PRECEDENT IMAGES 

 

   
 

Queen Elizabeth Country Park: Architectural treatment of the front of the visitor centre and refurbishment of the café space with new menu offer 

 

    
 

Wood burning stove at Dinton Pastures Country Park, use of a national dish – Cawl at Gower Heritage Centre and table top map promoting the National Forest at CONKERS 

P
age 29

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  16 
 

Interpretation 

 

Interpretation – the rich built and natural heritage remains hidden.  Explore opportunities to bring this to the forefront 

of the visitor experience1.  The initiatives below would need to be considered as part of a wider interpretation plan 

Actions Rationale Indicative 

cost 

Impact Priority Staff 

resource Visitor 

experience 

Financial 

Develop interpretation plan  The aim is to build storytelling 

into a coherent, distinctive and 

captivating ‘spirit of place’ 

 

££/£ M/H L M L (work 

with 

external 

agency) 

Introduce stamp boards as 

part of themed trail 

 To encourage visitors to explore 

the wider country park 

 

££ M L M L 

Introduce interpretation 

within the visitor centre 

 Improve visitors’ understanding 

and knowledge about the 

natural environment and 

heritage of the country park 

 

£££  M L M L (external 

agency) 

 
*Further considerable should be given to introducing a consistence set of signs / use of interpretation and orientation panels in terms of 

presentation and branding.    An opportunity may exist to work closely with the Woodland Trust to develop an integrated approach across 

both sites given the proximity and opportunity to work together. 

                                                           
1 It is recognised that the Council has invested in creating a short film which is being streamed in the cafe 

P
age 30

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  17 
 

 
PRECEDENT IMAGES 

 

  
 

Orientation map at Langley Park and signage at Silent Valley, Gwent Wildlife Trust 

 

 

 

P
age 31

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  18 
 

Play and adventure activities 

 
The play and activity experience…encouraging repeat visits, increasing dwell-time and providing opportunities for 

physical activity 

 

Actions Rationale Indicative 

cost 

Impact Priority Staff 

resource Visitor 

experience 

Financial 

Introduce play trail linking the 

visitor centre to the Woodland 

Trust land (the proposed 

bridge joining the two sites) 

 Encourage visitors to explore 

wider country park (rather than 

staying around the honey pot 

area) 

 

 Encourage visitors to explore 

Woodland Trust site  

 

 Increase dwelltime and 

potential for secondary spend 

 

££££££  H L H M 

Assault course challenge 

(longer term initiative to 

refresh offer) 

 

 Encourage repeat visits 

 

 Generate some corporate use 

££££££ H L L M 

P
age 32

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  19 
 

Explore opportunities to 

introduce seasonal pedalos 

and/or rowing boat hire on the 

main water body (will need to 

introduce pontoon and rescue 

boat) 

 

 Offers low cost option for 

visitors to get on the water 

 

 Broadens appeal of the Country 

Park 

 

 Direct income generator 

 

£££/££££ 

(excluding 

pontoon) 

M M H M 

Way marked routes for 

runners / walkers (potentially 

on a temporary basis) – linking 

routes of differing distances 

across Gnoll Estate Country 

Park and adjoining Woodland 

Trust site 

 

 Integrate both sites 

 

 Make site specifically more 

‘attractive’ to runners 

£ M L M L (work 

with Park 

Run and 

Woodland 

Trust) 

Refresh play (adjacent to 

woodland) by introducing new 

pieces of play equipment 

 

 Quick win, potentially 

deliverable prior to Whitsun 

half-term 

 

 Positive PR 

££££ M L H L 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 33

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  20 
 

PRECEDENT IMAGES 

 

  
Start of play trail at Moors Valley and swan pedalos at Ferry Meadows 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 34

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  21 
 

Events (including activities) 

 

Events 

 

Actions Rationale Indicative 

cost 

Impact Priority Staff 

resource Visitor 

experience 

Financial 

Introduction of major out of 

season Winter Wonderland 

experience (would require 

partner to take forward 

project) 

 

 Increase income (rental to 

Council and onsite spend) 

 

 Create a reason to visit Gnoll 

Estate Country Park during 

period of lower throughput 

(extends the season) 

 

 Engage with new audiences 

 

££  H M H M 

Summer outdoor cinema 

evening programme (would 

require partner to take 

forward project) 

 

 Extends onsite operating hours 

 

 Generates additional visitor 

spend 

 

 Engages with new 

audiences/create a new reason 

to visit 

££ H L/M H M 

P
age 35

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  22 
 

 

 Low risk to Council if 

partnership approach adopted 

 

Advertise opportunity to event 

organisers that small-scale 

events e.g. crafting and talks 

can be hosted within the 

visitor centre meeting room 

and other activities such as 

bushcrafts within the wider 

country park (the 

events/activities would be run 

by approved third parties) 

 

 Engage with new audiences 

(particularly outside of main 

season) 

 

 Income generation 

£ M L M L 

 
The above options may require an investment from the Council in terms of supporting infrastructure and there is a requirement to develop an 

events strategy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

P
age 36

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  23 
 

PRECEDENT IMAGES 

 

   
 

Winter Wonderland at CONKERS (fenced site) – creating a new income stream at Gnoll Estate Country Park (in partnership) 

 

  

P
age 37

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  24 
 

Other initiatives 

 

Other initiatives  

 

Actions Rationale Indicative 

cost 

Impact Priority Staff 

resource Visitor 

experience 

Financial 

Introduce pre-booked bbq 

packages (purpose-built BBQs) 

 

 Increase revenue generation 

across the country park 

££ L L M L 

Introduction of additional 

seating to take advantage of 

key views across lower lake 

(route around the lake) 

 

 Improves accessibility  

 

 Encourages people to explore 

wider country park 

££ M L H L 

Dog agility course 

 

 Directly serves important and 

rowing dog owner market 

 

  Creates good feature for 

regular PR and social media 

coverage 

 

 

££/£££ M L M L 

Office letting engage with 

Woodland Trust to enquire 

 Secures rental income £ L M H L 

P
age 38

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  25 
 

whether they require office 

space on the upper level of the 

visitor centre building.  But 

could impact on using lower 

level of secondary catering 

outlet (see 9.2.2 above)  

 

Maintenance of landscape 

character / features along with 

paths/trails and repair of some 

heritage structures 

 Improve visitor experience 

 

 Ensure all paths / trails are 

usable 

 

 Improve the condition for 

wildlife  

 

Unknown H L H H 

(recognise 

this would 

need 

additional 

staff 

resource) 

Consider a designated area for 

a Certificated Location (CL) for 

up to 5 touring units.  Requires 

secure area but only limited 

facilities as a minimum.   

 Complements proposals for 

camping pods 

£££ L M M M 

 

  

P
age 39

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  26 
 

PRECEDENT IMAGES 

 

   
Dog agility area within Queen Elizabeth Country Park 

 

 
Pre-booked bbq at Alice Holt (permanent bbq with picnic bench) 

 

P
age 40

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  27 
 

Marketing 

 

Marketing – without marketing, it will be difficult to attract additional visitors to Gnoll Estate Country Park (particularly 

important given potential investment to be made into accommodation base) 

 

Actions Rationale Indicative 

cost 

Impact Priority Staff 

resource Visitor 

experience 

Financial 

Initial annual programme of 

customer research, using online 

service such as SNAP to reduce 

the costs / staff resource 

 

 To understand the needs of 

customers 

 

 Identify new development 

opportunities 

 

 Track/monitor satisfaction 

levels 

 

Revenue 

cost if 

carried out 

internally 

NA NA H L 

Work with agency to develop 

annual marketing action plan 

(from Year 2 onwards update 

in-house) 

 Develop strategic approach to 

marketing and integrate within 

existing Tourism Team(?) 

 

 Raise awareness of this hidden 

‘gem’ 

 

££ NA NA H L (using 

agency in 

Year One.  

Then take 

in-house) 

P
age 41

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  28 
 

Employ part-time marketing 

officer (2 days a week to 

market the country park).  

Ensure that person has 

background in marketing of 

visitor attractions or similar 

 

Consider joint working with 

Margam Country Park (and / or 

other tourism assets) 

 Implement marketing action 

plan and to raise the profile of 

Gnoll Estate Country Park 

 

 Increase the number of visits 

from new users 

 

 Increase the number of repeat 

visits from existing visitors  

 

 Leading to increase income 

generation potential 

 

Revenue 

cost 

NA NA H H 

Introduce system to track 

annual visitor numbers 

 Develop accurate visitor data 

on number of visitors (help to 

evaluate offer and investment) 

 

   H L/M 

 

P
age 42

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  29 
 

Resources 

 

it is recognised that the current operation is run on a very lean basis, Councils are being 

asked to do more with less.   With the current staffing structure there is limited capacity 

to take on new projects, both during the delivery phase and ongoing operational basis.  

This has also had an impact on the current visitor experience.  

 

During the consultation it was felt as a minimum the ranger team needed an additional 

permanent member of staff to work between April through to the end of September.   

The enhanced catering offer will also need additional staff (subject to business planning). 

 

A further consideration is to develop a strong, active and flexible volunteering group who 

are able to carry out specific physical tasks to support the Ranger team on a project-by-

project basis.   It is recognised that there is a financial and time resource commitment to 

develop, manage and train volunteers in specific skill sets.  A volunteer system would also 

reinforce links with the community.   A successful example to look at is Paxton Pits Nature 

Reserve managed by Huntingdonshire District Council. 

 

It will be important to explore partnership working opportunities with the Woodland 

Trust, particularly in terms of marketing and landscape management. 

 
 

Page 43

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                              
 

 

Gnoll Estate Country Park Accommodation Masterplan 

Final Report 
 

   
    

          
 

 

 

 

Prepared by  
 

Planning Solutions Consulting Limited 
May 2020 

 

 

Strictly Private and Confidential - Commercially Sensitive 

 

Page 45



 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

All information, analysis and recommendations made for clients by Planning Solutions Consulting Limited (PSCL) are made  

in good faith and represent PSCL’s professional judgement on the basis of information obtained from the client and 

elsewhere during the course of the assignment.  However, since the achievement of recommendations, forecasts and 

valuations depends on factors outside PSCL’s control, no statement made by PSCL may be deemed in any circumstances to 

be a representation, undertaking or warranty, and PSCL cannot accept any liability should such statements prove to be 

inaccurate or based on incorrect premises.  In particular, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any 

projections, financial or otherwise, in this report are intended only to illustrate particular points of argument and do not 

constitute forecasts of actual performance.    Please note that the demographic data is supplied by a third party and PSCL 

cannot be held liability for any inaccuracies in the data provided.  This report should not be copied or distributed to any 

third parties without the express written permission of Planning Solutions Consulting Limited due to the confidential 

nature and commercial sensitivity of some of the information contained within this document.   

Client Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council 

 

 

Title Gnoll Estate Country Park Accommodation Masterplan 

 

 

Version 

 

Final Report 

Date May 2020 

 

Contact details Planning Solutions Consulting Limited 

9 Leigh Road 

Havant 

Hampshire PO9 2ES 

 

office@pslplan.co.uk  

 

 

  

 

Page 46

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/
mailto:office@pslplan.co.uk


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  3 

 

Contents 
 

Executive summary 

 

1.0 Introduction 
1.1 The brief 

1.2 Report structure 

1.3 Methodology 

 

2.0 Site review and SWOT analysis 
2.1  Site review 

2.2  Summary SWOT analysis 

 

3.0 Strategic context 
3.1 Prosperity for All: economic action plan 

3.2 National Tourism Action Plan 

3.3 Our Valleys, Our Future 

3.4 Shaping NPT – Neath Port Talbot Council Corporate Plan  

3.5 Neath Port Talbot Destination Plan 

3.6 Planning context 

3.7 Country parks sector 

 3.8 What does this mean for Gnoll Estate Country Park? 

 

4.0 Consultation and primary research 
4.1 Consultation 

4.2 Primary research 

 

5.0 Market assessment 
5.1 Demographic profile 

5.2 Competitive landscape 

5.3 Tourism sector 

5.4 Visitor accommodation and occupancy data 

5.4.1 Occupancy data 

5.4.2 Visitor accommodation products 

5.4.3 Wider observations 

5.5 Market SWOT 

 

6.0 Case examples 
6.1 Under The Thatch 

6.2 Cwmcarn Camping Pods 

 

 

Page 47

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  4 

 

7.0 Options assessment 
7.1 Accommodation uses – a longlist 

 7.1.1 Conversion of former Rangers' cottage 

7.1.2 Conversion of existing buildings (former potting sheds) on site to bunkhouse 

type of accommodation 

7.1.3 Cluster of high-quality self-catering lodges 

7.1.4  Cluster of seasonal yurts or other temporary ‘glamping’ structures such as 

pods or wooden tents 

7.1.5 Seasonal camping field 

7.1.6  Floating structure  

7.1.7  One-off design led intervention  

7.1.8 Touring caravan site 

7.2 Assessment criteria and scoring matrix 

7.3 Accommodation preferred development scenario 

 

8.0 Financial and operational considerations 
8.1 Occupancy 

8.2 Tariff base 

8.3 Financial model 

8.4 Sensitivity analysis in respect of occupancy levels 

8.5 Tourism impacts 

 

9.0 Visitor experience development action plan 
9.1 Visitor needs 

9.2 Development action plan 

9.2.1 Enhancing the sense of welcome and car parking 

9.2.2 Catering 

9.2.3 Interpretation 

9.2.4 Play and adventure activities 

9.2.5 Events (including activities) 

9.2.6 Other initiatives 

9.2.7 Marketing 

9.2.8  Resources 
 

10.0 Concluding remarks 
  

Page 48

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  5 

 

Executive summary 
“I have used and visited the Gnoll for the last 30+ yrs with my children and hoping to bring 

my grandchildren in the future.  Still enjoy the walking, feeding the ducks/swans and the 

Parkrun each Saturday so important for my health and wellbeing as I get older fantastic 

park and an asset to NPT, would choose to visit here for family picnics more so than 

travelling to Swansea or Gower. We even have an annual car parking pass such value for 

money. Thank you” A quote from a respondent to the online survey. 

 

The main focus of this commission for Planning Solutions Consulting Limited has been to 

assess the opportunity to introduce a form of overnight visitor accommodation within Gnoll 

Estate Country Park.  Secondly, we have also developed a visitor experience action plan to 

enhance the wider country park, which builds on the successful work carried out by the 

Parks & Cemeteries Department. 

 

Gnoll Estate Country Park is an award-winning park which is managed by Neath Port Talbot 

County Borough Council.    The park is located on the urban fringe of Neath and provides an 

important recreational resource for members of the local community – from the family 

market through to people attending events and Parkrun. 

 

The parkland covers approximately 219 acres.  As part of a former country estate, there are 

distinct zones of landscape character including woodland, an 18th century parkland and 

attractive lake areas.  The country park incorporates a range of key built facilities: a café 

with a new external covered area, two children’s play areas (including accessible play) water 

cascades, the ruins of Gnoll House (including the cellars), an established network of trails 

and a nine-hole golf course.  It is estimated that annual visitor numbers are approximately 

420,000 visits. 

 

Importantly, the Woodland Trust has acquired an adjacent farm which will be replanted to 

create a new and attractive woodland, along with pastures alongside the existing ancient 

woodland.   It is envisaged that people visiting the Woodland Trust site will use the car park 

within the country park, which will generate additional revenue in terms of car parking fees 

and secondary spend in catering.    Currently, the number of visitors who will be attracted to 

the Woodland Trust site remains unknown. 

 

As part of our study, a module of community research was carried out with a questionnaire 

promoted online by Neath Port Talbot County Borough – this generated 818 responses 

which demonstrates a very strong level of engagement with the park among local people.     

The full results of the survey are set out in the report, but below we highlight some key 

findings: 

 

Page 49

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  6 

 

• High level of local usage with 71% of respondents living within 20-minutes of the 

country park 

 

• 46% of visitors visit at least once a week (some 18% of responds visit several times a 

week) 

 

• 77% of visitors stay between 1 and 4 hours with only 1% of visitors spending less at 

30-minutes on site 

 

Alongside the online survey a number of workshops were hosted at Gnoll Estate Country 

Park.  These were attended by Councillors, staff at the Country Park, Officers within the 

Council, the Friends Group, representatives from the Woodland Trust and a representative 

from Parkrun.   It was recognised that future development initiatives will need to maintain a 

careful balance between the qualities which make Gnoll Estate Country Park a special place 

to visit and the need to generate additional income.   It was highlighted that the catering 

offer could be enhanced and the introduction of appropriate visitor accommodation was 

broadly supported. 

 

The market catchment for the short breaks market is strong in terms of the overall headline 

figure.  Some 3.8 million (3,861,962) live within the 2-hour drivetime catchment of the 

country park but it is recognised that there are some pockets of deprivation.   Tourism plays 

an important role within the economy of the County Borough and the latest research data 

shows overall growth in tourist numbers between 2007 and 2018.   The majority of visitors 

are day visitors. 

 

A number of leisure sites – from Rother Valley Country Park through to the Eden Project in 

Cornwall have, as a later phase of development invested in onsite overnight visitor 

accommodation.   The Council has identified a preferred development site which 

incorporates the former Ranger’s Cottage and adjacent yard area. 

 

A range of accommodation options were identified, including: 

• Conversion of the former Ranger’s cottage 

• Bunkhouse 

• Cluster of high-quality self-catering lodges 

• Cluster of seasonal yurts or other temporary ‘glamping’ structures such as pods or 

wooden tents 

• Seasonal camping field 

• Floating structure  

• One-off design led intervention 

• Touring caravan site 

 

 

Page 50

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  7 

 

For each type of accommodation use a description was set out, referencing an example in 

the market place and identifying the associated pros and cons. 

 

A weighted scoring matrix with a range of criteria was used to assess the options and the 

lead option to emerge centred on developing a cluster of 12-high quality wooden pods, with 

ensuite shower and toilet facilities. 

 

 
Subject to refurbishment costs the conversion of the former Ranger’s Cottage into a high-

quality self-catering accommodation unit would form part of the overall accommodation 

package. 

 

Based on an eight-month season, (March through to October), a three-year outline trading 

profile was prepared for the wooden pods.   Please see table on the following page. 

 

Different occupancy levels were identified which increased from 30% in March to 70% in 

August, the peak month.   The occupancy model shows a cautious level of year-on-year 

growth.  To achieve the occupancy levels and to reduce the level of risk it is recommended 

that the Council works with a third-party booking agency to help drive sales during the early 

years of operation.   The tariff being achieved during the peak month of August is shown at 

£78 per night. 

 

 

 

 

Page 51

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  8 

 

 
 

A sensitivity analysis has been carried out based on increasing and reducing occupancy 

levels by 10%.  Please see table below. 

 

10% increase in occupancy levels being achieved 

 
10% decrease in occupancy levels being achieved 

 
 

The prioritised visitor experience development plan was informed by the site review, 

strategic context, market assessment, consultation and direct primary research with 

members of the local community.   The visitor research highlighted-specific elements of the 

visitor experience within Gnoll Estate Country Park which could be enhanced.  Please see 

the table below: 

Revenue / Costs Year One Year Two Year Three

Income 88,706      92,289         96,018         

Costs 64,329      64,154         65,060         

Profit / (loss) before EBITDA        24,376 28,136         30,958         

Revenue / Costs Year One Year Two Year Three

Income 72,577      75,509         78,560         

Costs 57,651      57,673         58,586         

Profit / (loss) before EBITDA        14,926 17,836         19,974         

Page 52

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  9 

 

 

 
 

The action plan sets out individual initiatives, along with a rationale, indicative capital costs, 

impact (both financial and impact on the visitor experience), priority and staff resource 

implications. 

 

Individual actions were categorised as follows: 

• Enhancing the sense of welcome and car parking 

• Improving the quality of the catering offer to maximise spend 

• Interpretation  

• The play and activity experience 

• Events 

• Other initiatives  

• Market 

 

Please note that since submitting the Draft (9th March 2020), the COVID-19 pandemic has 

had a significant impact on the tourism and day leisure marketplace.     

Facility / service High priority (%) Essential (%) Desirable (%) Not needed (%)
Would not like 

to see (%)

New play area 14 11 37 34 4

Scultpure trail 13 6 51 25 5

Play trail 22 11 52 12 3

Indoor play 15 14 32 28 10

Enhance café 21 26 40 12 1

Additional interpretation 6 5 26 48 5

Improved signgage 9 8 36 44 3

Dedicated BBQ area 13 10 38 25 15

Outdoor cinema 17 14 40 19 10

Enhanced focus on conservation / 

environment
32 30 32 6 0

More information on the history of the 

site / local area
28 24 37 10 1

Rowing boats for hire 20 13 41 15 11

Festivals / events 19 22 36 15 8

Page 53

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  10 

 

1.0 Introduction 
1.1 The brief 
Planning Solutions Consulting Limited has been commissioned to work with Neath Port 

Talbot County Borough Council to carry out an assessment to identify if there is an 

opportunity to introduce overnight visitor accommodation within Gnoll Estate Country Park, 

a popular country park managed by the Council. 

 

Whilst it is recognised assessing the opportunity to introduce visitor accommodation is the 

main focus of our work, we have also included an action plan to enhance the wider offer in 

the country park. 

 

1.2 Report structure 
The report is structured as follows: 

 

Section Two – provides a review of the current offer at Gnoll Estate Country Park and a 

summary SWOT analysis has been used to identify key strengths, weaknesses, threats and 

opportunities.   This includes summary information from the online visitor survey which 

generated 818 responses.  A commentary on the accommodation development site has also 

been provided. 

 

Section Three – sets out the wider strategic context particularly in terms of the national 

tourism strategy, the Destination Management Plan, Planning Policy and wider context 

about some of the challenges country parks are facing across the UK. 

 

Section Four – sets out the key findings from the consultation exercise and also the primary 

research among users of Gnoll Estate Country Park. 

 

Section Five – the market assessment has analysed the demographic profile of residents 

living within the 0 to 120 and 120 to 180-minute drivetime profiles.   The drivetime 

catchments have been extended as the main focus is to identify the market size and 

characteristics in respect of overnight accommodation uses.    We have set out the 

competitive landscape in terms of the provision of self-catering accommodation within the 

locality but also the offer at other recreation sites. The tourism market has also been 

reviewed alongside trends within the accommodation sector.  A summary market SWOT has 

been produced. 

 

Section Six – two case examples have been reviewed for Under The Thatch and the 

Cwmcarn Camping Pods. 

 

Section Seven – the options assessment sets out a long-list of potential visitor 

accommodation uses.  For each use we provide a description, reference example(s) and the 

Page 54

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  11 

 

associated pros / benefits and cons / constraints.    We also set out the potential fit with 

Gnoll Estate Country Park.   A weighted scoring matrix has been used to assess the options.  

For the preferred development scenario, we set out an indicative capital cost.  

 

Section Eight – considers the financial and operational elements including producing an 

occupancy model and three-year trading profile for the accommodation project.  A 

sensitivity analysis based on occupancy levels has also been prepared.  Wider impacts 

related to the accommodation project are also considered. 

 

Section Nine - sets out an action plan to support the development of the wider country 

park.  This provides a description of the initiative, the indicative capital cost and whether it 

is a ‘low’, ‘medium’ or ‘high’ priority intervention. 

 

Interventions have been considered using the following categories: 

 

• Enhancing the sense of welcome and car parking 

• Catering 

• Interpretation 

• Play and adventure activities 

• Events (including activities) 

• Other initiatives 

• Marketing 

• Resources 

 

Section Ten – sets out the concluding remarks. 

 

1.3 Methodology 
Our approach has involved background research including site visits, review of the existing 

offer, a market review (demographic data, tourism trends and competitive landscape with a 

focus on visitor accommodation), a review of case examples, consultation and analysis 

based on our consultancy experience.    

 

We have used our sister company’s operational experience of managing a number of visitor 

attractions and other leisure businesses (including visitor accommodation) to help inform 

our work.   These include: 

 

• CONKERS (www.visitconkers.com), a 120-acre discovery park in the National Forest 

 

• Cotswold Country Park & Beach (http://www.cotswoldcountryparkandbeach.com/) 

 

• Kent Life, a 28-acre heritage park and farm attraction (http://www.kentlife.org.uk/) 

Page 55

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/
http://www.visitconkers.com/
http://www.cotswoldcountryparkandbeach.com/
http://www.kentlife.org.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  12 

 

• The National Brewery Centre in Burton, Staffs (www.nationalbrewerycentre.co.uk)  

 

• Springfields Adventure Land an adventure experience in Springfields Retail Park in 

Lincolnshire https://www.springfieldsadventureland.co.uk/)  

 

• The Royal Esplanade Hotel, on the Isle of Wight, which also incorporates a luxury 

self-catering cottage  (https://www.royalesplanadehotel.co.uk/)  

  

Page 56

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/
http://www.nationalbrewerycentre.co.uk/
https://www.springfieldsadventureland.co.uk/
https://www.royalesplanadehotel.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  13 

 

2.0 Site review and SWOT analysis 
 

2.1 Site review 

Location and access 

Gnoll Estate Country Park is an attractive country park which is located on the urban fringe 

of Neath.    The main area of the country park has two vehicle access points but there are 

also a number of other informal access points. 

 

Macro access via the M4 is good and Neath is served by a mainline train station which is 

within walking distance of the country park.   The country park is also served by the First 

Cymru routes 153, X4 and X5 from Neath, Swansea and Port Talbot.  

 

The Sustrans NCN route 47 passes directly through the park at its northern edge (past 

Mosshouse Wood). 

 

Landscape and topography 

The parkland covers approximately 219 acres.  As part of a former country estate the 

landscape is attractive and there are distinct zones of landscape incorporating woodland, an 

18th century landscaped parkland and lake areas. 

 

The plan below provides an overview of the country park (the area within the red boundary 

line).  

 

 

Page 57

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  14 

 

The topography throughout the country park is varied, which helps to create distinct zones.  

Some parts could present some difficulties for visitors with mobility issues, although there is 

a well-used pathway around the main lake and trampers are available to hire from the 

visitor centre.   There are specific health walking routes around the country park and a 

wildlife walk. 

 

  
Open parkland through to woodland 

 

Given the size and topography of the site, there are locations within the country park where 

as a visitor you feel that you can get away from it all.   There are also attractive long-

distance views from parts of the country park, all of which positively to the overall visitor 

experience. 

 

Page 58

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  15 

 

 
A wilderness / getting away from it all feeling in some parts of the country park 

 

There are also four lakes at different levels / tiers.  Three of these are large waterbodies and 

add positively to the visitor experience.    The main water feature is located adjacent to the 

visitor centre and creates a panoramic background.    The most stunning and unique aspects 

is the cascade. 

 

  

Page 59

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  16 

 

  
A range of attractive and stunning water features (top left cascade and other are the reservoir and overflow) 

 

Key visitor facilities 

Key visitor facilities include (please also see the map on the following page): 

 

• A visitor centre with café, public toilets and meeting facilities along with the former 

Head Ranger’s office.  The meeting room is separated from the café space by a 

flexible wall and during peak periods this space is used by café customers (the café 

reaches capacity on peak days).   It is recognised that there are opportunities to 

enhance the café operation 

 

• The visitor centre also incorporates office space 

 

• There has been recent investment in creating a covered external canopy and space 

adjacent to the café which incorporates solar panels 

 

• A nine-hole golf course, incorporating a foot golf offer, which has limited use.  During 

peak periods fairways one and two are used for overflow car parking  

 

• Two impressive water cascades  

 

• Two children’s playgrounds, which are fenced (a traditional playground with 

accessible play and adventure playground)  

 

• A network of trails with variety of surface material   

 

• The ruins of the former Gnoll House, Icehouse and Cellars (the Cellars are not 

currently accessible to the general public (a promotional video has been produced 

and this is shown within the café) 

 

• A number of events are staged throughout the year, including a popular fun fair, run 

by an external partner 

Page 60

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  17 

 

 

• Successful Parkrun offer, with 3,500 people registered for the Gnoll Parkrun 

 

  
Play area with accessible play features located adjacent to the visitor centre / cafe 

 

  

  
A large visitor centre with covered outdoor space 

 

Future development plans include improving access to the café, helping to link it to the 

external covered space which will provide additional covers.    

 

It should be recognised that there has been a programme of investment within Gnoll Estate 

Country Park and this is set out below: 

Page 61

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  18 

 

 

• External space outside of the café has been created with a seating area (solar 

panels have also been introduced) 

 

• Improvements to the café experience (e.g. introduction of chip and pin payment 

system, new furniture and free WIFI) 

 

• TV conference facility introduced within the meeting room 

 

• Foot Golf introduced 

 

• Development of events offer, particularly during busy peak periods 

 

• Development of accessible play 

 

• Successful weekly Parkrun events 

 

• Introduction of a nature trail 

 

• Enhanced social media and online presence 

 

Heritage features 

The main heritage features relate to the ruins of Gnoll House, Icehouse, the Cellars and 

Walled Garden.   The country park has a Grade II* listing on the Cadw Glamorgan Register of 

Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest in Wales.  It is recognised that some of the 

heritage features are in a poor state of repair. 

 

The House forms part of the rich cultural, social and economic history of Neath, however, 

there is only limited interpretation provided about these key features (and wider features) 

within the country park.   Although the Council has invested in the production of short 

promotional films, which will be displayed on television screens within the café. 

 

 

 

Page 62

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  19 

 

 

  
The heritage features add a distinct element to the visitor experience 

 

Events 

At a micro (individual attraction) level, a strong events programme helps to: 

 

• Increase footfall (and repeat visits) 

 

• Help the site to gain a higher profile  

 

• Engage with new audiences (and encourages repeat visits by refreshing the offer) 

 

• Increase income generating opportunities (including secondary spend) 

 

• Generates PR opportunities 

 

Gnoll Estate Country Park runs a programme of events through the main season from Easter 

through to the end of August.    

 

The events booked by a third party include: magic shows, fundays, donkey rides, pirate 

shows and dinosaurs in the park.  The third party also runs a fair ground type facility during 

the main season, which generates a direct rental stream for the Council.    

 

Page 63

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  20 

 

Whilst there is no income generated directly from the Council managed events there is 

secondary spend in terms of car parking and catering income.  The events are promoted on 

Facebook and via an events brochure. 

 

Running a programme of events is key to raising awareness of Gnoll Estate Country Park and 

importantly it helps to create another reason to visit, particularly for local residents. 

 

Parkrun is also hosted at the country park every Saturday and Junior Parkrun on Sundays. 

 

Car parking 

There are 209 formal car parking spaces which are served by three pay and display car 

parking machines.   The main display and pay car parking area is located adjacent to the 

visitor centre building and at the southern entrance there are further car parking spaces 

which are currently not covered by the pay and display policy.    

 

The main car park regularly reaches capacity during the summer months and fairways one 

and two on the golf course are used as overflow car parking (this can be impacted on by 

periods of poor weather).   During periods when the overflow space is utilise this requires a 

staff resource to manage.  The site can accommodate approximately 800 cars on a peak day 

(including significant overflow car parking). 

 

It is not known what the level of leakage is from car parking receipts of people parking 

without paying.   Parking Officers are used to govern the car park. 

During 2019 car parking charges are:  

 

• £2.60 - Half day (up to 4 hours) 

• £3.60 - All day  

• An annual pass is available at £53 

 

The tariffs are based on dwelltime and represent very good value for money in respect of a 

day out.  There may be an opportunity to review the tariff / dwelltime structure. 

 

Car parking income has increased from £50,238 in 2014/15, £72,539 in 2015/16, £76,009 in 

2016/17 to £80,784 in 2017/18 and £81,468 in 2018/19.   It should be noted that there are 

limited direct ‘costs’ against the car parking income when compared to activities such as 

catering and in-house managed events. 

 

Woodland Trust  

The Woodland Trust manages 1,276 sites that cover over 23,580 hectares of land.  The 

Woodland Trust has acquired an adjacent farm which will be replanted to create a new and 

attractive woodland, with pastures and an existing ancient woodland offer.   The site covers 

95 hectares.  

Page 64

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  21 

 

 

We set out below an aerial view showing the Woodland Trust’s adjacent landholding in 

relation to the country park.  The presence of the Woodland Trust on the adjacent land will 

almost double the publicly accessible area and the Trust is keen to work in partnership with 

NPTCBC. 

 

 
Source: NPTCBC / Woodland Trust 

 

This project will form the largest new woodland site as part of the Welsh Government’s 

PLANT! Scheme, which will see 150,000 trees being planted, one for every child born or 

adopted annually in Wales.   This will create national media coverage and help to encourage 

people to visit the site.   There are some 8,000 Woodland Trust members within an hour of 

the site. 

 

Initial information sets out the Trust’s ambitions for the adjoining site, which include 

incorporating new permissive public access adjoining the country park (along the eastern 

boundary), the installation of a new raised footbridge leading to a view point and 

interpretive feature with panoramic views across the Vale of Neath.   The Trust’s aim is to 

incorporate relatively informal recreation through waymarked trails, running routes and 

access for all abilities where possible.  The Woodland Trust will also be looking to demolish 

buildings onsite which are considered unsafe and upgrade other buildings on the site for the 

Page 65

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  22 

 

benefit of biodiversity through the creation of hibernacula for bat and owl species in the 

area.  Currently, there are no plans to introduce car parking on the site. 

 

It is envisaged that people visiting the site will use the car park within the country park 

(generating revenue in terms of car parking fees and secondary spend in respect of the 

catering). 

 

It is proposed that the site will formally open to the public in 2021, subject to agreement 

with the local authority.  Source: Invitation Background - New woodland site - The 

Woodland Trust and discussions with the Woodland Trust. 

 

Currently, no formal visitor modelling to identify future visitor numbers has been carried 

out.  The Trust will be installing counters to identify the number of informal users and this 

along with data from existing sites they manage will be used to forecast potential visitor 

numbers.    

 

This will present a number of opportunities in respect of generating additional revenue in 

the country park. 

 

The Trust will also be carrying out a programme of community engagement. 

 

Visitor numbers 

To date is has not been possible to fully identify visitor numbers to the country park as they 

are not collected and there are no counters at the main entry points to the country park.  

Also, as there are multiple entry points, this makes it difficult to identify annual visitor 

numbers accurately.  It is estimated that annual numbers are approximately 420,000 visits in 

total. 

 

In the chart on the following page we set out visitor numbers to the visitor centre. 

 

 

Page 66

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  23 

 

 
 

The chart below shows the monthly breakdown of visitors who use the visitor centre (please 

note March 2019 figures are not available and the figures for February 2019 are only for a 

part of the month). 

 

As would be expected, the summer month of August is the busiest month of the season 

followed generally by April (Easter holidays) and May (half term).  Clearly the wetter / colder 

months of October through to February are quieter because of the lack of indoor facilities.  

This is not unexpected as the majority of country parks are focussed on the external 

environment. 

 

Year
Visitor numbers to 

the Visitor Centre

2012 Total                             149,422 

2013 Total                             157,992 

2014 Total                             143,283 

2016 Total                             152,044 

2017 Total                             149,535 

2018 Total                             144,627 

2015 Total                             155,291 

2009 Total                             170,050 

2010 Total                             181,732 

2011 Total                             167,672 

2006 Total                             148,538 

2007 Total                             161,898 

2008 Total                             153,842 

Page 67

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  24 

 

 
Source: NPTCBC 

 

In respect of the visitor centre, as would be expected, the most popular days are Saturday 

and Sunday, with a relatively even spreadsheet throughout the weekdays (apart from 

Thursday).  The figures are from 2018. 

 

 
Source: NPTCBC - 2018 by Day of Week (Ref: GNOLLVC05) 

 

 

 

Page 68

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  25 

 

Visitors to Gnoll Estate Country Park 

A module of primary research has been carried out to support the development action plan 

for Gnoll Estate Country Park.  The research questionnaire was promoted by Neath Port 

Talbot County Borough and generated a very good level of responses (818).  The 

questionnaire was available in English and Welsh Language.  Please note figures have been 

rounded.      

 

Reasons for visiting Gnoll Estate Country Park 

To walk and enjoy the natural setting is the main reason why 41% of respondents visit the 

country park and in terms of the future development action plan it will be important to 

ensure future interventions do not impinge negatively on the natural setting.   To walk the 

dog and use the play areas are also important attractors.   Parkrun is another key attractor 

and with the development of the adjacent woodland this may present further opportunities 

to engage with the ‘running’ market place.  It is interesting to note that for only 1.5% of 

visitors the main reason they visit is the café.   Please note people attending the fair or 

coming for a picnic generated a response of less than one percent. 

 

 
 

Main reason for visiting Gnoll Estate Country 

Park
%

To walk / enjoy the natural setting 41%

To walk the dog 25%

To use one of the play areas 12%

To take part in Parkrun or Junior Parkrun 7%

To attend an event 4%

To meet friends and family 3%

To exercise 3%

To watch the wildlife 2%

To use the cafe 1.5%

To cycle - using your own bike 0.9%

To picnic 0.5%

To go to the fair 0.2%

Page 69

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  26 

 

Gnoll Estate is a popular country park, with a high level of repeat visits and this is 

highlighted in the table below, which shows 46% of respondents visit at least once a week. 

 

 
 

In terms of dwelltime, less than 1% of respondents visit for less than 30-minutes.  The 

majority (54%) stay for between 1 and 2 hours and only 2% stay for more than 4 hours 

(although this is likely to be impacted on the time of year when the survey was carried out – 

January 2020).   However, it does highlight a potential opportunity to revisit the current car 

parking tariffs. 

 

 
 

Group size 

In terms of group size, this is mixed and set out below.  More than half of visitors are in 

groups of two or three. 

 

Frequency of visits %

Every day 4%

Several times a week 18%

Once a week 24%

Once a month 27%

Less than once a month 14%

2 to 3 times a year 13%

I've only ever visited once Less than 1%

Dwelltime %

Up to 30-minutes 1%

31 to 60-minutes 19%

1 to 2-hours 54%

2 to 4-hours 23%

More than 4 hours 2%

Page 70

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  27 

 

Group size % 

1 9% 

2 34% 

3 22% 

4 23% 

5+ 11% 

 

Age breakdown 

35% of visitors are aged 50 and above with 10% aged 65 and over.    The core family market 

place of respondents aged 25 to 49 represents 60% of people (see Table below).   

 

 
 

Journey times to reach Gnoll Estate Country Park 

Similar to other country parks, visitors are generally drawn from the local residential 

population base, with 71% of respondents living within 20-minutes of Gnoll Estate Country 

Park and 88% within 30-minutes of the country park. 

 

Age %

16 to 24 5%

25 to 29 10%

30 to 34 13%

35 to 39 14%

40 to 49 23%

50 to 64 25%

65 years and above 10%

Page 71

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  28 

 

 
 

Other 

• 72% of respondents travel to the country park by car, encouragingly 27% walk to the 

country park and 1% use a bike (less than 1% use public transport.) 

 

• 69% of respondents who answered the survey were female and 14% of respondents 

have either a long-term disability or health problem. 

 

• 50% of respondents believe their fitness levels are either very good (18%) or good 

(32%).  38% feel they are average, 9% below average and 3% unfit. 

 

• 73% of respondents are in employment (51% in fulltime employment, 16% are part-

time, 6% are self-employed).   15% of respondents are retired, 4% homemakers, 3% 

students, 2% unable to work, 2% are carers and 1% are unemployed. 

 

Marketing 

There is an events brochure and the park does have a dedicated website and a facebook 

page.  However, it is recognised that currently there are no dedicated available marketing 

resources (staff / budget) to promote Gnoll Estate Country Park.  There is a need to invest in 

the marketing of the country park.  

 

The overall visitor experience 

We set out below a review of comments on both Trip Advisor and Facebook (taken from the 

latest reviews).  A mixed range of comments have been generated on both Trip Advisor and 

Facebook.  As can be seen the play generated a range of positive comments but the café 

and in particular the car parking generated mixed responses. 

Time taken to reach 

the country park
%

Less than 10 minutes 34%

11 to 20 minutes 37%

21 to 30 minutes 17%

31 to 40 minutes 5%

41 to 60 minutes 3%

More than 60 minutes 3%

Page 72

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  29 

 

Trip Advisor  

Name of Site: Gnoll Estate Country Park 

Areas of 

the visitor 

experience 

Example quotes (positive 

and negative) 

Comments (on first 5 pages) 

 

Comments  

Positi

ve 

 

Negative Mixed 

response 

(positive 

and 

negative 

points) 

 

General 

comments 

 

 41 1 8 Majority of positive 

comments, few 

mixed reviews and 

only 1 negative 

comment. 

Specific to facilities 

 

Toilets 

 

    No comments  

Play 

 

‘The children's play area has 

swings and roundabouts  

plus ones for children with 

special needs’ 

 

‘The "pirate" play area kept 

the young ones entertained 

for a good while’ 

 

‘Lovely play park for 

children’ 

 

‘Two great play parks’ 

‘Well maintained play area 

for the little ones and older 

children’ 

 

‘Great play area now 

extended with a new 

playground extension’ 

 

‘The park for the younger 

children is excellent and so 

10   The children’s 

playground received 

mostly positive 

comments, many 

praised the 

accessibility for 

disabled children 

and the variety of 

play equipment. No 

negative comments. 

Page 73

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  30 

 

good to see it so disabled 

friendly’ 

 

Catering 

 

‘Cafe is ideal for an ice 

cream or tea/coffee other 

snacks plus they provide 

duck feed so the kids can 

feed the ducks’ 

 

‘The cafe is fantastic’ 

 

‘Lovely café’  

 

‘The cafe was lacklustre and 

could do with a makeover’ 

 

‘No thanks, not for me. I 

shall look for places where 

pets are welcome’ 

 

‘Dirty eating area with 

rubbish bins fully loaded. 

Tables were not cleaned 

frequently’ 

 

5 3  The café received 

mixed comments, 

some visitors 

enjoyed the café and 

the food whereas 

some felt that the 

café was due an 

upgrade or should 

be cleaned more 

frequently and that 

dogs should be 

allowed in the café.  

Car parking 

 

‘Parking is cheap’ 

 

‘Plenty of parking’ 

 

‘My only criticism is I think 

you should be allowed to 

pay for less than 4 hours at 

£2.60’ 

 

‘The price of the car park is 

quite expensive if you only 

want to visit for a short 

while’ 

 

‘I think £2 for parking is a lot 

as it is not employing 

anyone to take your money’ 

3 6  The car park 

received mostly 

negative reviews, 

many believed 

parking is 

overpriced, not 

enough disabled 

spaces and that 

there should be an 

employee working in 

the car park. On the 

other hand, some 

visitors commented 

that there was 

plenty of parking 

spaces at a 

reasonable price.  

Page 74

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  31 

 

 

‘The only thing is there is 

not much disabled parking, 

would be good if there were 

more spaces’ 

 

‘There is a large car park, 

with charges. Sadly, this 

stops me going as often as I 

used to when the car park 

was free’ 

 

General 

appearance  

 

‘Well maintained with 

plenty of space to walk, ride 

and run’  

 

‘Very picturesque across the 

lake with multiple places to 

sit and take it all in’ 

 

‘The park is very well 

maintained, and very clean’ 

 

‘Beautiful grounds’ 

 

‘The edge near the housing 

estate was somewhat 

scruffy and neglected’ 

 

‘Where sign boards exist, 

they are dirty and partly 

unreadable’ 

 

7 3  The general 

appearance of the 

park received mostly 

positive reviews, 

many commented 

on the cleanliness, 

good maintenance 

and natural beauty 

of the park.  

Some visitors 

however suggested 

the need for a clean 

up of the park 

stating that parts of 

the park are ‘scruffy’ 

and ‘dirty’.  

Events 

 

‘Every Saturday morning 

there’s a free timed 5k 

parkrun event. fully 

organised, with staff and 

marshals all around the 

course’ 

 

‘The temp fairground for the 

summer was a great 

5   The park’s events 

received all positive 

reviews, the 

Saturday morning 5k 

Park Run, summer 

fairground and the 

annual vintage car 

show were 

Page 75

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  32 

 

success, the children loved 

it’ 

 

‘They always have 

something on during school 

holidays’ 

 

‘There is always something 

to do whether it’s free 

activities including free 

circus workshop, free 

shows/Pantos’ 

 

‘Went to see the annual 

vintage car show lots to look 

at’ 

 

mentioned within 

the positive reviews.  

Other 

 

‘There was no information 

about the area’ 

 

‘Lack of signage makes it 

difficult to find things’ 

 

‘Caters for disabled’ 

 

‘Accessible with a 

wheelchair’ 

 

‘The park is suitable for 

wheelchair or motorised 

chair use’ 

 

‘The area was well suited to 

wheelchair users with wide 

push button opening doors 

and good space between 

tables.’ 

 

‘It’s perfect for all ages, all 

disabilities’ 

 

5 2  Many positive 

reviews discussed 

how suitable the 

park is for disabled 

access. There were 

however two 

comments about the 

lack of signage 

around the park.   

Page 76

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  33 

 

Quality of 

service 

 

‘AMAZING lovely staff, great 

atmosphere’ 

 

‘Visit the cafe where you will 

find a very friendly member 

of staff’ 

 

‘The lady in the cafe, very 

surly and unfriendly’ 

2 1  The quality of 

service within the 

café received two 

positive reviews 

where visitors 

enthusiastically 

praised the quality 

of service and one 

negative review for 

a particular member 

of staff.   

 

 

Facebook 

 

Areas of 

the visitor 

experience 

Example quotes (positive 

and negative) 

Comments  

 

Comments  

Positive 

 

Negative Mixed 

response  

 

General 

comments 

 

 7  1 Mostly positive 

comments, limited 

quantity of reviews 

on the Gnoll Estate 

Country Park 

Facebook page.  

Specific to facilities 

 

Toilets 

 

    No comments  

Play 

 

    No comments  

Catering 

 

‘Good cafe also on site’ 1   Only one positive 

comment on the 

café.  

Car parking 

 

    No comments  

General 

appearance  

 

‘Had a great day beautiful 

place’ 

1   One comment 

regarding attractive 

appearance of the 

park.  

Page 77

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  34 

 

Events 

 

‘Plenty of fun activities 

daily’ 

1   One comment 

regarding a good 

selection of daily 

activities within the 

park.  

Other 

 

‘I walked approx 2miles 

earlier this evening with my 

two dogs without seeing a 

‘doggie poo’ bin’ 

 

 

 1  One negative 

comment regarding 

lack of bins for dog 

waste which could 

result in a decrease 

of positive 

comments on the 

park’s appearance 

and cleanliness  

Quality of 

service 

 

‘What polite staff at the 

cafe. Very helpful and went 

out of their way to help us’ 

1   One comment on a 

positive experience 

with a polite, helpful 

member of staff 

within the park’s 

café.  

 

From the visitor survey respondents were asked to rate the different facilities within the 

country park and the results are set out below. 

 

A number of facilities generated good scores and the overall profile is positive.  There is an 

opportunity to improve the elements highlighted as either average or poor.    Interestingly, 

36% of respondents felt car parking was either good or very good and only 18% felt it was 

either poor or very poor.  Although in the comment sections within the overall survey there 

were a number of negative comments raised about car parking charges which some believe 

need to be “at a sensible price to encourage people to visit”.  

 

The café received a number of different comments, but overall it was felt that there is an 

opportunity to enhance the catering offer.  “The cafe staff are brilliant but really struggle on 

very busy days. So much so that we no longer visit on busy days as the staff simply cannot 

manage. Especially when they are single manned which is very often!! No other cafe 

elsewhere is ever single manned… Reintroduce Sunday dinners in the cafe…part time 

member of staff in the cafe to help with cover at lunch periods.” 

 

Page 78

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  35 

 

 
 

Potential location for the overnight visitor accommodation 

The Parks’ Team has identified an area which could be used as a base for overnight 

accommodation within Gnoll Estate Country Park.   This area is the former service yard of 

approximately, 3,455 square metres which is split over two levels.   The space also 

incorporates a number of different built structures, many of which are in a poor state of 

repair.    

 

The opportunity also incorporates the former Ranger’s Cottage, which is in need of 

refurbishment.  In respect of the former Ranger’s Cottage the Council has prepared an 

estimate in respect of making the cottage good for use as a holiday cottage.  Costs are 

estimated in the region of £216,000 (please see Appendix One).  The Ranger’s Cottage could 

alternatively be let as a residential unit on a long leasehold basis. 

 

Facilities
Very 

good
Good Average Poor

Very 

Poor

Didn't 

see / use

Car parking 10% 28% 26% 10% 9% 18%

Visitor information and signposting 6% 31% 34% 11% 4% 14%

Interpretation 5% 25% 30% 6% 3% 31%

Accessibility 15% 47% 24% 4% 2% 9%

Footpaths and trails 20% 50% 22% 5% 2% 1%

Seating 14% 36% 32% 10% 3% 6%

Café 11% 26% 28% 14% 8% 13%

Toilets 8% 27% 31% 15% 6% 13%

Play 17% 40% 20% 3% 1% 20%

Events 12% 30% 23% 8% 3% 24%

Provision of litter / dog bins 11% 33% 33% 8% 4% 12%

General cleanliness 20% 50% 25% 4% 2% 1%

Page 79

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  36 

 

  
Former Ranger’s Cottage with attractive views across the water from the bedroom 

 

The site has a number of key strengths: 

 

• High degree of privacy (partially surrounded by a high wall) 

• Relatively flat areas 

• Assumes adequate services are available (given cottage located on site and private 

residential property within 250 meters) 

• The development site is reached by a very attractive route which passes the lower 

level pond    

• Separate vehicular access 

• There is an adjacent area which could potentially be used for guest car parking 

• The cottage overlooks an attractive waterbody 

• Within walking distance of the visitor centre / café 

 

The development site is also home to a range of different buildings formerly used for 

storage.  These are generally in a poor state of repair and the reinstatement costs involved 

to turn them into, for example, a shower / block and social space are likely to be prohibitive. 

 

 

Page 80

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  37 

 

 

  
Mixed cluster of buildings – generally in a poor or very poor state of repair 

 

We understand that ‘Potting Shed’ cannot be removed. 

 

Financials (income / expenditure) 

 

Staffing 

We set out below the current staffing model. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  38 

 

 
 

The current operation is run on a very lean staffing structure. 

 

Country park  

We set out below a table showing the financial position of the country park over a three 

season period – 2016/17 to 2018/19.    

 

The overall level of revenue support required has increased from £101,000 to £155,000.  

The highest figure recorded in 2018/2019 is mainly due to a contract cost of £42,216 

whereas for the previous two years the annual cost was less than £5,000.   Staff costs have 

also increased over the three-year period, which was due to an internal review of staffing. 

Page 82

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  39 

 

 
 

During 2016/17, a cleaning recharge cost of £27,951 was included within the financial 

information.  This recharge was not repeated during the latter two years. The higher 

supplies and services cost in 2018/2019 relates to expenditure on the Moss House Dam 

Culvert.   

 

During 2018/19 no allowance was made for a recharge for insurance costs – the previous 

two years a charge of just under £4,000 was allocated.  Although during 2018/19 there was 

a charge for miscellaneous insurance charges. 

 

Catering 

We set out below an overview of the catering financial position over the last three years.   

Staff costs have been significantly reduced from £109,000 to £78,000 during the 2018/2019 

season.  Although this is mainly related to payments made in 2016 / 2017 of £22,000 for sick 

pay, redundancy and early retirement payments (these high costs were not repeated again). 

 

Income has only increased by £5,000 over the three-year period. 

 

Cost / income centres 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Costs

Employees 85,794 116,985 126,139

Premise expenses 26,848 25,575 20,749

Supplies and services 25,197 25,447 68,581

Transport and plant 4,653 14 2

Support services 48,958 33,121 38,056

Total expenditure 191,451 201,140 253,527

Income 90,221 107,555 98,276

Transfer from reserves 163 0 0

Net position -101,067 -93,585 -155,252

Page 83

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  40 

 

 
 

As a percentage of income, wage costs have varied from 65.23% in 2016/17 to 44.25% in 

2017/18 and 44.91% in 2018/19.   We would usually expect wage costs to be nearer 35% of 

income, but the higher staff costs are due to the use of casuals which have a high cost. 

 

As a percentage of income, the purchase of food-stocks has varied from 41.9% in 2016/17 to 

39.3% in 2017/18 and 43.0% in 2018/19.   We would usually expect direct food costs to be 

between 35% and 40%. 

 

The average catering spend per head of visitors to country park is approximately 41p. 

 

2.2 Summary SWOT analysis 
Below we set out a summary SWOT analysis, which identifies the key strengths, weaknesses, 

opportunities and threats. 

 

Strengths 

 

Weaknesses 

• Existing throughput of visitors 

 

• Attractive wider country park with 

impressive water features 

 

• Varied topography and landscapes 

help to create zones of use  

 

• Neath Train Station is within walking 

distance of the country park 

 

• Limited staffing resource available 

 

• No dedicated specialist marketing 

staff are employed and no real 

marketing budget 

 

• Limited menu offer within the café 

and limited staff 

 

• Look and feel of café detracts from 

its potential  

Cost / income centres 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Employees 109,473          76,796            77,742            

Supplies and services 78,450            73,086            80,769            

Support services 1,518              1,518              -                   

Total expenditure 189,441          151,400          158,511          

Income 167,839          173,542          173,122          

Transfer from reserves 16,430            -                   -                   

Net position 5,172-              22,143            14,612            

Page 84

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  41 

 

• Lean staffing profile helping to 

create a stronger financial position 

(but staff are stretched)  

 

• Heritage features add to creating a 

‘sense of place’ 

 

• Large-café with meeting room 

(although offer could be improved) 

 

• Former Ranger’s cottage could lend 

itself to holiday lets (depending on 

final refurbishment cost) 

 

• Dedicated and private area available 

to introduce overnight visitor 

accommodation 

 

• Proximity to M4 linking through to 

conurbations of Bristol and via M5 

to Birmingham 

 

• Established programme of events 

 

 

 

• No real data available in respect of 

visitors to the wider country park 

 

• Heritage remains hidden 

 

• Limited interpretation of heritage 

and natural environment is available 

for visitors 

 

• Low awareness of the country park 

outside of the immediate local area 

 

• Some paths / areas of the parkland 

could be enhanced (it is recognised 

that there are limited staff 

resources available) 

Opportunities 

 

Threats 

• Potential to introduce low key 

waterbased activities (in lake 

/reservoir adjacent to visitor centre) 

 

• Improve visitor centre catering 

provision (and overall experience 

through décor, introduction of 

wood burning stove) 

 

• Introduce small indoor play 

equipment within the café space 

(for use during the winter period) 

 

• No marketing support / resource 

secured and allocated to the 

country park 

 

• Not able to secure investment to 

enhance visitor offer (leading to a 

decline in visitor numbers) 

 

• Further investment in other 

attractions e.g. Margam Country 

Park and Afan Forest could draw 

visitors away from Gnoll Estate 

Country Park 

Page 85

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  42 

 

• Introduce overnight visitor 

accommodation 

 

• Increase car parking provision 

 

• Consider introduction of ANPR car 

parking system (long-term) to 

maximise income from the car park 

 

• Consider revision to car parking 

tariff structure 

 

• Partnership opportunities with 

Woodland Trust and potential 

benefits from national marketing 

reach of Woodland Trust 

 

• A hidden ‘gem’ waiting to be 

discovered (when compared to 

Margam Country Park) 

 

• Further cuts to staffing could impact 

on the quality of the offer within the 

country park 

 

• Further cuts to the budget for the 

overall country park 

  

Page 86

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  43 

 

3.0 Strategic context 
In this section of the report we review key strategic policies and set out the potential 

implications for Gnoll Estate Country Park. 

 

3.1 Prosperity for All: economic action plan 
Under the new Wales Economic Strategy, Welsh Government has committed to support the 

four ‘foundation’ sectors of the Wales economy – tourism, food, retail and care - 

acknowledging that for some parts of Wales the foundation sectors are the local economy.   

The Plan notes: “Our foundation sectors will draw on opportunities that our unique historic 

and natural heritage provides and promote and protect these precious assets…..Tourism 

and food: we work directly with individual businesses and the sector more broadly on issues 

as diverse as marketing, skills, facilities, delivering major events and product quality. We will 

build on our work with the sectors.”   The plan also notes that the connections between the 

foundation sectors and quality of place have important economic impacts.  

 

The plan commits WG to promoting Wales through:  

 

• Building on the unified brand for Wales as a place in which to invest, work, live, visit 

and study 

 

• Deploying tourism campaigns as the main flag carrier for the promotion of Wales in 

the UK and internationally 

 

• Deploying the cultural offer in support of the promotion of Wales’ economic and 

commercial interests and building the country’s image abroad. 

 

3.2 National Tourism Action Plan 
As part of its evidence base for the new national Tourism Action Plan (Welcome to Wales: 

Priorities for the Visit Economy 2020 - 2025), which was recently launched, Visit Wales has 

identified: 

 

• Growth in overall tourism value from £4.5bn to £6.3bn (up to 2017) 

 

• Overnight tourism on course to meet the 29% cash growth target 

 

• 127,000 employed (in 2017) - but falling from 2015 

 

• GVA growing faster than the overall economy average (6% in 2016) but per hour 

values below Wales average 

 

Page 87

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  44 

 

Particular challenges remaining around: 

 

• Over- reliance on regular repeat visitors from the UK and under-performance in new 

and overseas markets 

 

• Per trip spend below UK average – with no real growth since 2012 

 

• Seasonality of visits 

 

• Impact / timing of Brexit 

 

The ambition in WTW is ‘to grow tourism for the good of Wales’.  In contrast to pure 

economic targets the goals for WTW will be economic growth, environmental 

sustainability, social and cultural enrichment, health benefits, satisfaction of visitors and 

locals.  The core Wales offer is defined as Outstanding Natural Landscapes, Creative Culture 

and Epic Adventure.   

 

Visit Wales is encouraging the sector to combine a local-first focus in terms of ‘sense of 

place’, culture, community engagement and benefit, local supply chains, home-grown 

skills and businesses with a ‘world’ perspective in terms of breadth of vision, quality 

comparisons, welcome, environmental awareness. 

 

In terms of Visit Wales own investment key priorities will be around 4 core areas of activity: 

 

• Great Products and Places 

 

• Quality Visitor Experiences – including the destination management ‘basics’ 

 

• An innovative Cymru / Wales Brand 

 

• An engaged and vibrant sector  

 

Success will be measured through ‘hard’ volume and value data, but also through  

perception and awareness analysis and contributions to well-being indicators.  Development 

and consolidation of the ‘This is Wales/ Gwlad Gwlad’ Brand will continue.  The brand 

objectives are to: 

 

• Elevate our status 

 

• Surprise and inspire  

 

• Change perceptions  

Page 88

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  45 

 

 

• Do good things 

 

• Be unmistakably Wales 

 

To reinforce this brand development Visit Wales has provided focused leadership for 

marketing and product development in terms of themed ‘Years of…’ with ‘…Outdoors’ 

planned for 2020/2021.   

 

3.3 Our Valleys, Our Future 
Our Valleys, Our Future Delivery Plan sets the programme and actions to contribute to the 

three over-arching priorities for the Valleys Regional Park: 

 

1. Good quality jobs and skills to do them 

2. Better public services 

3. My local community – Valleys Regional Park 

 

The initial Delivery Plan (November 2017) included 12 areas for action relating to town 

centres, renewable energy, tourism and the physical environment.  “The £7m investment 

will start to connect Valleys with high-quality walking trails and cycle routes. It will support 

the development of a high-quality network of uplands, woodlands, nature reserves, country 

parks, rivers, reservoirs and canals, as well as heritage sites and connect them with our 

towns and villages.”1 

 

A number of visitor sites have secured investment, including:  

 

• Parc Brynbach - enhancements to the bunkhouse and visitor centre along with a new 

play offer 

• Bryngarw Country Park - investment in a new education centre and developing 

interpretation within the park 

• Ynysangharad War Memorial Park - provision of charging facilities and improving the 

paths and lighting 

• Dare Valley Country Park - development of the accommodation product and cycling 

offer 

• Parc Slip  

• Cwmcarn Forest - investment in a joint lifelong learning space along with investment 

in interpretation and discovery trails 

• Cyfarthfa Park - developing a catering offer targeting both members of the local 

community and visitors 

 
1 https://gov.wales/newsroom/people-and-communities/2018/first-valleys-regional-park/?lang=en  

Page 89

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/
https://gov.wales/newsroom/people-and-communities/2018/first-valleys-regional-park/?lang=en


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  46 

 

• Blaenavon World Heritage Centre - with a focus on improving the interpretative 

experience Caerphilly Castle to support Cadw’s investment plan for this important 

tourism and heritage resource 

• Parc Penallta - linked to the development of a visitor centre 

 

It should also be noted that one of the key elements of the Valleys Regional Park is to 

provide opportunities for individuals to improve their health and wellbeing, social cohesion, 

increase people’s knowledge and care of their environment and increase the economic 

value of recreation. 

 

3.4 Shaping NPT – Neath Port Talbot Council Corporate Plan  
“Since 2010, £84 million has been cut from the Council’s revenue budget, with further cuts 

anticipated…” 

 

The Council’s Corporate Plan2 sets out local priorities for the County Borough has been 

updated and sets out the priorities for the Council.  It should be recognised that the 

operating environment remains challenging – reducing resources, deprivation along with 

poverty, increasing demand for services and some uncertainty surrounding Brexit.   The Plan 

also recognises the role which tourism can play “we established a new Tourism Unit to focus 

on promoting and ensuring good visitor experiences in our key visitor destinations.”     There 

is a commitment in the plan to develop and promote the local tourism sector.  

 

Importantly, the plan highlights that the Council is adopting a more commercial outlook in 

respect of its tourism / leisure services.  For example, the development of a new commercial 

business plan for Margam Country Park.   The Plan also mentions a need to “further develop 

the commercial potential at Margam Park.”   Developing new sources of income will 

continue to be an important driver of the local authority’s operating model. 

 

A further Council priority is to implement new ways of working, particularly to re-define the 

relationship and collaboration with external stakeholders so that all communities, whether 

in towns or rural areas, are sustainable, resourceful and vibrant.   

 

3.5 Neath Port Talbot Destination Plan 
The current Neath Port Talbot Destination Management Plan was launched in 2015 and runs 

until 2020.  It is a business plan for building and managing the visitor economy for the 

county. The document captures and presents the information, learnings and priority actions 

to grow and develop the local visitor economy. The DMP is likely to be up-dated in line with 

new priorities and the needs of the tourism industry in the county.   

 

 
2 Shaping NPT: Neath Port Talbot Corporate Plan 2019-2022  

Page 90

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  47 

 

Some of the key messages in the Plan and subsequent consultation with the tourism 

industry include: 

 

• The need to increase the number of the higher spending visitors who are looking for 

new and varied experiences  

 

• Converting day visitors to overnight staying tourists 

 

• The need to strengthen the year-round appeal and accessibility of places to visit 

 

• The need to ensure that the area attracts and invests in new high-profile product 

development in particular in the valleys areas in order to future proof the tourism 

economy and attract new visitor markets, high quality accommodation and 

attractions are specifically highlighted in the Destination Management Plan 

 

• Improve the quality of existing visitor experiences through the development of a 

distinct sense of place 

   

The area’s natural environment, coupled with strong elements of cultural and industrial 

heritage, are the County Borough’s main strengths as a tourist destination.   

 

3.6 Planning context 
The Local Development Plan (2011-2026) for Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council was 

adopted January 2016 and it runs between 2011 and 2026.  The local development plan sets 

out a framework for development within the County Borough. 

 

 “Attractions in the urban areas such as the Gnoll Country Park, Margam Country 

Park, Aberdulais Falls and Aberafan Seafront will contribute to the tourism economy 

and support tourism in the valley areas by promoting Neath Port Talbot as an 

inclusive tourism destination. 

 

 A wide range of visitor attractions and areas of natural beauty present opportunities 

for Neath Port Talbot to continue to build on its tourism industry. The LDP 

acknowledges this and seeks to support the industry by taking a more flexible 

approach to new tourism proposals and resisting where possible the loss of existing 

facilities. Rheola has been allocated for a new tourism development providing 

holiday accommodation and ancillary facilities to attract visitors to the area.  

 

The Afan Valley offers a range of adventure sports, in particular mountain biking, 

with facilities and recent investment from the Cognation project resulting in the Afan 

Valley receiving national recognition as a mountain bike destination, providing world 

class trails. Accompanied by Afan Forest Park Centre, Glyncorrwg Ponds and its 

Page 91

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  48 

 

links with Margam Park, the area has become the main tourist attraction in Neath 

Port Talbot, with an increase in visitor numbers which has in turn seen the 

development of small scale accommodation in the area.  

 

The Vale of Neath has become an important tourist destination, with the Waterfall 

Country and Neath Canal seeing increased visitors and opportunities for growth. In 

addition, the Swansea, Dulais and Amman Valleys present opportunities with tourist 

attractions in these areas and also their close proximity to the Brecon Beacons 

National Park.  

 

Linked to tourism, the strategy supports enhancements in leisure and open space 

provision for visitors and residents alike. Walking and cycling is promoted and 

facilities enhanced with the creation of the Amman Valley Cycle Track and Afan 

Valley Trail which links Aberafan Seafront to the Afan Valley, enhancing tourism 

facilities and improving connectivity between areas.” 

 

The LDP recognises the important role which tourism plays in the economy of Neath Port 

Talbot and that Gnoll Estate Country Park has a role (along with Afan Park and Margam 

Country Park) in developing the tourism economy. 

 

Alongside the role which country parks and forest recreation sites play in the tourism 

economy it is also important to note that they have a role to play with the health and 

wellbeing of the community by offering opportunities from physical activity through to 

reducing social isolation through the provision of meeting and interacting with people. 

 

Interestingly, the Local Development Plan has allocated Rheola Estate, Glynneath as a 

tourism led development opportunity: Policy TO 3 Tourism Led Regeneration Scheme “Land 

is allocated for the re-development of an area of brownfeld land at the Rheola Estate, 

Glynneath. This tourism led development will comprise up to 100 units of holiday 

accommodation.”  It will be important to keep a watching brief on this opportunity. 

 

As Appendix Two we set out further policy information in respect of the Local Development 

Plan. 

 

3.8 Country parks sector 
Whilst it is noted the important role which the introduction of high-quality overnight visitor 

accommodation and enhancement of the existing visitor experience at Gnoll Estate Country 

Park can play a role in helping to deliver key strategic outcomes, it is also important to note 

that the country parks sector is not without its own challenges.   Namely these relate to: 

 

 

Balancing the books  

Page 92

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  49 

 

Whilst country parks, parks and green spaces make significant positive contributions to 

communities it is recognised that these are not a statutory service and therefore the sector 

has been particularly hard hit. The State of UK Public Parks report (2016) noted “funding to 

parks and park services has significantly reduced over the decade, over 90% park managers 

report their maintenance budgets have fallen in the past three years and even more expect 

their funding will continue to be cut.”     This has impacted on the ability of some parks to 

maintain their competitive edge. 

 

The financial future for local authorities remains challenging and the Council will continue to 

experience pressure on its resources.  As a non-statutory service, ‘parks’ and ‘greenspace’s 

will inevitably face pressure to retain a robust commercial edge.   Similar to many Councils 

budgets are being squeezed and this could impact on the development of new projects and 

maintenance of existing sites.  At the same time there is a recognition that there is a need to 

invest within the offer at Gnoll Estate Country Park to ensure that it maintains its 

competitive edge.   

 

Maintaining a competitive edge 

The Council strives to provide high quality facilities and public access to open spaces where 

appearance, cleanliness and infrastructure are well maintained. The quality of the parks is 

linked fundamentally to the quality of the visitor experience. It is important, therefore, 

Council continues to invest in enhancing quality, to continue to provide the high standards 

which visitors now expect from facilities and to increase the range of facilities on offer.  

 

However, retaining a high-quality experience and maintaining access to open spaces needs 

to be balanced with the need to build new markets and increase commercial activities 

(maximise revenue generation without impacting on the quality which make Gnoll Estate  

Country Park a special place to visit).     

 

Changing consumer expectations 

Competition for leisure facilities within the sub-region is extensive. In our own operational 

experience, we are seeing several emerging trends.  One is related to the whole notion of 

‘seeking a bargain’ and looking for the best deal out in the market has led to customers 

seeking discount admission prices – which has seen the growth of Groupon, Wowcher and 

other specialist discount sites.   The second trend is related to increasing expectation of a 

high-quality experience in the leisure market place. 

 

Clearly, Gnoll Estate Country Park is well positioned to take advantage of the first trend 

(with very low economic barriers to access).   The action plan will help to target investment 

to improve the wider visitor experience. 

 

 

 

Page 93

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  50 

 

Capital funding 

It is interesting to note that the market place has been distorted by the introduction of new 

funding streams.    For example, “over ten years between 1996 and 2006, HLF delivered 

more than £538m of grant funding to over 220 individual parks. With increasing demand, 

the programme gained additional funding for England from Big Lottery Fund and by the start 

of 2014 over £700m in total has been invested in public parks since the start of the first 

programme” (source: State of the UK Public Parks, 2014).    

 

3.8 What does this mean for Gnoll Estate Country Park? 
 

• It will be important for the interventions at Gnoll Estate Country Park to 

demonstrate that they contribute to economic growth (including improving the 

‘bottom line’, placemaking and job creation 

 

• It will be important for the new visitor accommodation to demonstrate that it 

helps to promote the core brand values set out above.   This becomes more 

important if target funding is to be sourced in part from VisitWales.   

 

• Additionally, enhancement of the existing visitor offer at the country park will 

provide further opportunities to encourage people to become more active – with 

associated health and wellbeing benefits. Some initiatives to improve the offer at 

Gnoll Estate Country Park will benefit local residents as well as visitors.     

 

• The provision of new high-quality accommodation will help to deliver wider 

economic benefits and add to the profile of Neath Port Talbot as a destination.   

Additionally, the introduction of accommodation at the Country Park will further 

demonstrate the Council’s commitment to developing the tourism product and 

also that they are an innovative and forward-looking Council. 

 

• The County Borough Council faces a challenging financial operating environment 

which could impact on the development of capital projects and the maintenance 

of leisure sites (which are a non-statutory service). 

 

• The development of Gnoll Estate Country Park responds well to the income 

generating / commercial drive which the Council is pursuing.  

 

  

Page 94

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  51 

 

4.0 Consultation and primary research 
4.1 Stakeholder consultation 
A number of workshop sessions were held with a range of individuals as part of preparing 

the outline action plan for Gnoll Estate Country Park.   These included Councillors, staff at 

the Country Park, Officers within the Council, the Friends Group, Woodland Trust and Park 

Run (please see Appendix Three for a list of consultees).   We set out the key themes to 

emerge directly from participants involved in the consultation.   It was emphasised that 

the country park has a good reputation locally. 

 

Maintaining a careful balance 

It is recognised that the country parks are facing continuing financial pressures and there is 

a clear driver to increase visitor numbers and income.  However, at the same time there is a 

need to ensure the drive for commercialisation does not negatively impact on the quality of 

the overall visitor experience.  There is a need to respect why people like and visit the 

country park in the first place. 

 

Meeting different needs 

Gnoll Estate Country Park is a local facility and the needs of the local users should be 

considered as part of the development plan.  At the same time, it was felt through the 

introduction of visitor accommodation the country park will be able to draw in visitors from 

further afield. 

 

Events do work well at the park with ease of access and proximity to the town as well as M4. 

 

Car Parking 

It was felt that the way the current pricing is structured that there is an issue particularly for 

visitors who stay for a short period of time.    

 

There is an issue related to managing the car park on busy days (including Parkrun) which 

draws Rangers away from their everyday tasks.   An issue has been raised in respect of the 

reliability of the car parking payment machines, which leads to staff being abused and the 

time taken to pay is excessive (even though a third payment machine has been introduced). 

All of which impact negatively on the visitor experience.   However, with the installation of 

the new payment machines it is hoped that any downtime will decrease. 

 

There is a requirement to look at the pricing structure, the approach to payment and the 

introduction of additional permanent car parking spaces.  Overall the car parking charge is 

price sensitive given the proximity to locally deprived areas within the County Borough. 

Although the introduction of additional hard standing car parking space would need to be 

carried out once the claw back period in respect of the Ryder Cup Funding has expired. 

Page 95

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  52 

 

There is also a need to manage the charging policy at the lower entrance. Interestingly, the 

annual season ticket of £53 is higher than for Margam, but the daily tariffs are considerably 

lower. 

 

It will be important to get the messaging right in terms of how Council uses income raised 

from car parking to re-invest into park operation. 

 

The café 

The café faces a number of challenges from the limited kitchen facilities/space and limited 

staff at peak periods.  This impacts on the food which can be served and also leads to 

visitors queuing at certain times. 

 

There is some competition from Fun Days but this mostly helps reduce pressure on café 

service. 

 

The café could benefit from a re-branding possibly linking it to the heritage of the park. 

 

Park ranger resources 

It is recognised through the consultation that the park is under resourced in terms of the 

number of ranger staff.   The reduction in the number of park rangers is affecting park 

appearance and operation, although it should be recognised that the park has maintained 

its Green Flag award.   

 

Events 

Events outside of the main Easter and summer periods offers an opportunity to extend the 

season and suggestions included introducing a Winter Wonderland type of experience and a 

temporary ice rink. 

 

In respect of activities and events hosted at Gnoll Estate Country Park there is the 

opportunity to work with third party ‘licensees’ in respect of small, low key activities.   This 

could include making areas with the country park available for hire for such activities as tai 

chi and yoga which could generate additional income directly (via a license fee) and 

indirectly (via car parking tariffs and secondary spend within the café). 

 

There is the possibility to expand Fun Days with a programme for schools’ packages in the 

three weeks before summer holidays – could include older children with exercises such as 

raft building etc.   

 

Parkrun has been a great success (3,500 registrations, more than half from postcode areas 

SA10 and SA11.  Also important for mental aspects – more than 20 volunteers every week. 

 

 

Page 96

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  53 

 

Visitor accommodation 

The development of appropriate overnight visitor accommodation was broadly supported 

and was seen as a positive step for the country park.   Due to the high outline costs to 

refurbish the former Ranger’s Cottage into a high-quality self-catering offer and alternative 

would be a low-spec refurbishment and let the cottage to a member of staff, who could 

help oversee a visitor accommodation offer at the country park. 

 

Heritage remains hidden 

It was felt (particularly by the Friends) that the heritage remains hidden within Gnoll Estate 

Country Park.   An option to consider is cellars could be opened up and weekly tour could be 

run by the Friends’ organisation (although the resources of the Friends are limited). 

 

The Friends Group 

The Friends Group is predominately made up of older adults and it was felt that a younger 

Friend Group who could support the Rangers with physical tasks would be very beneficial. 

 

Working with the Woodland Trust 

The opportunities presented by the adjacent Woodland Trust are positive: 

 

- Increase in visitor numbers  

- Income generation potential – car parking and also secondary spend in the café 

- Use of Woodland Trust Volunteers 

- Market profile / reach of the Woodland Trust is significant 

- Woodland Trust could provide expertise in terms of woodland management across 

the country park 

 

The Woodland Trust will not have visitor services so there is a strong opportunity for shared 

use at the visitor centre.   There is also potential to extend the offer e.g. wildlife camera 

images shown in the visitor centre to create a further point of interest. 

 

 

 
 

 

 

  

Page 97

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  54 

 

5.0 Market assessment 
5.1 Demographic profile 
In terms of exploring the opportunities to introduce overnight visitor accommodation at 

Gnoll Estate Country Park, it is important to understand the residential population living 

within the 120-minute drivetime contour (the short break market place).   It is important to 

note that the UK marketplace is witnessing a growth trend for people going on short breaks 

(and longer breaks) closer to home.   We have commissioned two drivetime profile reports 

for the 0 to 120 and 121 to 180-minute profiles. 3    

 

Headline profile 

Within the 120-minute drivetime contour the population reaches just over 3.8 million 

(3,861,962) residents and within the 121 to 180-minute doughnut the figure is over 6.4m 

residents.   The residential population within the overall 180-minute contour is 10.3 million, 

which reaches past Birmingham to the north east, Reading in the east and Exeter in the 

south west of England.   

 

 
 

If the M4 relief road is developed in the future this will help to improve how far you can 

travel (within the same time) along the M4 which will extend the size of the market (i.e. you 

will be able to travel further within the same drivetime).  Please see Appendix Four: how 

drivetimes are calculated. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
3 All demographic data and maps supplied by CACI: Crown copyright 2013. Source: Office for 
National Statistics licensed under the Open Government Licence v.3.0. © Crown Copyright. Data 
supplied by National Records of Scotland. Source: NISRA : Website: www.nisra.gov.uk Contains 
Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2013 

 

Drivetime contour Population

0 to 120 3,861,962

121 to 180 6,415,678

Total 10,277,640                   

Page 98

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/
http://www.nisra.gov.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  55 

 

Economic activity 

We set out in the table below the economic activity in respect of both drivetime profiles.    

 

 
 

Within the immediate 120-minute drivetime contour the representation of residents who 

are economically active is slighted below the index figure by 4%, for the 121 to 180-minute 

doughnut this is broadly in line with the index figure (just 1% above). 

 

In terms of unemployment for both profiles encouragingly the representation of residents 

are below the index figure by 1% and 7%. 

 

Within the immediate drivetime contour the representation of residents who are 

economically inactive is 5% higher than the index figure.  This is particularly pronounced for 

residents who are categorised as unemployed aged 16 to 24 (7% higher), unemployed aged 

50 to 74 (6% above), unemployed never worked (10% higher) and long-term unemployed 

(8% higher).   The converse is true for residents living within the 121 to 180 minute 

drivetime profile where the same categorises are all below the index figure. 

 

Economically active

-   Employee full-time

-   Employee part-time

-   Self employed

-   Unemployed

-   Fulltime student economically active

Economically inactive

-   Retired

-   Full-time student economically inactive

-   Carer (looking after home or family)

-   Long term sick or disabled

-   Other economically inactive

Unemployed aged 16-24

Unemployed aged 50-74

Unemployed: never worked

Long-term unemployed

All people aged 16 to 74

3.3

29.4

9.9

4.1

39.2

14.1

70.6

94

98

92

90

93

98

81

101

100

95

97

104

93

102

103

101

1.6

0.8

0.6

2.0

1.1

4.2

3.4

14.0

5.8

100

105

100

99

96

97

96

75,959

37,423

30,170

91,155

53,640

195,691

160,979

654,834

269,114

153,527

1,371,773

461,578

191,069

1,829,480

660,005

3,295,659

108

106

110

105

107

95

101

103

94

1,058,563

404,806

1,925,942

1.6

0.7

0.6

2.0

1.2

3.8

5.4

15.0

5.8

3.4

32.1

8.9

4.0

37.3

14.3

67.9

2,835,200  4,667,432  

44,444

20,374

16,980

56,496

35,137

108,749

154,026

Economic Activity

0 to 120 minutes

Area 

Profile
Area %

Index 

av=100

424,700

165,287

95,727

909,258

252,326

114,520

121 to 180 minutes

Area 

Profile
Area %

Index 

av=100

Page 99

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  56 

 

Age profile 

In the table below, we set out the breakdown of the age of residents living within both 

drivetime profiles. 

 

 
 

Area 

Profile
Area %

Index 

av=100

0-4

5-7

8-9

10-14

15

16-17

18-19

20-24

25-29

30-44

45-59

60-64

65-74

75-84

85-89

90+

6.2

109

104

108

101

104

97

100

97

92

104

102

103

104

102

102

100

96

97

96

52,838

372,251

101,442

393,845

580,891

1,275,667

1,254,174

423,759

404,234

164,638

170,224

382,266

81,569

222,465

140,747

394,668229,259

0.8

5.9

1.6

6.4

9.3

19.4

19.7

7.0

6.4

2.5

2.7

5.8

1.2

3.3

2.1

5.9

748,511

762,496

269,835

247,816

95,860

105,659

222,525

46,643

126,622

80,562

6,415,678

31,517

227,798

61,836

245,604

359,419

108

106

110

105

107

0.8

5.8

1.6

6.1

9.1

95

101

103

94

100

105

100

99

19.9

19.5

6.6

6.3

2.6

2.7

Population by Age
Area 

Profile
Area %

Index 

av=100

0 to 120 minutes 121 to 180 minutes

Total population 3,861,962

6.0

1.3

3.5

2.2

Page 100

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  57 

 

The representation of young children (aged 5 to 9) are either slightly below or slightly above 

the index figure across both drivetime profiles.  Across both drivetime profiles for the core 

family market (adults aged 25 to 44) the findings are mixed.  For example, the 

representation of adults aged 30 to 44 within the 120-minute drivetime contour are 5% 

below the index figure, whereas the representation of adults aged 25 to 29 within the 121 

to 180-minute drivetime profile are 3% below the index figure. 

 

Across both drivetime profiles there is a high representation of older adults, for all age 

brackets of residents aged 60 and over. 

 

Social grade 

The table below shows a breakdown of the social grade. 

 

 
 

The representation of residents from the AB (higher/intermediate managerial /admin / 

professional) within the immediate drivetime contour is below the index figure by 6%, 

however, for the 121 to 180-minute drivetime profile the figure is some 10% above the 

index figure. 

 

The representation of residents from the C1 (supervisory, clerical, junior managerial / admin 

/ professional) social grades across both profiles are below the index figure by 2% and 3% 

respectively. 

 

The representation of residents from the C2 social grade group (skilled manual workers) are 

above index for both profiles (5% and 3%). 

 

The representation of people who are classified as DE social grade (semi-skilled and 

unskilled manual workers, on state benefit, unemployed, lowest grade workers) are above 

Area Profile Area Profile

AB: Higher/intermediate managerial 

/admin / professional
247,551 470,013

C1: Supervisory, clerical, jr 

managerial/admin/professional
359,642 574,162

C2: Skilled manual workers 259,406 409,849

DE. Semi-skilled and unskilled manual 

workers, on state benefit, 

unemployed, lowest grade workers

318,763 460,564

Area %
Index 

av=100

103

93

110

9798

21.4

24.1

24.5

30.0

121 to 180 minutes

Social Grade

0 to 120 minutes

Area %
Index 

av=100

21.9

26.9

20.9

30.3

105

104

94

Page 101

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  58 

 

the index figure for residents within the 0 to 120-minute contour (4%) and below the index 

figure for the 121 to 180-minute profile (7%). 

 

 
 

5.2 Competitive landscape 
For ease of reference we set out as Appendix Five the provision of self-catering 

accommodation providers within the locality using the following categories: 

 
• Forest lodge sites 

• Camping sites 

• Touring caravan parks 

• Static caravan parks 

• Luxury self-catering cottages 

• Glamping sites 

• Luxury self-catering lodges 

 

Alongside the above, AirBnB lists a number of properties which are available in the County 

Borough which has a bearing on supply and potential capacity.  There is a relatively low level 

of existing accommodation types across the County Borough.  Examples include forest 

lodges such as Afan Lodge.  Pods have been introduced at Gelli Hir and Mountain View 

Camping, the closest pod site is approximately ten miles from Gnoll Estate Country Park.   

 

Also, as Appendix Six we provide a snapshot of country parks and forest recreation sites 

within 10-miles of Gnoll Estate Country Park.   It is recognised that Margam Country Park is 

outside of this 10-mile radius and that there are a number of small-scale green spaces 

within the locality.  The market place is highly competitive and, in comparison to Margam 

Country Park and Afan Forest Park, Gnoll Estate Country Park remains almost a hidden asset 

Area Profile Area Profile

AB: Higher/intermediate managerial 

/admin / professional
247,551 470,013

C1: Supervisory, clerical, jr 

managerial/admin/professional
359,642 574,162

C2: Skilled manual workers 259,406 409,849

DE. Semi-skilled and unskilled manual 

workers, on state benefit, 

unemployed, lowest grade workers

318,763 460,564

121 to 180 minutes

Social Grade

0 to 120 minutes

Area %
Index 

av=100

21.9

26.9

20.9

30.3

105

104

94

98

21.4

24.1

24.5

30.0

Area %
Index 

av=100

103

93

110

97

Page 102

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  59 

 

or undiscovered ‘gem’ which has limited recognition outside of its immediate catchment.   

This does emphasise a need to invest in marketing to help raise awareness of this important 

‘resource.’ 

 

5.3 Tourism sector 
Neath Port Talbot is a developing tourist destination and tourism plays an important role 

within the local economy supporting over 1,500 FTE jobs within the County Borough. The 

County Borough is bordered to the north by the Brecon Beacons National Park (a leading 

tourist destination) and to the west by Swansea and Gower.   Similar to the Brecon Beacons 

Gower is an established tourist destination and competes against the County Borough. 

 

There has been significant investment in creating a leading mountain biking destination at 

the nearby Afan Forest Park.    

 

Tourist numbers are set out in the graph below which shows overall growth between 2007 

and 2018, although it should be noted that a slight dip was recorded in 2018 compared to 

2017.  However, across the period overall growth has been recorded from 2007 through to 

2018. 
 

 

 
 

It is recognised that the County Borough attracts a high number of day visitors and one of 

the key drivers is identifying opportunities to convert day visitors to overnight tourists. 

During 2018 total visitor numbers reached 1.5 million and a high proportion - 1.16 million 

were day visitors. 

Page 103

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  60 

 

Non-serviced accommodation tourist numbers shows overall growth from 250,200 in 2007 

to 280,700 in 2018.  However, a peak of 299,800 was achieved in 2011.    

 

In terms of the breakdown in accommodation used by staying visitors during 2018 non-

serviced accommodation generated the lowest level of usage (0.03 million) when compared 

against people SFR (0.22 million) and visitors using serviced accommodation (0.09m) 

 

5.4 Visitor accommodation and occupancy data 
5.4.1 Occupancy data 

The latest Wales Tourism Accommodation Occupancy Survey is for 2017 (published in June 

2018) and it provides a detailed breakdown of occupancy of serviced and non-serviced 

accommodation across Wales (on a national and regional basis).   Below we set out 

summary information: 

 

Wales 

Self-catering (cottages and apartments) 

 

• During 2017 the average unit occupancy achieved (for both agency and 

independently let units) was 58%, the highest level recorded in nine years.   Average 

annual occupancy was 52% in 2016, 50% in 2015 and 50% in 2009. 

 

• Peak months in 2017 were June through to September (achieving occupancy levels 

of 66%, 76%, 90% and 70% respectively) and the lowest months were November 

through to March (38%, 43%, 40%, 50% and 40% respectively).  The increase in 

February could be due to the February half-term school holiday. 

 

• The average occupancy rate achieved over the ‘summer season’ (May through to 

October) was 70% during 2017.   This has shown positive growth over the previous 

three years 2014 (63%), 2015 (63%) and 2016 (66%). 

 

• In terms of annual occupancy levels achieved based on the tariff charged, units 

which charged less than £300 achieved an average occupancy of 43%, those which 

charged £300 to £499.99 occupancy increased to 48%, those charging £500 to £800 

saw a further increase in occupancy to 58% but for those charging over £800 there 

was a slight dip to 55%. 

 

• Annual average occupancy by grade of self-catering accommodation was 53% for 2 

star units, 60% for 3 star units, 55% for 4 star units and 57% for 5 star units.  5 star 

graded units achieved the highest levels of occupancy during July (82%), August 

(93%) and September (72%).   Interestingly, ungraded properties achieved the 

highest average annual occupancy level of 62%. 

 

Page 104

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  61 

 

Touring caravan and camping parks 

• Average annual (May to October) pitch occupancy achieved at touring caravan and 

camping parks overall has only increased by 1 percentage point between 2009 (39%) 

and 2017 (40%).   2017 saw a slight decline from 41% pitch occupancy level in 2016 

to 40%.    

 

• Overall there has been a general recovery from a low of 31% average pitch 

occupancy achieved in 2014 to 40% reported in 2017.  Please note this is based on a 

small sample size 

 

• Peak months are July at 49% and August at 63%.   The months which achieved the 

lowest levels of occupancy were May 34% and October 19%. 

 

• Since 2012, pitches located in coastal sites have achieved a higher level of occupancy 

– although the difference narrowed in 2017. 

 

Hostels and bunkhouses 

• For hostels and bunkhouses, the average bed occupancy during 2017 was 53% 

 

• Longer term trends are positive - average annual occupancy has increased from 41% 

in 2010 to 53% in 2017. 

 

• During 2017, the months which achieve the highest levels of occupancy were April 

(62%), June (63%), July (66%) and August (73%).    

 

• January recorded the lowest average annual occupancy – some 28%. 

 

Regional – South West Wales 

Self-catering (cottages and apartments) 

• Average self-catering unit occupancy during 2017 in South West Wales for both 

independent and agency let units was 58% which is in line with the average across 

Wales.   Both Mid-Wales and South East Wales recorded lower levels of unit 

occupancy 53% and 50% respectively. 

 

• At a regional level in terms of occupancy across different years and periods within 

the year, combined data for both independent and agency let self-catering 

properties is not available.  To look at long-term trends we have reviewed data for 

independently let units only (data for agency let units is only available for three 

years).    

 

Page 105

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  62 

 

o Peak months for occupancy in 2017 were June through to September (71%, 

71%, 86% and 68% respectively) and the lowest months were November 

through to March (30%, 29%, 36%, 46% and 33% respectively).   

 

o The average occupancy rate achieved over the ‘summer season’ (May 

through to October) was 68% during 2017 some 6 percentage points higher 

than in 2016.  There has been growth over the previous three years 2014 

(52%), 2015 (62%) and 2016 (62%). 

 

• For agency let units, the annual average occupancy was 59% in 2017, which has 

increased from 51% in 2015.   Over the summer season (May to October) the 

average unit occupancy has increased from 64% in 2015 to 69% in 2017. 

 

Regional data for touring caravan and camping parks and hostels and bunkhouses has not 

been captured. 

 
5.4.2 Visitor accommodation products 

 

Self-catering accommodation product development trends 

Youth Hostel Association 

The YHA has some 160,000 members and over 150 sites (including camping barns and bunk 

houses).  A number of their units have been developed within heritage type of buildings.  A 

number of also been developed adjacent to visitor experiences including the Sill in 

Northumberland (in partnership with the National Park Authority), the Eden Project in 

Cornwall and CONKERS in the National Forest.  

 

During 2014 the YHA generated 1,755 million overnight stays which have increased from 

1,719 million in 2011 (a peak of 1,759 was recorded in 2012).  Although they only achieved 

an average occupancy of 54% (2014), this represents an increase from 51.7% in 2011.  

Spend per overnight stay declined from £23.27 in 2011 to £22.32 in 2014.  More recent data 

is not available.   

 

Revenue has increased from £43.4 million in 2015 to £49.4 in 2017/2018 (their accounting 

period). 

 

In the early 2000s, the Youth Hostel Association divested itself of a number of properties.   

They have reinvested in their existing stock – during 2017/2018 the refurbishment budget 

was in the order of £5.5 million (on top of over £4 million on general maintenance and 

repairs).  

 

The YHA has an investment programme in developing alternative accommodation (34 to 

date), which includes bell tents, tipis, pods and safari tents.  They also have a further 40 sites 

Page 106

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  63 

 

which offer ‘pitch-up camping’. Income from the alternative accommodation units during 

2017/2018 was slightly less than £1 million (an increase of 25% over the previous year). 

 

Some 70 sites are Learning Outside of the Classroom accredited.  The YHA generated 

110,000 residential school trips during 2017/2018. 

 

Interestingly during the year their Exclusive Hire business, where hostels can be booked for 

sole use, has increased by 14% - generating £1.5m in income. 

 

Glamping 

The term ‘glamping’ has been coined to represent more luxurious tents and forms of 

camping such as pre-erected tents, wooden tents, shepherd huts and yurts.  There has been 

growth in this sector and this has seen the introduction of businesses such as Canopy and 

Stars (a booking agency for luxury camping experiences).   These are often lifestyle 

businesses, but a review of Canopy and Stars show the relatively high tariffs which can be 

achieved. 

 

   
External and interior photos of a yurt with a wood burning stove  

 

A number of these are high tariff products in rural locations responding to market needs for 

high quality innovative and distinctive experiences.  

 

 
Eskdale Camping Pods  

http://www.campingandcaravanningclub.co.uk/ukcampsites/alternative-camping/eskdale/ 

Page 107

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/
http://www.campingandcaravanningclub.co.uk/ukcampsites/alternative-camping/eskdale/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  64 

 

Medium scale holiday lodge operators  

There are several medium scale operators of lodges in the UK, including Forest Holidays.  

Forest Holidays is a growing player in the self-catering cabin market with its group of nine 

holiday sites, most of which offer some 40-70 units.  These are all located in established 

forest blocks within the Forestry Commission’s estate.  Interestingly, they have very low-key 

central facilities (the Forest Retreat) – in effect a reception point and small catering offer, 

but a number have now been developed adjacent to successful Forestry Commission 

recreation sites e.g. Sherwood Forest. 

 

Forest Holidays are positioning themselves as an upper level provider of forest breaks where 

cabins have hot tubs and wood burning stoves.  Key site requirements are based on an 

large, accessible and attractive forest location.      

 

Luxury self-catering cottage clusters  

There are several examples of luxury clusters of self-catering accommodation which have 

been successfully developed in the UK.  Perhaps, the most well known example is the 

Watermark experience in the Cotswolds, where high end ‘cottages’ have been developed 

around attractive lakes (former gravel pits).   To date they have developed over 300 

cottages around the lakes which can be purchased and then let on behalf of their owners.    

 

Second homes (holiday homes) 

In recent years there has been a trend towards second homes and holiday homes within the 

UK.  At the upper end of the scale these are traditional bricks and mortar houses in popular 

holiday locations which are used by the owners for holiday purposes.   

 

In terms of the housing stock the 2011 Census reported that out of the overall second 

homes market place some 11% or just over 165,000 were for holiday use.  It should be 

noted that a number of Councils have advocated against turning existing residential 

property into holiday homes as this distorts the housing market for local residents. 

 

Niche – self-catering provision 

The unique selling point of many niche accommodation products is their limited scale which 

helps to create a level of distinctiveness and uniqueness.  An example is the Living 

Architecture project where high end homes designed by leading architects are used as 

holiday accommodation – please see: http://www.living-architecture.co.uk/.  The product 

commands a premium price, for example, the Shingle House in Kent has a tariff of £2,275 

for a three night weekend break during August 2018.   The Landmark Trust has developed 

luxury holiday accommodation within a number of historic properties and Under the Thatch 

market a number of high-quality historic holiday cottages in the UK and Europe. 

 
 

 

Page 108

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/
http://www.living-architecture.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  65 

 

Cadw, the National Trust and English Heritage have entered the self-catering marketplace 

In a drive to maximise income generated from their estates and property portfolio Cadw, 

the National Trust and English Heritage are letting out high quality self-catering cottages.   

The National Trust which has over 5 million members has a portfolio of approximately 400 

self-catering cottages, some of which levy a premium tariff.  Additionally, the National Trust 

has a range of other properties including bunkhouses, bothies along with camping and 

caravanning sites and sites with wooden camping pods. Clearly, membership and / or 

national organisations have a significant advantage in terms of market reach.   

 

Touring parks 

The touring park sector is fragmented within the UK with a very wide range in size and 

characteristics of sites available.  In terms of ownership a majority of sites are privately 

owned though local authorities and other public bodies own sites.   

 

However, the Camping and Caravanning Club which has approximately 700,000 members 

and The Caravan and Motorhome Club which has approximately 350,000 member 

households (approximately circa 1,000,000 people) both operate a national network of 

sites. 

 

The National Caravan Council estimates that there are approximately the following number 

of caravans in use: 

 

• 555,000 touring caravans 

• 365,000 caravan holiday homes 

• 225,000 motorhomes 

 

During 2017 there were just over 14,000 new registrations of motorhomes, up from 4,700 in 

2004.   In respect of the dispatch of new touring caravans the overall number delivered each 

year to the domestic market has increased from 23,100 in 2000 to 23,900 in 2017.  

However, a peak of over 33,000 was recorded in 2007.  Although encouragingly, number of 

new caravans has been increasing since 2013. 

 

It is interesting to note that with rising fuel prices it can make it prohibitive for touring 

caravan owners to take long continental breaks and with recent investment in the facilities 

at a number of key sites it has helped to strengthen the UK touring caravan market place.   

Investment in the facilities has been shown to improve occupancy. 

 

New(ish) business models 

AirBnB represents a relatively new business model which enables small-scale single owners 

of holiday accommodation to rent out individual rooms and whole properties to individuals.   

In effect AirBnB is performing a marketing and booking role for property owners.  

 

Page 109

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  66 

 

Since launching the product offer has been developed with: 

 

• Guests, since 2016 have been able to book an experience as part of their trip (guests 

can book over 800 experiences) 

 

• The introduction of Airbnb Plus whereby properties are inspected  

 

It is important to note the findings from recent Airbnb research4: “Between July 2017 and 

July 2018, hosts and guests using Airbnb contributed an estimated £3.5 billion to the UK’s 

economy, with approximately 8.4 million inbound guests travelling over this period…Over the 

last year, residents from 2,600 villages, towns and cities have welcomed 8.4 million guests 

who have travelled on Airbnb. This activity stretches across the whole of the UK, from big 

cities to rural villages, with 223,200 active listings on Airbnb in England, Scotland, Wales and 

Northern Ireland helping visitors travel in a more flexible way.” 

 

Furthermore…“Between June 2017 and June 2018, the top five trending regions for travel in 

the UK included: 1 Wales The region has seen an 81 percent year-on-year growth in inbound 

guest arrivals….. Wales proved to be one of the most popular regions for Airbnb activity in 

the UK, attracting 467,000 inbound guests over the year-long period – with 21 percent of 

these guests arriving as part of a family 12 The following page captures the activity of the 

Airbnb community between 1 July 2017 and 1 July 2018. (the highest in the UK). The 

economic activity generated by these guests, who stayed at 13,600 active listings, totalled 

£155 million.” 

 
5.4.3 Wider trends in the accommodation sector 

Through working on consultancy projects, managing a hotel and luxury self-catering cottage 

on the Isle of Wight and the involvement of one of our directors sitting on the board of an 

operating company providing luxury forest lodge breaks in Dorset we are noticing a number 

of trends in the accommodation sector. 

 

• Expectations are rising in terms of the quality of accommodation being demanded by 

guests e.g. use of integrated hot-tubs and wood burning stoves within lodge 

developments 

 

• For single operation sites, agencies such as Hoseasons and Bookings.com are key 

channels to market  

 

• There is a trend to combine holiday with specific activities or experiences (see Airbnb 

which now allows guests to book local experiences alongside their accommodation)  

 

 
4 Airbnb UK Insights Report 2018 

Page 110

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  67 

 

• On domestic short breaks people are holidaying closer to home 

 

• Demand is increasing for accommodation units which can accommodate either large 

groups of friends or multi-generational families.  In our experience the larger and/or 

higher quality units often sell out first.    

 

• Research carried out by Barclays5 identified that respondents felt that an important 

factor or motivation in use of their leisure time was ‘escapism/distraction’ (82%) and 

the opportunity to pursue an interest or take part in an educational activity (also 

generated a relatively strong score (58%).  

 

• ‘Unique’ or ‘architect-led’ individual self-catering accommodation products are 

starting to achieve enhanced occupancy rates (and charge a premium tariff) 

 

• Agencies like ‘Under the Thatch’ are offering a range of unique and quirky places to 

stay, which cater for the premium market place 
 

5.5 Market SWOT 
Below we set out a summary market SWOT analysis, which highlights the strengths, 

weaknesses, opportunities and threats associated with the marketplace. 
 

Strengths 

 

Weaknesses 

 

• Substantial market size within 2 and 

3 hours reaching more than 10 

million residents 

 

• Within reach of large conurbations 

(including Bristol and Birmingham) 

within the core short break market 

 

• Removal of Severn Crossing toll no 

longer acts as a cost barrier 

 

• There has been growth in tourist 

numbers to the area albeit still at 

relatively low levels of overnight 

stays 

 

• There is existing provision within 

the marketplace (but Gnoll still has 

the potential to provide a distinctive 

offer) 

 

• In the County Borough staying 

visitors are heavily biased towards 

stays with friends and relatives 

rather than in paid for 

accommodation 

 

• There remains a strong pattern of 

seasonal visits in south west Wales 

which makes it more difficult to take 

 
5 Destination UK, Driving Growth in the UK Hospitality and Leisure Sector, Barclays 

 

Page 111

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  68 

 

 

• Average self-catering occupancy for 

Wales is showing a growth trend 

 

 

forward viable schemes on a year 

round basis 

 

• Potentially, in the minds of visitors, 

Neath may not be a primary tourist 

destination 

Opportunities 

 

Threats 

• Future improvements to M4 could 

extend market reach 

 

• Some opportunity to convert day 

visitors to overnight staying tourists  

 

• There have been a range of 

innovative products in the self- 

catering sector (including pre-

bookable wooden pods, glamping 

etc) which present new business 

opportunities 

 

• Provide facilities for older age 

groups who have a higher 

representation within the core 

market catchments and also are 

more able to travel on year-round 

basis 

 

• Single site operations can compete 

effectively by working with online 

agencies and other booking systems 

• Knowledge of the area among the 

key source markets for tourist visits 

appears limited and perceptions of 

area fail to attract tourist visitors in 

sufficient numbers 

 

• Development of new or investment 

in existing accommodation at other 

sites could act as a strong 

‘competitor’ 

 

  

Page 112

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  69 

 

6.0 Case examples 
A number of attractions and country parks are investing in visitor accommodation to 

increase revenue generated onsite.  Some visitor experiences are working in partnership to 

reduce the risk and level of capital investment whereas others are developing the option in-

house.  Examples include: 

 

• The Eden Project in Cornwall is working in partnership with the Youth Hostel 

Association and similarly The Sill – a visitor centre in Northumberland National Park 

is also working with the YHA 

 

• At Rother Valley Country Park the council has invested in creating a high 

specification touring caravan and camping site adjacent to the country park 

 

   
Eden Project and Rother Valley Country Park (touring caravan and camping site) 

 

6.1 Under The Thatch 
Under The Thatch (UTT) is a niche holiday lettings agency specialising in quirky attractive 

properties with a focus on the family market. 

 

It has a strong focus on properties in Wales with a presence in Ireland and France too and 

some other European countries. 

 

It is interesting to note that the sector has witnessed considerable change in the past few 

years.  Large web-based businesses such as Booking.com are ‘mopping up’ large parts of the 

market and so there has been a drive to become even more specialist and ‘up-market’. 

 

The company does not pro-actively look for new properties and currently all profits are 

ploughed back into design and build projects.  Under The Thatch charges 25% commission 

including VAT of the tariff. The company does not ask for exclusivity on deal and owners are 

free to use other platforms to market their properties. 

Page 113

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/
http://www.mbwales.com/agents/cwmcarn/
http://www.mbwales.com/agents/cwmcarn/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  70 

 

Under The Thatch will visit and arrange photographs - they pride themselves on 

relationships with owners.  UTT is then responsible for marketing the properties and 

providing the customers.  

 

It has a high specification automated web-based booking system and UTT will also assist 

owners with practical help and advice such as weekly rotas for housekeeping. 

 

The properties need to be distinctive in themselves, ‘the accommodation needs to be the 

star!’ For marketing purposes there is a need to produce interesting and exciting 

photographs ‘Instagrammable moments.’  The build needs to be high quality with views 

from every property and even every room.  

 

If only a standard cottage then it is better not to enter holiday sector but look for long term 

rents. 

 

It is interesting to note that celebrity actor Griff Rhys Jones has a couple of properties to let 

on the site. 

 

Given the location of a large proportion of their properties in Wales, the catchment along 

the M4 corridor represents a core part of their audience (mainly 2-hour catchment). 

 

The Severn Bridge toll has been removed, which is expected to boost tourism volumes. 

 

Under the Thatch has actually ceased to work with about a third of properties in last 1-2 

years (removing the most complained about, worst quality / cheapest) and become more 

niche, more top end. 

 

At the moment, we believe the self-catering cottage and the location of Gnoll Estate 

Country Park does not have a strong fit with the Under the Thatch product requirements. 

 

6.2 Cwmcarn Camping Pods 
Caerphilly County Borough Council has introduced 10 wooden camping pods at Cwmcarn 

Forest, a destination mountain biking area within easy reach of Cardiff.  The forest site also 

incorporates a forest drive and visitor centre.    

 

The site where the wooden pods have been introduced was already being used as a touring 

site for camping and caravans with a supporting shower block facility.  The area used for 

visitor accommodation is located within a short walking distance from the café. 

 

The ten pods were introduced over a period of two years with three being introduced in 

2012 and the remainder in tranches of three and four in 2013.   Full planning permission was 

required.   

Page 114

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  71 

 

The pods consist of a mix of different size units: 

 

• Seven family pods  

• Three standard pods 

 

The pods sit on wooden sleepers (to keep them off the ground), these have been laid on to 

concrete blocks which were cemented in place.   The bases were laid in-house which helped 

to reduce the overall development cost.    Additionally, there were already electric hook-ups 

in place for the touring caravans and a spur had to be taken off from the main supply, which 

further reduced the capital outlay required for the pods. 

 

The pods cost approximately £7,975 each for the family pod and £6,950 each for the 

standard pod, with a transportation charge of £500 per pod.     

 

The pods are very basic in nature and do not incorporate shower / washing facilities and no 

bedding is provided to guests.   After opening it was decided to furnish six pods with a 

double bed, camping bunks for children and a fridge.  The other pods are bare hires with no 

internal facilities.   The furnished pods are cramped. 

 

The pods are open year-round apart from a week over Christmas.   They are managed in-

house and no additional staff have been taken on to manage / oversee the day to day 

operation of the pods. 

 

The pods are now marketed in-house via social media and the website (which enables 

online bookings to be taken).  In the past the Council worked with an external agency but 

this was problematic, for example, guests would arrive and the onsite staff would have no 

record of the booking.   Therefore, the decision was taken to take back the bookings 

operation in-house.  

 

Annual occupancy being achieved is relatively low – approximately 33%.  Whilst the main 

summer holiday period has high occupancy levels, mid-week periods outside of the holidays 

are difficult to fill.  Occupancy has remained relatively static over the preceding years.   

 

Guests are drawn from Bristol, Birmingham and further afield.  This is linked to the centre’s 

reputation for mountain biking and people attending events in Cardiff will use the pods.    

 

During peak periods the tariffs per night are approximately: 

 

• Standard £45 

 

• Family £57 

 

Page 115

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  72 

 

• Furnished £60 

 

The ten pods generate an income of £35,000 to £40,000 per annum. 

 

During 2019, the Council has introduced six lodges with integrated shower, toilet and 

kitchen facilities.  They are planning to introduce a further three lodges.  This is in direct 

response from customers (large families) requesting accommodation which can cater for 

five people (two adults and three children). 

 

During peak periods the lodge tariffs per night are approximately: 

 

• £115 for the larger lodge 

 

• £105 medium lodge 

 

• £95 small lodge 

 

Key observations: 

• Being an established touring site prior to introducing the pods was beneficial 

 

• Proximity to Cardiff is an advantage, people attending an event in Cardiff stay in the 

pods 

 

• The reputation of Cwmcarn Forest as a mountain biking destination is key and is able 

to draw people in from further afield (this is unlikely to be applicable to Gnoll Estate 

Country Park) 

 

• Limited secondary spend is generated in the café people – guests bring their own 

food and also as the café is not open in the evening guests will order takeaway meals 

 

• During periods of poor weather people who are camping onsite will book a pod to 

stay in  

 

• Bookings for camping pitches have had to be cancelled due to flooding (this is not an 

issue for the wooden pods).  Pods bring with them a level of wet weather resilience 

 

• Higher quality accommodation is often booked out more quickly than lower grade 

accommodation. 

 

 

Page 116

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  73 

 

7.0 Options assessment 

 

7.1 Accommodation uses – a longlist 
We set out below a longlist of accommodation uses which could potentially be introduced 

at the development site identified at Gnoll Estate Country Park 

 

7.1.1 Conversion of former Rangers' cottage 

 

Conversion of former Ranger’s cottage 

 

Core component elements 

(Alternatively, could be disposed of as a 

residential dwelling on a long leasehold 

basis) 

• High-quality self-catering 

accommodation unit with luxury 

fittings and fixtures, including hot 

tub and wood burning stove 

 

• Dedicated and secure outdoor space 

(garden) and adjoining parking area 

 

 

Pros 

 

Cons 

• Could become attractive high 

quality, characteristic 

accommodation project 

 

• Benefits from attractive views 

across water 

 

• Straightforward to manage 

 

• Could be let by specialist 

accommodation letting agency such 

as Cottages4You or Hoseasons 

(therefore reducing the risk to the 

NPTCBC) 

 

• Potential for year-round occupancy 

- helps to extend the season 

 

• Limited additional capacity - with 

relatively few bedspaces added to 

stock within County Borough 

 

• Potential high cost of bringing 

existing cottage back into use as 

high quality bedstock 

 

• Potential issue of people passing by 

the front of the cottage (to a degree 

lack of privacy would impact on 

attractiveness of offer) 

 

Page 117

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  74 

 

• Positive use of cottage (secures 

building for future generations) 

 

• Lower planning risk as existing 

building is being used 

 

• Builds on existing self-catering 

lettings business at Margam 

Country Park  

 

Example • High quality cottages let by Under 

the Thatch  

https://www.underthethatch.co.uk/ 

• Ivy Cottage at Margam Country Park 

 

Strength of fit with development site Gnoll Estate Country Park 

 

 

• Strength of fit: Medium to High (subject to capital cost).  Alternative use could be 

to take to market as a residential dwelling on a long leasehold basis. 

 

 

 

7.1.2 Conversion of existing buildings (former potting sheds) on site to bunkhouse type  

accommodation 

 

Bunkhouse 

 

Core component elements Reinstatement of former potting shed with 

potential extension to develop a 

bunkhouse type of offer, which is able to 

accommodate different group sizes  

 

• Toilets / washing facilities 

 

• Small-scale kitchen preparation 

area (for use by guests) 

 

• Briefing space/recreation room 

(with wood burning stove) 

 

Page 118

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/
https://www.underthethatch.co.uk/
http://www.margamcountrypark.co.uk/1999


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  75 

 

• Drying area 

Example • Dare Valley Country Park 

(https://www.groupaccommodatio

n.com/properties/dare-valley-

country-park-accommodation-

aberdare-south-wales), which has 

secured investment to enhance the 

accommodation product 

 

 

 

Pros 

 

Cons 

 

• Being able to accommodate school, 

team-building and other group 

/specialist visits as well as large 

family reunions 

 

• Low barrier to entry (i.e. low tariff 

makes product accessible) 

 

• Would make use of existing building 

stock 

 

 

• Lower levels of occupancy in Winter  

 

• Likely to be low level of return on 

investment 

 

• Significant cost to reinstate former 

potting shed (in a very poor state of 

repair) and add extension 

Strength of fit with development site Gnoll Estate Country Park 

 

 

• Strength of fit: Low / medium  

 

 

7.1.3 Cluster of high-quality self-catering lodges 

 

Cluster of high-quality self-catering lodges 

 

Core component elements • Cluster of 6 to 12 high-quality self 

catering lodges 

 

• Hot-tubs  

 

• Wood burning stove 

Page 119

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/
https://www.groupaccommodation.com/properties/dare-valley-country-park-accommodation-aberdare-south-wales
https://www.groupaccommodation.com/properties/dare-valley-country-park-accommodation-aberdare-south-wales
https://www.groupaccommodation.com/properties/dare-valley-country-park-accommodation-aberdare-south-wales
https://www.groupaccommodation.com/properties/dare-valley-country-park-accommodation-aberdare-south-wales


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  76 

 

 

• Car parking spaces (adjacent to each 

lodge) 

Example • Burnbake, Rempstone Estate 

https://www.burnbake.com/luxury-

lodges/ 

 

• Forest Holidays  

https://www.forestholidays.co.uk 

 

Pros 

 

Cons 

• Potential high level of year-round 

occupancy 

 

• Adds a new product within the 

market place 

 

• High quality bedspace capacity 

added to County Borough stock 

 

• Attracts/targets higher spending 

tourists 

 

• Significant economic impact during 

construction and operational phases 

 

• High risk as destination not 

established in market place 

 

• Significant capital investment £2m+ 

(probably higher due to 

infrastructure costs) 

 

• Unlikely to attract investor/operator 

(perhaps more suited as a long-term 

ambition) 

 

• Development site is not ideal for 

forest lodges 

 

Strength of fit with development site Gnoll Estate Country Park 

 

 

• Strength of fit: Low  

 

  
Burnbake Forest Lodges 

Page 120

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/
https://www.burnbake.com/luxury-lodges/
https://www.burnbake.com/luxury-lodges/
https://www.forestholidays.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  77 

 

7.1.4  Cluster of seasonal yurts or other temporary ‘glamping’ structures such as pods or 

wooden tents 
 

Cluster of seasonal yurts or other temporary ‘glamping’ structures such as pods 

or wooden tents 

 

Core component elements • Secure area to introduce yurts, pods 

or wooden tents 

 

• Requires supporting facilities 

(shower + toilet block – potentially 

located in (converted) existing 

redundant building or new build.  

Please note some pods now 

incorporate showers / toilets 

 

Example • Glentress Forest Lodges (wooden 

pods) 

www.glentressforestlodges.co.uk/ 

 

• Ready Camping (from the Camping 

and Caravan Club) – pre-erected 

safari tents.  Click here. 

 

Pros 

 

Cons 

• Relatively low capital requirement 

and potential higher level of return 

when compared to built structures 

such as lodges  

 

• Marketed and let by a third-party 

agency such as Canopy and Stars to 

reduce risk to Council during the 

initial years of operation 

 

• Straightforward to deliver 

 

• Can yield high tariffs and generate 

higher level of income and longer 

season than camping 

• Seasonal nature of business 

 

• As relatively low barriers to market 

entry could face more competition 

in future 

 

Page 121

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/
http://www.glentressforestlodges.co.uk/
https://www.campingandcaravanningclub.co.uk/Readycamp/#section-welcome


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  78 

 

 

• Lower planning risk 

 

Strength of fit with development site Gnoll Estate Country Park 

 

 

Strength of fit: Medium 

 

  
Wooden pods Wigwam Holidays 

 

7.1.5 Seasonal camping ‘field’ 

 

Seasonal camping field 

 

Core component elements • Designated area for pitches 

 

• Car parking spaces 

 

• Supporting facilities for example: 

shower block, wash room, 

washing/drying area for clothes.   

 

These could potentially be 

accommodated within the former 

potting shed buildings (but with 

high capital outlay, a new build 

purpose-built facility or temporarily 

hired in facility for the season 

 

 

 

Page 122

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  79 

 

Pros 

 

Cons 

• Taps into existing growth trend for 

camping/outdoor accommodation 

 

• Offers affordable tourist 

accommodation 

 

• Seasonal business  

 

• More complex to manage that 

single use cottage/self-catering 

units 

 

• Not high profile 

 

• Limited profit (would require 

significant site to accommodate 

high number of campers) 

 

Example • Black Berry Wood, Sussex (mix of 

different types of accommodation 

including camping) 
http://blackberrywood.com/ 

  

Strength of fit with development site Gnoll Estate Country Park 

 

 

• Strength of fit: Low to Medium  

  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 123

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/
http://blackberrywood.com/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  80 

 

7.1.6  Floating structure  

 

Floating structure  

 

Core component elements Introduction of floating accommodation 

units on the main lake adjacent to the 

cottage  

 

• Supporting infrastructure including 

secure moorings with pontoon to 

take account of access and changes 

in water levels 

 

• Associated car parking space 

 

Example • Neyland floating pods 

(https://www.yachthavens.com/ne

yland/haven-pod/) 

 

Pros 

 

Cons 

• Provides a unique accommodation 

offer within Neath Port Talbot 

 

• Marketed and let by a third-party 

agency such as Canopy and Stars 

 

• Real distinctive character adding to 

profile of destination in a positive 

way 

 

• High risk from planning perspective 

 

• Significant capital cost including 

services linked to the units 

 

• Health and safety considerations 

 

• Security and privacy issues 

 

Strength of fit with development site Gnoll Estate Country Park 

 

 

• Strength of fit: Low 

 

 

Page 124

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  81 

 

  
Bespoke design lodges, West Sussex 

 

7.1.7  One-off design led intervention  
 

One-off design led intervention 

 

 

Core component elements • A design led one-off land-based 

accommodation modules (could 

include a mix of different and 

unique accommodation concepts) 

 

• Would require supporting 

infrastructure 

 

• Potential design competition 

 

Example • https://www.wallpaper.com/travel/

epic-retreats-wales-first-pop-up-

boutique-glamping-resort 

Pros 

 

Cons 

• Opportunity to raise profile of the 

Neath Port Talbot associated with 

positive PR 

 

• Demonstrates innovative thinking 

 

• Seasonal nature of the offer 

 

• Limited direct economic impact 

 

• Significant capital outlay required 

(also as a new and untested product 

may need to budget for higher 

ongoing maintenance costs) 

  

Page 125

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  82 

 

Strength of fit with development site Gnoll Estate Country Park 

 

 

• Strength of fit: Medium 

 

 

7.1.8 Touring caravan site 
 

Touring caravan site 

 

 

Core component elements • Hardstanding pitches with electric 

hook up and services 

 

• Central hub building (reception, 

bookings, bar, catering offer, toilet, 

washing facilities etc) 

 

Example • Rother Valley Country Park 

https://www.waleswood.co.uk/ 

 

Pros 

 

Cons 

• Link in with one of the camping 

based membership clubs (potential 

joint venture) 

 

• Potential to incorporate camping 

use alongside touring caravans 

 

 

• High land take compared to some of 

the other options 

 

• Access for larger caravans (driving 

up from lower level) 

 

• Seasonal nature of the marketplace 

 

• Limited size of the site (access, 

turning etc) 

 

 

Strength of fit with development site Gnoll Estate Country Park 

 

• Strength of fit: Low  

 

 

 

Page 126

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/
https://www.waleswood.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  83 

 

 

7.2 Assessment criteria and scoring matrix 
In terms of identifying the accommodation product(s) which has the greatest potential of 

being introduced within Gnoll Estate Country Park we have developed a weighted scoring 

matrix (using a range of 1 to 10, with 10 being the maximum awarded) to evaluate the 

individual options. 

 

Comments on basis for scoring 

Site fit 

 
Fit with development site 

 

Synergy with the ‘landscape’ / 

environment of Gnoll Estate 

Country Park 

 

• Can the development site readily accommodate the use? 

 

• The level of synergy the accommodation product has with 

the qualities and landscape that make Gnoll Estate 

Country Park an attractive and special place to visit 

 

 

Market considerations 

 
Potential to attract specific 

market segments 

 

 

Seasonality 

 

 

 

 

Step change in profile of Gnoll 

Estate Country Park 

 

• How likely is the accommodation product to attract 

groups of visitors and independent travellers in Wales’ 

target segments? 

 

• How attractive is the option to staying visitors on a year-

round basis? 

 

• To what degree could the product enhance Gnoll Estate 

Country Park as a destination (adding to profile of the 

country park and Neath)? 

 

Deliverability 

 
Project complexity 

 

Risk 

 

 

• Ease of deliverability 

 

• Level of risk associated with the accommodation product 

being considered 

 

 

 

Page 127

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  84 

 

Financial and operational considerations 

 
Indicative capital cost 

 

 

Economic impact 

 

 

 

Additional staff resource 

• The indicative capital cost of the project (excluding any 

additional service / infrastructure requirements) 

 

• The potential to have a positive financial impact in its own 

right and on other nearby local businesses and supply 

chain 

 

• Level of additional staff resource to operate the ‘business’ 

 

 

Within the scoring matrix we have applied a weighting (+1 to +2.5), which reflects the 

strategic objectives and priorities.

Page 128

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
   
 

Fit with 

development 

site

Synergy with the 

‘landscape’ / 

environment of 

Gnoll Estate 

Country Park

Potential to 

attract specific 

target market 

segments

Seasonality 

(potential to 

generate year 

round 

occupancy)

Step change in 

profile of Gnoll 

Estate Country 

Park

How complex 

will the option to 

be deliver?*

Risk*
Indicative capital 

cost*
Economic impact

Level of 

additional staff 

resource*

Weighting 2.0 1.5 2.0 2.0 2.5 2.5 2.0 2.0 2.0 1.0

Conversion of former Ranger's cottage 9.0 9.0 8.0 8.0 4.0 8.0 6.0 9.0 5.0 9.0 142.5

Cluster of seasonal yurts or other 

temporary ‘glamping’ structures such as 

pods or wooden pods

8.0 8.0 7.0 4.0 6.0 8.0 7.0 8.0 5.0 6.0 131.0

One-off design led intervention 5.0 7.0 8.0 8.0 7.0 5.0 6.0 7.0 5.0 6.0 124.5

Conversion of existing buildings (former 

potting sheds) on site to bunkhouse type of 
9.0 9.0 6.0 5.0 4.0 7.0 6.0 8.0 3.0 8.0 123.0

Seasonal camping field 6.0 7.0 7.0 3.0 4.0 9.0 8.0 9.0 4.0 5.0 122.0

Floating structures 1.0 6.0 8.0 7.0 7.0 3.0 5.0 7.0 5.0 6.0 106.0

Cluster of high-quality self-catering lodges 4.0 6.0 8.0 8.0 8.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 9.0 3.0 105.0

Touring park site 4.0 5.0 8.0 4.0 6.0 3.0 4.0 3.0 7.0 3.0 93.0

Total 

weighted 

score

Uses / products

Deliverability

* Within this category a low score represents a negative outcome 

Financial and operational considerationsMarket considerationsSite fit

P
age 129



7.3 Accommodation preferred development scenario 
The scoring matrix has identified two key opportunities which focus on refurbishing the 

Ranger’s Cottage (please see commentary below) and the introduction of a cluster of 

wooden camping pods.    

 

Some uses such as a touring park at the depot site generated a relatively low score because 

of the physical fit along with access issues and the high level of capital cost to develop a site 

of suitable size and quality.  

 

In respect of the ‘wooden pods’ we believe that the key opportunity relates to:   

 

• Introducing a cluster of 12 high quality wooden pods with integrated shower, toilet 

and wash-basins (first phase).   

 

• The use of ensuite facilities within the pods will allow a premium tariff to be charged 

and will be more efficient to operate.  There would be some revenue savings - as 

there is no central shower/toilet block there would be lower daily cleaning costs 

 

• Ensuite facilities make the offer more appealing, particularly to the family market 

place 

 

Below please see example of a XL-Grande Pod, provided by Cedar Tree Pods. 

 

Page 130



 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  87 

 

 

   
Images kindly supplied by: https://cedartreepods.co.uk/ (the sofa can be replaced with a day bed and pull out 

mattress which could accommodate two small children 

 

Specification 

6 x 3.3 metre glamping pod 

Dimensions 3.3m wide, 6m long, 2.9m high 

 

Features 

• Precision CNC machined framework 

• Western red cedar horizontal cladding with airflow system 

• Treated timber skids 

• 100mm sub-zero insulation package 

• Commercial grade laminate floor 

Page 131

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/
https://cedartreepods.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  88 

 

• 20mm thick redwood internal cladding  

• Painted bathroom walls 

• Double glazed UPVC door and window 

• Hardwood decked porch area 

• Double gas lift bed with memory foam mattress. (Different mattress options 

available) 

• Full en-suite with non-slip flooring, shower enclosure, toilet and basin. 

• Kitchenette including sink, microwave combi oven and fridge. 

• Sofa bed 

• Table and chairs for 4 people 

 

Electric package  

• Brushed stainless fittings 

• 4 double sockets including 1 USB 

• LED downlights  

• Exterior lighting 

• Fitted bedside lights 

• 2 way switching 

• 16-40 amp electric connection  

 

Following a conversation with a pod manufacturer it was recognised that the market is 

moving away from the basic pod modules to ones which are more luxurious. 

 

Up to two pods can be delivered on a single lorry and then lifted into place and connected 

to services. 

 

Design considerations 

The pods would either be laid on a hard-core or concrete base and there will be a need to 

ensure that the units can be supplied with electricity along with connection to drainage, 

water and sewerage. 

 

• The pods are split into two clusters of six with appropriate screening 

 

• There would be a need to landscape the site to create an attractive and inviting 

environment and we have allocated a budget for this (including removing existing 

structures) 

 

• Externally each pod would be equipped with a picnic table and also fire pit (creating 

a social space for guests) 

 

Page 132

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  89 

 

• Separate building with facilities for washing and drying clothes. It was originally 

suggested that these could be located within a shipping container clad in hit and 

miss timber, which would reduce capital costs when compared to a standalone new 

build.   However, following consultation this facility would be located within a 

refurbished Potting Shed.  

 

• Car parking would be integrated within the site 

 

• Security gate 

 

 

We set out below concept sketch of a pod and an indicative site plan (please see attached 

PDF for a clearer indicative plan). 

 

 

 
 

Page 133

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 

P
age 134



 

Maintenance 

Annual maintenance would include oiling the exterior of the pod and touching up the 

paintwork where required. 

 

In terms of the interior there would be annual wear and tear costs associated with use. 

 

Phasing 

The first phase of development centres around introducing a cluster of 12 wooden pods.   

Depending on occupancy level and demand there is the opportunity to increase the number 

of wooden pods which could be readily accommodated on the site.   

 

Indicative schedule of capital costs for the accommodation module 

We set out below a schedule of indicative capital costs in respect of the wooden pods. 

 

 
 

Items Indicative costs

Landscaping, bases, lighting and demolition of 

existing structures - excluding the Potting Shed 

(est)

                         81,500 

Signage                             1,500 

12 x pods  (based on an indicative cost provided 

by a pod manufacturer)*
                       256,800 

Equipment within pod                             6,000 

Transport                             7,800 

Booking facility and updating of website                             4,000 

Potting shed fitted out with clothes washing and 

drying facilities
                            5,000 

Refurbishment of Potting Shed  TBC 

Security gate                             3,000 

Car parking and roadway/internal access  TBC 

Indicative total                        365,600 

Introduction of Pods

Page 135



 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  92 

 

Please note costs to refurbish the Potting Shed to create a facility to wash and dry clothes 

remain unknown.   The cost is likely to be significant which could therefore make the 

scheme unattractive from an investment perspective. Even if this option is not taken 

forward the costs to make good the Potting Shed are likely to remain high.   Since the 

original discussion, creating two clusters of six lodges is likely to increase the cost 

allocated within the landscaping box.    

 
Note: Estimates are subject to site survey, preliminaries, input from a design team and QS.  They exclude 

professional fees, contingency, ground investigation, anomaly factors, upgrading / additional and connecting 

the infrastructure / services to the pods and Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council’s staff costs to manage 

and deliver the project.  Figures are net of VAT. The schedule of indicative capital costs does not take into 

account increasing tender prices or inflation. 

 

 

The former Ranger’s Cottage 

The cottage generated a positive score and we believe that refurbishing the cottage as a 

high-quality self-catering holiday unit is a good opportunity which could potentially 

generate a strong holiday letting income.    

 

However, the indicative capital refurbishment costs identified by the Council are very high 

at some £216,000.  In our view, this makes it a high-risk investment decision in terms of 

generating an appropriate return on capital invested.   We believe that an independent 

QS should be appointed to revisit the outline costing provided.     

 

Indicative discussions held between a holiday letting agent and the Council indicates 

indicative net annual revenue of £14,300 to £20,300 could be achieved. 

 

A further option to consider is a light touch refurbishment of the cottage which could 

then be let to a member of staff and generate a level of income.  The occupant’s 

responsibilities would include providing an onsite presence in respect of the Camping 

Pods. 

 

An additional option is to let the property as a long-term residential dwelling although 

this will impact on the suitability of introducing a cluster of visitor accommodation units 

on the adjoining areas. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 136

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  93 

 

8.0 Financial and operational considerations 
 

8.1 Occupancy 
We are suggesting an eight-month season initially and, subject to demand, the length of the 

season can be adjusted. 

 

We set out below a three-year model which shows the overall occupancy level with a small 

increase being applied annually. We have been cautious in our approach and shown an 

annual average occupancy level of 49.4% in Year One increasing to 51.4% in Year Three. 

 

 
 

In order to de-risk the project to the Council, we would suggest that in Year One 75% of 

units are let by a specialist agency, reducing to 60% by Year Three.   Depending on the level 

of in-house lettings there is a potential opportunity to accelerate the reduction in lettings by 

the specialist third party agency. 

 

During this period, it will be essential that the development initiative is supported by an 

appropriate marketing campaign. 

 

8.2 Tariff base 
The base tariff is £60 (£50 net of VAT) in Year One which is flexed throughout the season 

with a tariff of £78 (£65 net of VAT) being achieved in the peak month of August.   An annual 

increase has also been applied in Years Two and Three. 

 

 
 

Years Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct

Year 1 30.0           65.0           50.0           45.0           65.0           70.0           40.0           30.0           

Year 2 30.6           66.3           51.0           45.9           66.3           71.4           40.8           30.6           

Year 3 31.2           67.6           52.0           46.8           67.6           72.8           41.6           31.2           

Years Mar Apr May June July Aug Sept Oct

Year 1 £42.50 £55.00 £50.00 £55.00 £62.50 £65.00 £50.00 £50.00

Year 2 £43.35 £56.10 £51.00 £56.10 £63.75 £66.30 £51.00 £51.00

Year 3 £44.22 £57.22 £52.02 £57.22 £65.03 £67.63 £52.02 £52.02

Page 137

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  94 

 

8.3 Financial model 
Below we set out a three-year financial model.    

 

 
 

No allowance has been made for start-up cashflow or business rates. 

 

Staffing 

We have assumed that guests would be greeted by a member of staff at the arrival point 

(adjacent to the cottage).   At the time of booking, guests would provide an estimated time 

of arrival to ensure that staff time is efficiently utilised. 

 

There would be a need for a member of staff to be available on-call. 

 

Cleaning and linen 

Costs for cleaning and linen are included within the model. 

 

Other 

There may be an opportunity to work with Margam Country Park in terms of joint marketing 

and letting of the units as Margam Country Park already lets a self-catering cottage. 

 

There will be an opportunity to increase spend within the café through pre-ordered 

breakfast and other meals.  This is likely to be at a relatively low levels of throughput. 

 

Year One Year Two Year Three

Pods 80,642      83,899         87,289         

Total income 80,642      83,899         87,289         

Agency (75% of bookings via agency in Yr1 falling to 60% by Yr3) 15,120      13,634         13,093         

Cleaning and linen 7,464        7,614           7,766           

Waste collection (allocated minimum sum asssumes part of Gnoll CP) 500           515              530              

Central admin support (bookkeeping / bookings etc) 4,032        4,195           4,364           

Maintenance (and one off additional expenditure in Year Five required) 11,000      11,330         11,670         

Utilities 4,354        4,441           4,530           

Insurance (assumes bolted on to Council policy) 2,500        2,575           2,652           

Marketing (part of wider country park initiatives) 2,500        2,575           2,652           

Grounds maintenance 1,500        1,545           1,591           

Fire maintenance / H&S 1,000        1,030           1,061           

Bank / online booking charge 500           600              700              

Staff (additional resource meet and greet) 8,100        8,343           8,593           

Other 2,419        2,517           2,619           

Total costs 60,990      60,914         61,823         

       19,651          22,986          25,466 Profit / (loss) before EBITDA

Income

Costs

Page 138

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  95 

 

8.4 Sensitivity analysis in respect of occupancy levels 
 

10% increase in occupancy levels being achieved 

 
10% decrease in occupancy levels being achieved 

 
 

8.5 Tourism impacts 
The introduction of a cluster of 12 high-quality pods will have a positive economic impact 

during the construction and operational phases (alongside wider place making outcomes). 

 

There will be direct employment opportunities generated.  Additionally, there will be direct 

spend within the country park and wider local economy itself.  Direct spend during the 

operational period will include but is not restricted to: 

 

• The café within the Country Park 

• Lettings income 

• Fuel / transport cost 

• Local businesses such as shops, gift outlets and other places of interest (attractions) 

• Spend by the country park in terms of maintenance materials 

 

Perhaps, more importantly it will contribute to developing Gnoll Estate Country Park as a 

destination itself (outside of the immediate market place) and improve the overall bottom 

line position.   This is alongside wider placemaking benefits. 

  

Revenue / Costs Year One Year Two Year Three

Income 88,706      92,289         96,018         

Costs 64,329      64,154         65,060         

Profit / (loss) before EBITDA        24,376 28,136         30,958         

Revenue / Costs Year One Year Two Year Three

Income 72,577      75,509         78,560         

Costs 57,651      57,673         58,586         

Profit / (loss) before EBITDA        14,926 17,836         19,974         

Page 139

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  96 

 

9.0 Visitor experience development action plan 
Whilst the focus of the work is on assessing the feasibility of introducing visitor 

accommodation at Gnoll Estate Country Park, we recognise that there is a need to enhance 

the wider offer to meet the needs of overnight guests but also members of the local 

community.    

 

 

Note:  The visitor modelling for the adjacent Woodland Trust site has not yet been carried 

out (it is planned as a future stage of work).   Depending on the outcome this could 

significantly increase the level of throughput generated at Gnoll Estate Country Park 

which would impact on our recommendations below. 

 

 

9.1 Visitor needs 
In the table below we set out the findings from the primary research.  Overall, there is a 

positive outlook in terms of introducing new facilities / enhancing existing facilities to 

improve the overall offer at Gnoll Estate Country Park.  There are several areas where 

visitors would like to like to see change or new facilities introduced.  For example, this is 

particularly evident in terms of additional interpretation or improved signage, 52% of 

respondents felt the provision of additional information on the history of the country park 

was either a high priority or essential element which could be enhanced. 

 

 

Facility / service High priority (%) Essential (%) Desirable (%) Not needed (%)
Would not like 

to see (%)

New play area 14 11 37 34 4

Scultpure trail 13 6 51 25 5

Play trail 22 11 52 12 3

Indoor play 15 14 32 28 10

Enhance café 21 26 40 12 1

Additional interpretation 6 5 26 48 5

Improved signgage 9 8 36 44 3

Dedicated BBQ area 13 10 38 25 15

Outdoor cinema 17 14 40 19 10

Enhanced focus on conservation / 

environment
32 30 32 6 0

More information on the history of the 

site / local area
28 24 37 10 1

Rowing boats for hire 20 13 41 15 11

Festivals / events 19 22 36 15 8

Page 140

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  97 

 

 

In respect of festivals / events respondents were asked to comment on ideas for the type of 

events.  Responses included: 

 

• “Winter wonderland, food festival, wellness festival…” 

 

• “A family concert would be lovely or a big family day out concert fair” 

 

• “Music concerts, Christmas lights…” 

 

• “Open air theatre…” 

 

• “Music, craft festival, environmental issues/raising awareness, making things from 

junk (sculptures)” 

 

• “Regular craft lessons/sessions (which could be hosted in the meeting room)” 

 

• “Live bands, open cinema, food & drink markets, more children’s events” 

 

• “Events need to be more environmentally based...e.g wood carving etc. I really dislike 

the funfair" 

 

• “Welsh music, something for St David's Day” 

 

• “Ghost tours, history tour of site, themed days from18th century, music festivals, 

family fun sports day” 

 

• “The Margam Park luminate event was a massive hit and sell out at Christmas, 

maybe we could explore the logistics of replicating a similar event at the Gnoll. 

 

However, one respondent commented they “don't want to see themed events spoiling the 

tranquillity of the area.” 

 

Other ideas / comments, included: 

“I would love to see the park promote camping excursions, small festivals such as Neaths’ 

Band Fest, which is currently held in pubs in Neath. The addition of boats of the lake would 

be exciting and appealing to all ages. Previously, the Gnoll held ghost tours in the cellars, this 

held great appeal! It was interesting and fun! The Gnoll holds so much history for Neath. 

Adding a campsite option will bring people to the town, it will need to be manned to avoid 

teenagers but Clyne Gardens and Langors Lake, Brecon have done it so well!” 

 

Page 141

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  98 

 

Respondents were asked whether the improvements they selected as either high or 

essential would make them likely to visit more often.  91% stated they would. 

 

Respondents were also asked what they would not like to see introduced at Gnoll Estate 

Country Park.   The answers generated varied responses but a number of comments were 

raised about car parking charges “Higher charges for car park. The current price is far too 

high.”   There are some concerns about the type of events and the noise which is associated 

with these.   

 

Also, consideration should be given to the impact that enhancing or introducing new 

facilities could have upon the wildlife / environment and that the country park should not 

be ‘over commercialised’.     

 

9.2 Development action plan 
Based upon the drawing the research and consultation together we set below out a range of 

initiatives in an action plan format to enhance the visitor experience of the wider country 

park.   

 

These represent a package of initiatives which set out the next steps for Gnoll Estate 

Country Park.    

 

 

 
 

These have been themed or categorised under the following headings: 

 

Page 142

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  99 

 

 
 

It is important to note that there are key guiding principles which provide a framework for 

developing the action plan: 

 

• Where possible interventions / project should make a positive financial contribution 

to Gnoll Estate Country Park, but recognising that a number of interventions will not 

have a ‘direct financial impact’ but may increase dwelltime and engagement with 

visitors 

 

• Interventions should respect the qualities that make Gnoll Estate Country Park a 

special place to visit 

 

• The projects should be targeted at the local communities (it is recognised that visitor 

accommodation will draw people from further afield) 

 

Health initiatives 

At a National and County Borough Level there is a policy drive around encouraging people 

to become more active to reduce levels of obesity along with improving physical health 

and mental wellbeing.  Country parks and recreation sites have a key role to play in this 

respect. 

Page 143

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  100 

 

 

It is interesting to look at Moors Valley Country Park which is a hub site used by the 

Council to encourage people to become more active.  17 weekly health walks of different 

lengths, these include Nordic Walking, Wellness Walks, Workout Walks which are self-

sustaining along with running, cycling (including night cycling and accessible cycling), 

Mindfulness in Nature, Summer Evening Yoga and Fitness Buggy Workouts.   

 

Subject to seed funding this initiative could be introduced at Gnoll Estate Country Park.  

Alongside health and wellbeing outcomes there are financial benefits in respect of direct 

spend on car parking and within the café. 

 
 

Indicative cost  

We have allocated an indicative cost to all initiatives using the scale above. Please note all 

costs are subject to review by a QS, site survey and they do not take into account services or 

professional fees or Council staff time or any additional services required.  All figures are net 

of VAT. 

 

• £ <£1,000 

• ££ - £1,001 to £10,000 

• £££ - £10,001 to £25,000 

• ££££ - £25,001 to £50,000 

• £££££ - £50,001 to £100,000 

• ££££££ - £100,000+ 

 

Impact and priority 

The impact on the visitor experience and financial position (direct income) along with the 

priority of the project are set out as Low, Medium and High. 

 

Resources 

The initiatives have a resource implication in terms of delivering the project and this is 

highlighted in the action plan (this does not cover the operational phase – please see 

commentary below). 

 

 

Page 144

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


9.2.1 Enhancing the sense of welcome and car parking 
 

Enhancing the sense of welcome and car parking 

 

Actions Rationale Indicative 

cost 

Impact Priority Staff 

resource Visitor 

experience 

Financial 

Introduce welcome signage at 

all vehicle entry points and 

main pedestrian entry points  

 

• Enhance the immediate sense 

of arrival 

 

• Create a strong and positive 

first impression 

 

£££ M L M L 

Incorporate orientation 

information at key points 

(entry, car parking and nodes 

within the country park) 

highlighting important 

features of Gnoll Estate 

Country Park 

 

• To signpost key elements of 

the visitor experience to 

encourage visitors to use / 

explore specific areas within 

Gnoll Estate Country Park 

£££ M L M L 

Introduce signage at payment 

points to explain to visitors 

how the car parking income is 

used 

• Increase acceptance / 

willingness to pay car parking 

fee 

 

• Used to explain future 

increases in car parking charges 

££ M L H L 

P
age 145



 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  102 

 

 

• Reduces complaints 

 

Consider reviewing charging 

tariffs based on different 

dwelltime bands 

 

• Potential to increase income 

generated via car parking 

 

• Wider acceptance of car 

parking charges 

 

£ H M H M 

Consider introduction of 

ANPR system 

• To minimise leakage and 

maximise revenue 

 

• Improve customer experience 

(paying on exit rather than at 

start of journey).  Reducing 

queues  

 

££££/£££££ H M M L 

Extend existing hard standing 

car parking 

(recognise need to consider 

any ‘claw back’ from Ryder 

Cup funding) 

• Provide additional car parking 

spaces 

 

• Reduce dependency on good 

weather to accommodate 

additional cars during peak 

periods 

 

££££££ H H H (see 

first 

column) 

H 

P
age 146

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  103 

 

• Reduces staff time spent 

managing the car park during 

peak periods 

 

Introduce car parking tariff on 

the lower level to have a 

consistent policy (we 

recognise that this needs to 

be handled sensitively).  

Would also need to consider 

controlling parking / access 

on the lower level road 

leading up to the former 

Ranger’s Cottage 

• Maximise revenue generated 

onsite 

Part of above 

work 

package 

L L/M H M 

 

  

P
age 147

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  104 

 

PRECEDENT IMAGES 

 

   
 

ANPR system introduced within car parks managed at Hampshire County Council’s country parks 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 148

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  105 

 

  
 

Attenborough Nature Centre – explaining how the car parking “donation” is used and messaging at Alice Holt Forestry England site 

 

  

P
age 149

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  106 

 

9.2.2 Catering 

 

Improve the quality of the catering offer to maximise spend 

 

Actions Rationale Indicative 

cost 

Impact Priority Staff 

resource Visitor 

experience 

Financial 

Open up hatch in reception 

space during peak periods 

(near main entrance within 

visitor centre) to serve a  

selection of drinks, ice-cream, 

premade sandwiches and 

snacks 

• Reduce queues during peak 

periods and relieve pressure on 

main servery 

 

• Increase sales / income 

 

• Could be trialled relatively 

quickly 

 

££ H M H L 

Redesign of kitchen / servery 

counter (current facilities are 

not ideal and impact on the 

experience / offer).  Including 

investment in equipment 

 

Counter would enable food to 

be displayed in an attractive 

fashion 

• Maximise revenue 

 

• Reduce queues / improves 

throughput 

 

• Create a more welcoming offer 

/ space 

 

£££££  H H H H 

P
age 150

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  107 

 

Redesign menu (including 

healthy options / daily specials 

/ pre-booked high-teas etc) 

 

• Meeting the needs of customers 

 

• Help to reposition the café  

 

• Increase average spend and use 

of the café 

 

Part of above H M/H H L/M 

Market test option to hire out 

café outside of core opening 

hours to service functions / 

social uses e.g. wedding 

anniversaries, birthdays (not 

18th birthdays).  Also, 

opportunity for functions use 

of meeting space with 

improved catering offer 

 

• Maximise revenue generated 

from ‘asset’  

££ H M H L 

Enhance ambiance e.g. picture 

windows, wood burning stove 

• Improve customer experience, 

create a more warm / 

welcoming atmosphere 

 

• Taken together this package of 

initiatives has the potential to 

improve visits outside of the 

core season 

 

££££ M/H M H M 

P
age 151

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  108 

 

Trial ‘dog friendly’ café outside 

of peak season  

• Meet needs of visitors (25% of 

respondents to the survey 

stated walking the dog was the 

main reason they visit the 

country park) 

 

NA H L/M H L 

Introduce weekly barbecue 

food offer to be run by 

catering staff during summer 

period (one evening per week 

on a trial basis) 

 

• Used to extend opening hours 

 

• Provides additional revenue 

 

• Engage with new audiences 

£ M L M L 

Refresh internal decor • Creates strong positive first 

impression and welcoming 

atmosphere where people want 

to spend time 

 

Part of above 

package of 

initiatives 

H L M L 

Rebrand café as part of 

‘relaunch’ (including signage, 

menus etc) 

• Create stronger identity in the 

market place 

 

• Key part of ‘refreshing’ the offer 

/ experience 

££ M L H L (external 

agency) 

 
We did consider a standalone kiosk but we have been informed that if this was introduced that this would impact negatively on the event 

organisers business.   It is recognised that the Council are investing in the external space immediately outside of the café. 
 

P
age 152

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  109 

 

PRECEDENT IMAGES 

 

   
 

Queen Elizabeth Country Park: Architectural treatment of the front of the visitor centre and refurbishment of the café space with new menu offer 

 

    
 

Wood burning stove at Dinton Pastures Country Park, use of a national dish – Cawl at Gower Heritage Centre and table top map promoting the National Forest at CONKERS 

P
age 153

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  110 

 

9.2.3 Interpretation 

 

Interpretation – the rich built and natural heritage remains hidden.  Explore opportunities to bring this to the forefront 

of the visitor experience6.  The initiatives below would need to be considered as part of a wider interpretation plan 

Actions Rationale Indicative 

cost 

Impact Priority Staff 

resource Visitor 

experience 

Financial 

Develop interpretation plan • The aim is to build storytelling 

into a coherent, distinctive and 

captivating ‘spirit of place’ 

 

££/£ M/H L M L (work 

with 

external 

agency) 

Introduce stamp boards as 

part of themed trail 

• To encourage visitors to explore 

the wider country park 

 

££ M L M L 

Introduce interpretation 

within the visitor centre 

• Improve visitors’ understanding 

and knowledge about the 

natural environment and 

heritage of the country park 

 

£££  M L M L (external 

agency) 

 
*Further considerable should be given to introducing a consistence set of signs / use of interpretation and orientation panels in terms of 

presentation and branding.    An opportunity may exist to work closely with the Woodland Trust to develop an integrated approach across 

both sites given the proximity and opportunity to work together. 

 
6 It is recognised that the Council has invested in creating a short film which is being streamed in the cafe 

P
age 154

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  111 

 

 
PRECEDENT IMAGES 

 

  
 

Orientation map at Langley Park and signage at Silent Valley, Gwent Wildlife Trust 

 

 

 

P
age 155

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  112 

 

9.2.4 Play and adventure activities 

 
The play and activity experience…encouraging repeat visits, increasing dwell-time and providing opportunities for 

physical activity 

 

Actions Rationale Indicative 

cost 

Impact Priority Staff 

resource Visitor 

experience 

Financial 

Introduce play trail linking the 

visitor centre to the Woodland 

Trust land (the proposed 

bridge joining the two sites) 

• Encourage visitors to explore 

wider country park (rather than 

staying around the honey pot 

area) 

 

• Encourage visitors to explore 

Woodland Trust site  

 

• Increase dwelltime and 

potential for secondary spend 

 

££££££  H L H M 

Assault course challenge 

(longer term initiative to 

refresh offer) 

 

• Encourage repeat visits 

 

• Generate some corporate use 

££££££ H L L M 

P
age 156

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  113 

 

Explore opportunities to 

introduce seasonal pedalos 

and/or rowing boat hire on the 

main water body (will need to 

introduce pontoon and rescue 

boat) 

 

• Offers low cost option for 

visitors to get on the water 

 

• Broadens appeal of the Country 

Park 

 

• Direct income generator 

 

£££/££££ 

(excluding 

pontoon) 

M M H M 

Way marked routes for 

runners / walkers (potentially 

on a temporary basis) – linking 

routes of differing distances 

across Gnoll Estate Country 

Park and adjoining Woodland 

Trust site 

 

• Integrate both sites 

 

• Make site specifically more 

‘attractive’ to runners 

£ M L M L (work 

with Park 

Run and 

Woodland 

Trust) 

Refresh play (adjacent to 

woodland) by introducing new 

pieces of play equipment 

 

• Quick win, potentially 

deliverable prior to Whitsun 

half-term 

 

• Positive PR 

££££ M L H L 

 
 

 

 

 

P
age 157

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  114 

 

PRECEDENT IMAGES 

 

  
 

Start of play trail at Moors Valley and swan pedalos at Ferry Meadows 

 

 
  

P
age 158

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  115 

 

9.2.5 Events (including activities) 

 

Events 

 

Actions Rationale Indicative 

cost 

Impact Priority Staff 

resource Visitor 

experience 

Financial 

Introduction of major out of 

season Winter Wonderland 

experience (would require 

partner to take forward 

project) 

 

• Increase income (rental to 

Council and onsite spend) 

 

• Create a reason to visit Gnoll 

Estate Country Park during 

period of lower throughput 

(extends the season) 

 

• Engage with new audiences 

 

££  H M H M 

Summer outdoor cinema 

evening programme (would 

require partner to take 

forward project) 

 

• Extends onsite operating hours 

 

• Generates additional visitor 

spend 

 

• Engages with new 

audiences/create a new reason 

to visit 

££ H L/M H M 

P
age 159

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  116 

 

 

• Low risk to Council if 

partnership approach adopted 

 

Advertise opportunity to event 

organisers that small-scale 

events e.g. crafting and talks 

can be hosted within the 

visitor centre meeting room 

and other activities such as 

bushcrafts within the wider 

country park (the 

events/activities would be run 

by approved third parties) 

 

• Engage with new audiences 

(particularly outside of main 

season) 

 

• Income generation 

£ M L M L 

 
The above options may require an investment from the Council in terms of supporting infrastructure and there is a requirement to develop an 

events strategy. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

P
age 160

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  117 

 

PRECEDENT IMAGES 

 

   
 

Winter Wonderland at CONKERS (fenced site) – creating a new income stream at Gnoll Estate Country Park (in partnership) 

 

  

P
age 161

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  118 

 

9.2.6 Other initiatives 

 

Other initiatives  

 

Actions Rationale Indicative 

cost 

Impact Priority Staff 

resource Visitor 

experience 

Financial 

Introduce pre-booked bbq 

packages (purpose-built BBQs) 

 

• Increase revenue generation 

across the country park 

££ L L M L 

Introduction of additional 

seating to take advantage of 

key views across lower lake 

(route around the lake) 

 

• Improves accessibility  

 

• Encourages people to explore 

wider country park 

££ M L H L 

Dog agility course 

 

• Directly serves important and 

rowing dog owner market 

 

•  Creates good feature for 

regular PR and social media 

coverage 

 

 

££/£££ M L M L 

Office letting engage with 

Woodland Trust to enquire 

• Secures rental income £ L M H L 

P
age 162

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  119 

 

whether they require office 

space on the upper level of the 

visitor centre building.  But 

could impact on using lower 

level of secondary catering 

outlet (see 9.2.2 above)  

 

Maintenance of landscape 

character / features along with 

paths/trails and repair of some 

heritage structures 

• Improve visitor experience 

 

• Ensure all paths / trails are 

usable 

 

• Improve the condition for 

wildlife  

 

Unknown H L H H 

(recognise 

this would 

need 

additional 

staff 

resource) 

Consider a designated area for 

a Certificated Location (CL) for 

up to 5 touring units.  Requires 

secure area but only limited 

facilities as a minimum.   

• Complements proposals for 

camping pods 

£££ L M M M 

 

  

P
age 163

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  120 

 

PRECEDENT IMAGES 

 

   
Dog agility area within Queen Elizabeth Country Park 

 

 
Pre-booked bbq at Alice Holt (permanent bbq with picnic bench) 

 

P
age 164

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  121 

 

9.2.7 Marketing 

Marketing – without marketing, it will be difficult to attract additional visitors to Gnoll Estate Country Park (particularly 

important given potential investment to be made into accommodation base) 

 

Actions Rationale Indicative 

cost 

Impact Priority Staff 

resource Visitor 

experience 

Financial 

Initial annual programme of 

customer research, using online 

service such as SNAP to reduce 

the costs / staff resource 

 

• To understand the needs of 

customers 

 

• Identify new development 

opportunities 

 

• Track/monitor satisfaction 

levels 

 

Revenue 

cost if 

carried out 

internally 

NA NA H L 

Work with agency to develop 

annual marketing action plan 

(from Year 2 onwards update 

in-house) 

• Develop strategic approach to 

marketing and integrate within 

existing Tourism Team(?) 

 

• Raise awareness of this hidden 

‘gem’ 

 

££ NA NA H L (using 

agency in 

Year One.  

Then take 

in-house) 

P
age 165

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  122 

 

Employ part-time marketing 

officer (2 days a week to 

market the country park).  

Ensure that person has 

background in marketing of 

visitor attractions or similar 

 

Consider joint working with 

Margam Country Park (and / or 

other tourism assets) 

• Implement marketing action 

plan and to raise the profile of 

Gnoll Estate Country Park 

 

• Increase the number of visits 

from new users 

 

• Increase the number of repeat 

visits from existing visitors  

 

• Leading to increase income 

generation potential 

 

Revenue 

cost 

NA NA H H 

Introduce system to track 

annual visitor numbers 

• Develop accurate visitor data 

on number of visitors (help to 

evaluate offer and investment) 

 

   H L/M 

 

P
age 166

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


9.2.8  Resources 

 

it is recognised that the current operation is run on a very lean basis, Councils are being 

asked to do more with less.   With the current staffing structure there is limited capacity 

to take on new projects, both during the delivery phase and ongoing operational basis.  

This has also had an impact on the current visitor experience.  

 

During the consultation it was felt as a minimum the ranger team needed an additional 

permanent member of staff to work between April through to the end of September.   

The enhanced catering offer will also need additional staff (subject to business planning). 

 

A further consideration is to develop a strong, active and flexible volunteering group who 

are able to carry out specific physical tasks to support the Ranger team on a project-by-

project basis.   It is recognised that there is a financial and time resource commitment to 

develop, manage and train volunteers in specific skill sets.  A volunteer system would also 

reinforce links with the community.   A successful example to look at is Paxton Pits Nature 

Reserve managed by Huntingdonshire District Council. 

 

It will be important to explore partnership working opportunities with the Woodland 

Trust, particularly in terms of marketing and landscape management. 

 

 

Page 167



10.0  Concluding remarks 
Gnoll Estate Country Park incorporates a range of attractive landscape features from large 

water bodies through to a water cascade, open parkland and woodland.  The size of the 

country park and ‘zones’ (some of which feel ‘wild’) help to create a feeling of ‘getting away 

from it all’ in certain areas of the country park.    

 

Along with the natural heritage, there is a rich built heritage within the country park with 

the remains of Gnoll House, the Icehouse and Cellars (although the history almost feels 

hidden away).  

 

Visitor facilities include a large-scale visitor centre which incorporates a café, toilets and 

meeting space through to accessible and adventure play areas and an established 

programme of events and activities (some of which are delivered by a third party).    

 

The Woodland Trust’s plans for the adjacent farmland will add a positive dimension to Gnoll 

Estate Country Park and present future opportunities in terms of raising awareness of the 

country park through the national marketing reach of the Woodland Trust.  There is also the 

potential to generate additional income through Woodland Trust visitors who use the car 

park and café within the country park. 

 

The introduction of overnight visitor accommodation at Gnoll Estate Country Park 

represents a positive step to generate additional income from commercial activities.  

However, the return on investment is limited and it is not without its risks.    

 

The Council already lets holiday accommodation, a self-catering cottage at Margam Country 

Park, which may present opportunities for joint working, for example, marketing which 

could achieve some cost savings.   

 

The former depot site, within the Country Park, has been identified by the Council as the 

location where overnight visitor accommodation could be introduced.  With the 

introduction of a key coded gate the site becomes relatively secure and private.  The 

introduction of visitor accommodation here would not impact on the day to day offer 

experienced by general visitors to Gnoll Estate Country Park.  Importantly, the introduction 

of accommodation at this site would not visually intrude on the wider landscape of the 

country park.  The site is within walking distance of the café within the visitor centre. 

 

It is important to note that both Cwmcarn Forest and Dare Valley Country Park have and are 

continuing to invest in their visitor accommodation product.   If the Afan Adventure Resort 

project is taken forward this would change the market profile. 

 

A range of different self-catering accommodation options were identified and evaluated 

from touring caravans through to luxury lodges.   A scoring matrix was been used to help 

identify the preferred development scenario which centres around introducing a cluster of 

Page 168



 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  125 

 

twelve wooden pods as a first phase of development.  The individual pods would 

incorporate a shower / toilet and small kitchen facility (the pod market is moving to some 

degree away from the basic pod offer). 

 

We have applied cautious average overall year-round occupancy rates and tariff levels.     

The pod business has the potential to generate approximately £19,700 of profit (before 

EBITDA) in Year One, increasing to just under £25,000 in Year Three (this excludes the 

former Ranger’s Cottage).     

 

To reduce the risk to the Council, it is suggested that a number of the units are marketed 

and let by a third-party agency which specialises in this market place (high quality glamping 

accommodation).   Through existing marketing channels and brand awareness a third-party 

letting agency would have a greater market reach than Neath Port Talbot County Borough 

Council. 

 

As a second phase (and subject to demand) there is the potential to increase the number of 

pods from 12 to 24 to create a critical mass of units.   This would be tested as the project 

enters its operational period. 

 

When refurbished the former Ranger’s Cottage offers a strong opportunity to generate 

additional holiday lettings income.  The cottage has a unique location overlooking a major 

water feature and the historic link to the former estate creates a positive cachet to the 

marketable offer.   Initial discussions held between the Council and a high-quality self-

catering cottage operator indicates a potential annual revenue of £14,300 to £20,300 could 

be achieved.  However, the current refurbishment costs of circa £216,000 appear to be on 

the high-side and we believe it would be beneficial to confirm the costs via an independent 

QS who specialises in the refurbishment of cottages.   An alternative option would be to 

introduce a light touch refurbishment and let the cottage to a member of staff who would 

have a role in overseeing the onsite pod accommodation.   A further alternative would be a 

long-term leasehold tenure although this would impact on the visitor accommodation 

opportunity.  This would also generate a rent roll. 

 

Whilst the main focus of this study has been to assess the opportunity for visitor 

accommodation there are a number of ‘quick wins’ (and long-term initiatives) which could 

be introduced to enhance the wider visitor experience within the country park.  It should be 

recognised that the country park over the last five years, whilst facing budgetary challenges, 

have invested in enhancing this visitor experience.   The visitor experience action plan has 

been informed by a module of direct primary research, which generated some 818 

responses, along with consultation with Members, staff and other stakeholders (e.g. the 

Friends, Park Run etc). 

 

Page 169

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  126 

 

There are some unknowns around the forecast visitor numbers to the Woodland Trust’s 

project which could impact on the action plan. 

 

A range of interventions were identified.  These have themed using the following categories 

and set out in an action plan format.   

 

• Enhancing the sense of welcome and car parking 

• Catering 

• Interpretation 

• Play and adventure activities 

• Events (including activities) 

• Other initiatives 

• Marketing 

• Resources 

 

It is recognised that staff resources are being stretched at the moment which is threatening 

the quality of the visitor experience.  We believe this needs to be addressed as part of the 

visitor experience masterplan. 

 

A key initiative centred around improving the café experience and another key initiative is 

linked to introducing a part-time marketing post to raise awareness of the country park 

which to some degree remains a hidden or undiscovered ‘gem’. 

 

COVID-19 

 

Since this report has been commissioned, the COVID-19 pandemic has shut down the UK 

tourism marketplace, both in terms of domestic and overseas visitors.  Commentary is 

highlighting that some sectors within the domestic tourism industry are likely to benefit 

when people can start to travel again. 

 

At the time of reporting a number of leisure and recreation facilities remain closed. In the 

immediate term there is a need to focus on recovery planning for Gnoll Estate Country 

Park and in particular identifying the needs and intentions of visitors to ensure visitor 

numbers are maintained.  For example, what are visitors’ key concerns?  How will these 

concerns impact on the ‘offer’?   How will revenue generation be maximised once the 

country park reopens? 

 

As an outdoor attraction there are clear benefits in terms of being able to maintain social 

distance and breathe ‘clean air.’  Perhaps visitor numbers may increase as families are 

likely to be more wary about visiting an indoor attraction. 

 

Page 170

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  127 

 

Appendix One:  Costs to refurbish the former Ranger’s 

Cottage 
Prepared by the Council 

 

Page 171

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  128 

 

 

  

Page 172

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  129 

 

Appendix Two: Local Development Plan - Strategic 

Tourism Policies 
 

Strategic Policy SP13 Tourism Policy  

“The economic prosperity of Neath Port Talbot will be promoted through 

encouraging continued growth in the tourist sector by: 1. Encouraging high quality, 

sustainable tourism development; 2. Providing a flexible approach to the 

development and conversions to tourism facilities; 3. Resisting, where appropriate, 

proposals which would result in the loss of tourism facilities; 4. Supporting tourism 

proposals through the allocation of land for tourism development.”  

 

LDP Objective: OB 14  

“Tourism in Neath Port Talbot is a growing industry, providing a vital and valid 

contribution to the local economy. Over recent years, Neath Port Talbot has seen 

considerable investment in this industry, which has strengthened tourism 

infrastructure and increased and improved tourism facilities and services. This, in 

turn, has seen annual increases in the number of visitors to the area. The Council has 

a tourism action plan that recognises the contribution of this industry to the local 

economy and promotes future growth. The LDP supports this by taking a flexible 

approach to new tourism proposals and resisting where possible the loss of existing 

facilities.  

Policies will allow flexibility in the location of facilities and provide protection to 

existing facilities where appropriate. Whilst flexibility is applied, proposals will be 

required to demonstrate they are sustainable in terms of location, accessibility and 

do not have an adverse impact on the environment.”  

 

Policy TO1 Tourism Development in the Countryside  

“Tourism proposals outside of settlement limits will only be permitted where all of 

the following criteria are satisfied: 1. It is demonstrated that the proposal is viable 

and contributes towards the quality and economic sustainability of the tourism 

industry; 2. It is demonstrated that either the proposal requires a countryside 

location or it could not be accommodated within an existing settlement; 3. The 

proposal would not have an adverse impact upon the landscape, ecology, and 

cultural heritage and would not adversely impact upon the social, economic, 

environmental or residential amenity of the area; 4. The proposal does not create 

unacceptable levels of vehicular traffic, cause a detriment to highway safety and 

access can be provided by a range of transport modes.  

 

This policy offers flexibility in providing new, high quality tourism facilities outside of 

settlement limits in locations which would not normally be considered for 

development. Since a large concentration of tourism facilities are located within the 

Page 173

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  130 

 

valleys area, allowing development outside of settlement limits will provide scope 

for the tourism sector to grow and contribute to reinvigorating the valley 

communities.  

 

Proposals will be required to demonstrate that they are economically viable, will 

promote sustainable development and enhance economic growth in the tourism 

sector. The valley areas, with their rural setting have the potential to continue to 

build on the growing tourism industry and can integrate rural diversifcation into 

tourism schemes. Evidence required to accompany applications may include 

business plans and local data, including information on existing and projected visitor 

numbers for the area and an assessment of the position of the proposed 

development within the current tourism market.  

 

Certain proposals, by their very nature will require a countryside location and may 

include activities such as golf, fishing and mountain biking. Such activities will need 

to be designed in a manner to ensure the environmental impact is fully assessed and 

is minimised.”  

 

Policy TO2 Protection of Existing Tourism Facilities  

“Conversions or changes of use of tourism facilities to residential use will only be 

permitted where it is demonstrated that tourism or other employment generating 

uses are no longer viable.  

 

Tourism is vital to the local economy, particularly in some valley areas. In order to 

protect tourism facilities and minimise any loss of premises or detriment to the local 

economy, conversions to residential use will be resisted.  

 

Any proposal for the conversion or change of use of a tourism facility to residential 

use will need to demonstrate that tourism or employment uses are Neath Port 

Talbot County Borough Council Local Development Plan (2011-2026) Adopted 

January 2016 67 Section 5 Topic Based Policies no longer viable and that there is no 

potential for the premises to be so used. The type of evidence required will include 

details of why the premises is no longer suitable for tourism use, what other 

employment options have been considered and evidence to show that reasonable 

efforts have been made to market the premises for sale or lease for its existing use.”  

 

Policy TO3 Tourism Led Regeneration Scheme Policy  

“The following site is allocated for tourism led development: Reference Site TO3/1 

Rheola Estate, Glynneath  

 

Land is allocated for the re-development of an area of brownfeld land at the Rheola 

Estate, Glynneath. This tourism led development will comprise up to 100 units of 

Page 174

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  131 

 

holiday accommodation, up to 350 sqm retail premises and up to 1,000 sqm of 

leisure complex with associated access, footpaths, ecological improvements, 

landscaping, boundary treatments and services.  

 

The Rheola Estate, designated as a Historic Park and Garden, is situated within the 

heart of the Neath Valley and retains a rich historic heritage as an early 19th Century 

country estate. The site comprises the Grade II listed Rheola House set within a 

picturesque landscape and parkland together with the site of a former Aluminium 

Works. This brownfield part of the estate and associated areas are allocated for a 

sustainable tourism-led proposal which will secure the conservation and restoration 

of the historic estate.  

 

The re-development also provides the opportunity to allow public access to the 

estate for the local community and visitors and will help to further expand the 

growing tourism industry in the Neath Valley. The scheme will beneft the local 

economy and contribute to the development of the Strategic Growth Area of the 

Upper Neath Valley.” 

  

Page 175

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  132 

 

Appendix Three:  List of Consultees 
Carol Bowen – Café Supervisor 

 

Darren Chapple – Park Run Event Organiser 

 

Wayne Curtis – Principal Officer Country Parks and Cemeteries 

 

Alex Daniels – Park Ranger 

 

Karleigh Davies – Destination Management and Marketing Manager 

 

Maggie Elsey-Cox - Engagement & Communications Officer - South Wales, Woodland Trust 

 

Simone Holmes – Gnoll Fun Days Organiser 

 

Cllr Stephen Hunt – Local Member 

 

Andrew Jenkins – Friends of the Gnoll Treasurer 

 

Andrew Lewis – Waste and Neighbourhood Services Manager 

 

Cllr Alan Lockyer – Local Member 

 

Chris Max – Project Manager, Woodlands Trust  

 

Steffan Newton – Acting Managing Ranger 

 

Steve Rees – Park Ranger 

 

Cllr Sonia Reynolds – Local Member 

 

Nick Thomas – Senior Country Parks Officer 

 

Brian Warlow – Friends of the Gnoll Chair 

 

Caroline Wheeler – Friends of the Gnoll Member 

 

Cllr Annette Wingrave – Local Member 

  

Page 176

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  133 

 

Appendix Four: Calculating a drivetime contour using 

the Geometric Buffering Method 
 

The Geometric Buffering method is the standard method used.  

  

The start point of the drive/travel time rarely, if ever, coincides with any of the nodes 

(junctions) on the road network.  For drive times, InSite, by default, looks for the nearest 

two nodes to use as its starting points and calculates the time taken to reach them using a 

straight-line calculation and applying a ‘cross-country’ road speed.  

 

Barrier detection: 

A barrier file is included to restrict the use of start nodes that may be closer, but are across a 

river or estuary with no bridge to connect them.   It uses the lines in the barrier schema 

and/or the line of the clipping boundary – whichever is available. The intention is to check 

contours so that, in the cross-country “expansion” of the zones around junctions or roads, a 

barrier is not crossed. It is potentially quite ‘expensive’: it works by sampling radii around a 

junction, or perpendicular distances from sample points along a road, to see whether they 

intersect a barrier, and limit the distance accordingly if so.  

 

Calculating the DriveTime: 

From the start point(s) in the database, the application calculates the time at each node that 

can be accessed and continues in this way doing network searches, fanning out along each 

possible route, until the maximum time required has been reached. The time stored at each 

point is rounded to the nearest integer i.e. whole number. At this stage, polygon, or 

isochrone, generation takes place by effectively ‘joining the dots’ of all the maximum time 

locations.  

 

Many of these locations will be 1 or more minutes less than the maximum time, so a ‘cross-

country’ travel distance is calculated from these points until the time limit is reached and a 

contour is constructed from “circular” zones around each node, and “corridor” zones along 

each link (road) using a decelerating speed for a road network i.e. buffers of varying size are 

put around the nodes and links to represent the unused portion of the travel time. 

  

Page 177

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  134 

 

Appendix Five:  Gnoll Estate Country Park – local 

provision of accommodation providers 
 

Name 

 

Short description Number of 

units 

Distance 

from  

the site 

SA11 

3EF 

Postcode 

 

Additional 

note   

Forest lodge sites 

 

 

Cwmbach 

Cottages 

Woodland 

Lodges  

Fully equipped, high 

standard scenic 

woodland high 

standard lodges.   

 

3 lodges within 

the grounds  

2.8 miles  SA10 8AH  

Bryn 

Bettws 

Forest 

Lodge  

Bryn Bettws Lodge is 

located in Afan Forest 

in the South Wales 

Valleys, popular for 

outdoor activity 

holidays and group 

visits. The lodge is 

situated on a 

mountain, making it 

attractive for its 

scenic views.  

 

1 lodge, sleeps 

46 people.  

 

 

 

5.2 miles SA12 9SP This site also 

has 5 cabins, 

each sleep 5 

people. 

Afan Lodge  Afan Lodge is an 

award winning forest 

lodge 

accommodation 

within Afan Forest 

Park. It is also the 

base camp for a 

variety of adventure 

sporting activities. 

 

1 lodge, 2 

bedrooms  

11.1 miles  SA13 3ES  

The Lodge 

Craig Cefn 

Parc 

Lodge located in Craig 

Cefn Parc. 3 

bedrooms, 2 

bathrooms and 

private garden and 

1 lodge, 3 

bedrooms, 

sleeps 7  

8.6 miles  SA6 5SZ  

Page 178

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  135 

 

scenic views of miles 

of open country side 

from inside the lodge. 

L&A 

Outdoor 

Centre  

Scenic forest lodge 

cabin, offers catered 

or self-catered 

accommodation for 

groups up to 268 

people. 

Accommodation 

includes swimming 

pool, meeting rooms 

and BBQ area and fire 

pits. Over 50 acres of 

woodland 

surrounding including 

play area.  

 

16 log cabins 

with 124 cabin 

beds and 5 

bunkhouses 

with 142 bed 

spaces. 

 

 

10.5 miles  SA13 2YP Cabins and 

bunkhouses 

also 

available.  

Osprey 

Studios 

Cabin 

Small private cabin 

with a shower room 

in the garden and 

overlooking views of 

the Brecon Beacons 

National Park. A mix 

of pubs within 

walking distance from 

the cabin.  

1 cabin, sleeps 

2.  

19.9 miles  SA9 1YP  

The Roost 

Merthyr 

Tydfil 

The site has 4 cabins, 

overlooking the 

valley, each with 

bunkbeds sleeping 

two adults and two 

children. Each cabin 

contains a porch area 

for bike storage and 

are close by to the 

shared kitchen and 

shower rooms. The 

site is located in 

Troedyrhiw, in the 

heart of the Welsh 

Valleys with the 

Brecon Beacons 

National Park close 

by.  

4 cabins, each 

sleep 4 people.  

27.9 miles  CF48 4HH The site also 

has four 

campervan 

pitches for 

small to 

medium 

vans. Each 

pitch has an 

electric hook 

up and 

visitors have 

access of the 

shared 

facilities. 

Page 179

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  136 

 

 Cabin 

Gwynfa nr  

Cabin Gwynfa nr is 

one of 4 cabins within 

the Roost Merthyr 

Tydfil site. The cabins 

are minutes away 

from Bike Park Wales, 

on the edge of the 

Brecon Beacons 

National Park.   

4 cabins at 

Roost Merthyr 

Tydfil with 

shared shower 

rooms, kitchen 

facilities, 

parking and 

wifi.  

1 cabin has 1 

bedroom, 

sleeps 2 

guests.  

27.3 miles  CF48 4DU Site also has 

campervan 

pitches  

Camping sites 
 

 

TY Canol 

Farm 

Campsite  

Idyllic camp site 

located on a family 

fun farm. Close 

proximity to many 

natural attractions 

including a beach, 

river, park and 

mountain biking 

trails. Facilities 

include 2 shower 

rooms and toilet 

facilities.  

 

Booking only, 1 

large campsite.  

2.7 miles  SA10 7EY This site also 

has 5 

available 

pitches for 

touring 

caravans or 

motorhomes.  

Lone Wolf 

Campsite  

Lone Wolf Campsite 

is 20 acres of 

privately-owned 

woodland, shower 

and toilet facilities on 

site. Known for being 

a quiet rural 

campsite.  

 

booking only but 

tents can be 

pitched 

anywhere within 

the woodland.  

4.4 miles  SA10 8HF  

Tir Abbey 

Farm 

Campsite  

The camp site is 

located on a small 

farm with scenic 

views of the 

surrounding towns. 

Facilities include 1 

shower and toilet 

facilities.  

 

Booking only, 1 

large campsite  

7.7 miles SA8 3JA  

Page 180

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  137 

 

Afan Forest 

Park 

(Visitor 

Centre) 

Showers and visitor 

centre / café. 

Unknown 6.4 miles SA13 3HG It is 

interesting to 

note a 

comment on 

the website 

“Due to 

popularity it 

is necessary 

to book up to 

4 weeks in 

advance 

during school 

and bank 

holidays.” 

Riverside 

Holiday 

Park  

Holiday Park, facilities 

include a bar, indoor 

pool, jacuzzi, outdoor 

play area and chip 

shop.  

10 tent pitches  7.7 miles  SA6 6QL The park also 

includes 50 

touring 

caravan 

pitches. 

Silver Cross 

Camp Site  

Silver Cross camp site 

is made up of 15 

acres of woodland 

and is bordered by 

the River Llan. The 

camping site has 

been a scout site 

since the 1950’s and 

is popular for survival 

training, group 

activities and youth 

groups.  

 

15 acres of 

woodland 

available for 

tents.  

10.9 miles  SA5 7LQ  

Willow 

Springs 

Campsite  

Willow Springs is a 

family run, eco-

friendly campsite 

with a beach, 

mountain areas and 

forest areas close by.  

10 pitches  

 

 

11.9 miles  SA13 3DD Also 

available on 

site is a 

shepherd’s 

hut. 

Glyncorrwg 

Ponds 

Mountain biking 

centre with a national 

reputation.  

Supporting 

infrastructure 

includes a visitor 

centre, showers and 

toilets 

30 pitches 

(caravans) and 

60 pitches 

(camping) 

11.1 miles SA13 3EA  

Page 181

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  138 

 

Touring caravan parks 
 

 

TY Canol 

Farm  

Idyllic camp site 

located on a family 

run farm. Close 

proximity to many 

natural attractions 

including a beach, 

river, park and 

mountain biking 

trails.   

 

Can only 

accommodate up 

to 5 caravans or 

motorhomes at a 

time  

2.7 miles SA10 7EY This site also 

has available 

pitches for 

tents.  

Riverside 

Holiday 

Park 

Holiday Park with 

well-kept caravans to 

hire. Facilities include 

a bar, indoor pool, 

Jacuzzi, outdoor play 

area and chip shop.  

 

50 touring 

caravan pitches  

 

 

7.7 miles SA6 6QL This holiday 

park also has 

10 available 

pitches for 

tents. 

Glyncorrwg 

Ponds 

Mountain biking 

centre with a national 

reputation.  

Supporting 

infrastructure 

includes a visitor 

centre, showers and 

toilets 

30 pitches 

(caravans) and 

60 pitches 

(camping) 

11.1 miles SA13 3EA  

Static caravan parks 
 

 

Caerau Park  Caerau is a small 

static caravan park 

containing 50 pitches, 

located within rural 

countryside and 

mountains.  

 

1 caravan park, 

50 pitches.  

10.1 miles  CF34 DYN  

Luxury self-catering cottages 
 

 

Gellifelgaws 

Farm, 

Bwthyn 

Felgaws 

Luxury, spacious 

cottage, decorated 

and furnished to high 

quality. Ensuite 

bathroom and 

shower room on 

ground floor. Large 

1 cottage, 2 

Bedrooms (Super 

king and twin 

room)  

3.8 miles  SA10 7DX  

Page 182

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  139 

 

kitchen and very 

spacious living room.  

 

Cilhendre 

Fawr Farm 

Cottages 

4-star self-catered 

luxury cottages, 

converted from a 

barn and are located 

within 49 acres of 

farmland.  

 

3 cottages, all 

sleep 6 people  

5 miles  SA8 3HY  

Crynant 

Cottages 

Crynant cottages 

consist of three 5-star 

cottages, converted 

from a traditional 

stone barn and are 

fully equipped with 

luxury furnishings. 

 

3 cottages, all 

sleep 7 people.  

6.6 miles  SA10 8SF  

Nant 

cottage 

Self-catered luxury 

holiday cottage. Fully 

equipped with 

private garden and 

river views. Hiking 

trails close by.  

 

1 cottage, 3 

bedrooms  

7.3 miles  SA8 4PS  

Ivy Cottage  Luxury self-catered 

holiday cottage 

located around acres 

of countryside and 

parkland. 

Rennervated at high 

standard with private 

gardens.  

 

1 cottage, 3 

bedrooms 

11.9 miles  SA13 2TA  

Abergwynfi 

Cottage 

3 bedroom self-

catering holiday 

cottage. Renovated 

to high standard. 

Ideal for guests 

looking to partake in 

outdoor activities.  

3 bedrooms (1 

family room, one 

twin room and 

one single 

room). Sleeps up 

to 6 people.   

11.9 miles SA13 3YW  

The Afan 

Forest 

apartment 

Family self-catered 

apartment designed 

for bikers and 

walkers. Site features 

Two bedrooms 

each containing 

single beds that 

can be pushed 

4.5 miles  SA12 9YE  

Page 183

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  140 

 

a bike wash area, kit 

lockup and hot tub. 

Pets welcome. 

Located within the 

Afan Forest.  

together. Sleeps 

4-6 people. 

Living room with 

pull-out bed 

sleeping 2 

people.  

Swansea 

Valley 

Holiday 

Cottages  

Award winning 5-star 

self-catering holiday 

cottages located on 

the historic Plas 

Cilybebyll Estate, 

between Brecon 

Beacons National 

Park and Gower 

Peninsula. Guests 

can enjoy over a 

hundred acres of 

private countryside 

and some cottages 

are dog friendly. 

Described as an ideal 

location for walkers 

and mounting biking 

activities. Wheelchair 

accessible and each 

cottage has a well-

equipped kitchen, 

parking outside, free 

Wi-Fi and laundry 

facilities.  

Total of 6 

Swansea Valley 

Holiday 

Cottages: 

- Ty Cerbyd 

(Sleeps 4) 

- Bwthyn y Saer 

(Sleeps 4) 

- Lloc Llo (Sleeps 

4) 

- Y Stabl (Sleeps 

4) 

- Ty Gambo 

(Sleeps 6) 

- Hafod Y 

Wennol (Sleeps 

4) 

 

6.6 miles  SA8 3JQ  

Tan-Yr-

Eglwys 

Cottages 

Tan yr Eglwys 

Cottages are 2 

semidetached stone 

holiday cottages in 

Cilybebyll, located in 

the quiet countryside 

near Pontardawe. 4* 

luxurious cottages, 

furnished to a high 

standard. well 

equipped kitchen, 

LCD television, log 

burner, luxurious 

beds, Spacious dining 

area, Wi-Fi and a 

large selection of 

2 luxury 

cottages: 

-The Barn 

Cottage (sleeps 

6) 

-The Farm 

Cottage (sleeps 

4/5) 

6 miles  SA8 3JR  

Page 184

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  141 

 

baby / children’s 

equipment.  

Bwthyn 

Felgaws  

Luxury Cottage with 

good quality 

furnishings.  

Sleeps 4 or 6 

with the Den 

plus cot. Two 

bedrooms (super 

king bed and a 

twin). 

   

Lothlorien 

Cottage 

4-star luxury holiday 

cottage, self-catered, 

3 bedrooms, fully 

equipped kitchen. 

Bike shed and garden 

with BBQ area. Wi-Fi 

included and pet 

friendly. 

3 bedrooms 

sleeps 5 adults 

and a max of 6 

with the addition 

of guest bed. 

Baby cot 

available.  

11.8 miles  SA18 1PT  

Meadow 

View 

4-star luxury holiday 

cottage, self-catered. 

Located adjacent to 

the Brecon Beacons. 

Car parking garage 

and tv included. Fully 

equipped kitchen and 

garden area with 

patio.  

1 bungalow 

cottage. 1 

double, 1 single 

bed with pull out 

bed to make 

small twin 

bedroom.  

13 miles  SA11 5LN  

Rose 

Cottage 

4-star detached 

stoned cottage. Fully 

equipped kitchen and 

Garden. Located with 

patio on the edge of 

the Brecon Beacons 

with plenty of 

outdoor activities 

available. Electricity 

included. No pets 

allowed.  

1 cottage, 3 

bedrooms, 

sleeps 4. 

14.6 miles  SA9 2FL  

Glamping sites 
 

 

Willow 

Springs 

Camp Site 

Glamping huts in a 

quiet location in 

South Wales. Situated 

next to the Afan 

forest with access to 

a variety of outdoor 

activities. 

1 Shepheard’s 

hut – sleeps up 

to 4 people  

 

2 camping huts – 

sleeps up to 6 

people   

10.2 miles SA13 3DD  

Page 185

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  142 

 

Mountain 

View 

Glamping  

Luxury glamping pod, 

1 bedroom, 1 

bathroom, 

overlooking the Black 

Mountains at the 

Southern tip of the 

Brecon Beacons 

National Park. 

Located on a working 

hill farm, with 

marked walking trails 

starting from right 

outside the pod. 

Includes outdoor 

heated hot tub 

overlooking the 

mountains.  

1 glamping pod, I 

bedroom, sleeps 

2 people.   

11.9 miles  SA9 2QH  

Gelli Hir 

Pods on the 

Lakes  

The pod is located in 

a rural area 

overlooking 2 lakes. 

Cabin includes basic 

kitchen equipment 

and lighting over a 

balcony with scenic 

views of the lake. 

Water and toilet is 

located next to the 

pod.  

1 cabin, sleeps 

4. 1 bed and 1 

sofa bed.  

17.4 miles  SA4 3PR   

Y Glyd, 

Glamping 

at 68° West 

Luxurious glamping 

pods with jacuzzi, log 

burner, shower room, 

BBQ and large 

decking area with 

table and chairs. 

Scenic views of the 

Brecon Beacons 

National Park. 

2 pods, both 

sleep 5 people  

38.4 miles  LD3 9LP  

Luxury self-catering lodges 

 
Cedar 

Lodge 

Rural luxury log 

cabin, 3 bedrooms, 1 

hot tub and located 

in open countryside. 

Driving distance to 

1 lodge, 3 beds 3.8 miles SA10 7DX  

Page 186

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  143 

 

Brecon Beacons 

National Park. 

 

Pine Lodge  A semi-detached 

Canadian lodge in the 

owner’s grounds. 

Pine Lodge has an 

open plan living room 

with French doors to 

the decking area, 

leather settees, 

dining table and 

chairs, and fitted 

kitchen area including 

fridge/freezer, 

dishwasher & 

w/machine. Shower 

room with large walk 

in shower and 

underfloor heating. 

TV, DVD, electric 

heating/aircon. Deck 

with garden furniture 

and large lawns to 

front, Parking 

available.  

1 lodge, 3 

bedrooms, 

sleeps 5 plus 

baby’s cot.  

 

2 ground floor 

bedrooms (king-

size and twin) 

and a single 

upstairs.  

1.9 miles  SA11 3RL  

Cwmbach 

Guest 

House & 

Cottages 

Self-catering lodges, 

lots of walking, 

cycling and 

cannoning activities 

nearby available.  

3 self-catering 

lodges capable of 

accommodating 

2 to 6 people 

2.8 miles SA10 8AH  

 

  

Page 187

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


 
 

www.pslplan.co.uk  144 

 

Appendix Six:  Forest and country park sites (within 10 

miles) 
Name 

 

Short description Main facilities  Activities  Distance 

from  site 
Craig 

Gwladys 

Country Park  

Country park and nature reserve 

in the Vale of Neath. The steep 

hillside layout of the park was 

formed by glacial ice during the 

ice age, creating an unusual 

landscape.   

-Free parking 

-Bicycle parking 

 

-Scenic walking 

trails  

-Scenic picnic 

areas  

3.3 miles  

Afan Forest 

Park  

Afan Forest Park is 48 square mile 

forest located in the Afan Valley in 

Neath, popular for outdoor 

activities, including mountain 

biking, wildlife and a forest safari 

offers a unique way to explore the 

forest.   There are also two visitor 

centres and a camping offer. 

-Visitor centre 

-Mountain bike 

centre 

-Toilets 

 

-Mountain 

biking  

-Walking trails 

-Cycling  

-Afan forest 

safaris  

-Clay pigeon 

shooting 

-Quad biking  

-Paint balling  

 

6.6 miles  

Penllergare 

Valley 

Woods 

Penllergare Valley Woods is 

known for its waterfalls, terraces, 

panoramic views and exotic 

nature. The site has received 

considerable Lottery Funding. 

 

 

-Car park 

-Visitor centre 

-Woodland café 

with free wifi  

-Toilets  

-Waterfall trail 

- Woodland 

walking trail   

10.1 miles  

 

 

Page 188

http://www.pslplan.co.uk/


SwanseaSwansea  

NeathNeath  

Port TalbotPort Talbot  

Gnoll CountryGnoll Country  

ParkPark  
Brynnau Farm & Brynnau Farm & 

PreswylfaPreswylfa  

Artists Impression 

Appendix 1.0Appendix 1.0  

New Woodland Location PlanNew Woodland Location Plan  

P
age 189



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Impact Assessment - First Stage

It is essential that all initiatives undergo a first stage impact assessment to identify relevance to equalities and the Welsh language 
as well as an evaluation of how the proposal has taken into account the sustainable development principle (the five ways of 
working); an incorrect assessment could ultimately be open to legal challenge.
The first stage is to carry out a short assessment to help determine the need to undertake a more in-depth analysis (the second 
stage).   

Relevance will depend not only on the number of people/service users affected, but also the significance of the effect on them.

When completing the first step you must have regard to the following: 

 Does the initiative relate to an area where important equality issues have been, or are likely to be, raised? (For example, 
funding for services to assist people who are victims of rape/sexual violence or individuals with particular care need; disabled 
people's access to public transport; the gender pay gap; racist or homophobic bullying in schools)

 Is there a significant potential for reducing inequalities, or improving outcomes? (For example, increasing recruitment 
opportunities for disabled people). 

 Does the initiative relate to instances where opportunities to use the Welsh language are likely to be affected or where the 
language is likely to be treated less favourably? (For example, increase the number of Welsh speakers moving from/to a 
certain area; closing specific Welsh language services or put those services at risk services;  

 Does the initiative relate to the improvement of economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being? To what extent 
does the initiative prevent things getting worse? (For example, funding for services to assist in cultural well-being;  changes 
in polices that promote independence and/or assist carers)

1. Provide a description and summary of the initiative. 
Identify which service area and directorate has responsibility for the initiative.
 

2. Identify who will be affected by the initiative. 
If you answer Yes to service users, staff or wider community continue with the first stage of the assessment  
If you answer No to service users, staff or wider community or Yes to ‘Internal administrative process only’, go to Question 5 – 
sustainable development principle.  

3. Using relevant and appropriate information and data that is available to you think about what impact there could be on people who 
share protected characteristics; whether they are service users, staff or the wider community.

P
age 191



2

Some things to consider include: 

 transport issues 
 accessibility 
 customer service
 cultural sensitivity
 financial implications  
 loss of jobs  

Definitions of impacts (either positive or negative): 

 High – likely to be highly affected by the initiative  
 Medium - likely to be affected in some way 
 Low - likely to be affected by the initiative in a small way
 Don’t know - the potential impact is unknown

You must provide reasons, and indicate what evidence you used, in coming to your decision. 

4. Using relevant and appropriate information and data that is available, think about what impact there could be on opportunities to 
use the Welsh language and in treating the language no less favourably than English. 
Definitions of impacts are the same as in Question 3.
The classification ‘Don’t Know’ should be categorised as ‘High Impact’ in both questions 3 & 4.

 
5. Consider how the initiative has embraced the sustainable development principle in accordance with the Section 7c of the Well-

being of Future Generations Act 2015.

Give details of the initiative in relation to the 5 ways of working:

 Long term - how the initiative supports the long term well-being of people 
 Integration -  how the initiative impacts upon our wellbeing objectives 
 Involvement -  how people have been involved in developing the initiative 
 Collaboration - how we have worked with other services/organisations to find shared sustainable solutions; 
 Prevention -  how the initiative will prevent problems occurring or getting worse 

P
age 192



3

6. The most appropriate statement must be selected (and the relevant box ticked) based on the first stage of the assessment and an 
explanation of how you have arrived at this decision must be given. 

In addition a summary of the how the initiative has embraced the sustainable development principle must also be included. 

Where the first stage of the assessment indicates that a more in-depth analysis is required the second stage of the assessment will 
need to be completed and this will need to be started immediately. 

A first stage assessment must be included as a background paper for all Cabinet/Cabinet Board/ Scrutiny Committee Reports.

Where the first stage assessment is completed by an accountable manager it must be signed off by a Head of Service/Director. 

 

 
 

P
age 193



4

Impact Assessment - First Stage 

1. Details of the initiative 

Initiative description and summary: The Gnoll Estate Country Park Masterplan includes recommendations for the 
development of visitor accommodation and a visitor experience action plan. Further to this the report sets 
summarises the neighbouring Woodland Trust development and seeks approval to negotiate the terms of 
an access agreement.
The proposed physical works onsite this financial year would include;

o Signage at entrance points and pay points explaining how car parking costs are reinvested into 
the park.

o Interpretation panels throughout the park 
o Construction of BBQ points.
o Install additional seating/picnic benches 
o Enhance/create walking routes by installing way markers and producing electronic PDFs of the 

walks so that they can be downloaded from the Gnoll Country Park website. As part of this 
Officers would also seek to create a designated running trail.

o Rebrand of Café to include a revised (locally/ Welsh relevant) menu and enhance overall quality 
by installing new signage and branded clothing for staff.  

o Consider additional playground equipment within the adventure playground.

Service Area:   Streetcare

Directorate: Environment

2. Does the initiative affect:  
Yes No

Service users x

P
age 194



5

Staff x
Wider community x
Internal administrative process only x

3. Does the initiative impact on people because of their: 

Yes No None/ 
Negligible

Don’t 
Know

Impact 
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including evidence)/How 
might it impact?

Age x The proposals will have no impact
Disability x M The range of proposals will include provision for 

ensuring accessibility. For example signage will be 
installed at an appropriate height and in an easy to read 
format, access paths will be accessible and new/ 
existing waymarked walks will include provision for a 
range of abilities.

The Gnoll Visitor Centre and grounds are already 
accessible via wheelchair and pushchair friendly 
pathways.

Gender Reassignment x The proposals will have no impact
Marriage/Civil Partnership x The proposals will have no impact
Pregnancy/Maternity x The proposals will have no impact
Race x The proposals will have no impact
Religion/Belief x The proposals will have no impact
Sex x The proposals will have no impact
Sexual orientation x The proposals will have no impact

P
age 195



6

4. Does the initiative impact on:

Yes No None/
Negligible

Don’t 
know

Impact 
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including evidence used) / 
How might it impact?

People’s opportunities 
to use the Welsh 
language 

x L The proposals will have no impact, all signage will be 
produced bilingually as standard.

Treating the Welsh 
language no less 
favourably than English 

x L The proposals will have no impact, all signage will be 
produced bilingually as standard.

5. Does the initiative impact on biodiversity:

Yes No None/ 
Negligible

Don’t 
know

Impact 
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including evidence) / 
How might it impact?

To maintain and 
enhance biodiversity x

M The conservation and enhancement of biodiversity at Gnoll 
Estate Country Park is identified as a priority by respondents 
to the online survey, actions will be included within the visitor 
experience action plan which address this.

The Woodland Trust plans to plant woodland onsite via the 
Welsh Government’s Plant! Scheme.  

To promote the 
resilience of 
ecosystems, i.e. 
supporting protection of 
the wider environment, 

x

M Officers in the Highways and Drainage sections are working 
with the Woodland Trust in relation to Natural Flood 
Management options at the Brynau and Preswylfa sites.

P
age 196



7

such as air quality, flood 
alleviation, etc. 

6. Does the initiative embrace the sustainable development principle (5 ways of working):

Yes No Details

Long term - how the initiative 
supports the long term well-being of 
people 

x The package of proposals enhance the facilities on offer at Gnoll Estate 
Country Park and the neighbouring proposals by the Woodland Trust open 
up an additional 235 acres for the local community and visitors to use for 
outdoor recreation.

Integration -  how the initiative 
impacts upon our wellbeing 
objectives 

x The proposals will enhance opportunities to take part in outdoor activities in 
particular. The proposed accommodation offer will encourage a greater 
economic contribution from tourism within the local community.

Involvement -  how people have 
been involved in developing the 
initiative 

x Consultation exercises were undertaken via workshops (with Members and 
stakeholders such as The Friends of Gnoll Country Park) and an online 
survey which generated 818 responses from current users of the park. The 
results of this consultation have fed into the findings of the Masterplan.

Collaboration - how we have worked 
with other services/organisations to 
find shared sustainable solutions

x Officers from within the Environment Directorate (Street Care/ Tourism/ 
Estates) have collaborated to deliver the Masterplan.  The consultation 
exercises ensured that the local community and stakeholders were able to 
contribute to the plan.  Officers have worked closely with The Woodland 
Trust as their proposals have developed.

Prevention -  how the initiative will 
prevent problems occurring or getting 
worse 

x The investments will enhance existing facilities, attracting investment and 
increasing the revenue generated for reinvestment in Gnoll Estate Country 
Park.

P
age 197



8

7. Declaration - based on above assessment (tick as appropriate):

A full impact assessment (second stage) is not required x

Reasons for this conclusion   

The proposals will not have any adverse impact on people with protected characteristics.  The overall project has a positive 
impact on wellbeing objectives, biodiversity and sustainable development principles. 

A full impact assessment (second stage) is required 

Reasons for this conclusion   

Name Position Signature Date

Completed by
Karleigh Davies
Wayne Curtis

Tourism Manager
Principal Officer, Parks & 
Cemeteries

18/11/20

P
age 198



9

Signed off by Michael Roberts Head of Streetcare 18/11/20

P
age 199



T
his page is intentionally left blank



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Cabinet

25th November 2020

 Report of the Head of Property and Regeneration 
 S. Brennan 

Matter for Decision

Neath Business Improvement District Re Ballot

Wards Affected

Neath North 

Purpose of the Report

To inform members of the intention of Neath Inspired (BID) to take a re 
ballot for another 5 year term in Neath Town Centre and to seek 
approval for the Council to act as ballot holder for the proposed ballot.

Background

A BID is a mechanism that has been recognised as being successful in 
bringing local businesses and other stakeholders together with the aim 
of improving their trading environment and enhancing their profitability.  
It works within a defined area where businesses in that area are required 
to pay a levy in order to fund improvements, projects etc. for the benefit 
of those businesses.

In 2016 a Business Improvement District was formed in Neath Town 
Centre as result of a positive ballot and will come to the end of their term 
at the end of March 2021.  The BID term was 5 years and is now going 
to re ballot for a further 5 year term.  (1st April 2021-2026)

During the past term Neath Inspired has been the voice for businesses 
in the town centre and has provided a link between local business, town 
centre users, partners and the authority.  They have provided training, 
information, grants to improve shop fronts as well as supporting the town 
council with funding that has contributed to the appearance of the town 

Page 201

Agenda Item 4



e.g. hanging baskets, bunting and Christmas lights.  In addition to this 
they have provided free parking (free on 3 after 3 and during events) to 
improve footfall and attract visitors into the town centre.  Neath Inspired 
have also supported events including NPT Neath Food and Drink 
Festival as well as running a number of their own, The Neath Music 
Festival, Halloween Event etc.

The support provided to assist Neath town centre is a result of 
consultations to determine what improvements businesses would like in 
their town over and above what the local authority is able to provide. The 
new term and business plan for the next phase, if successful, will be 
determined in the same way through consultation with levy payers. 

During these difficult times it will be even more beneficial for a BID to 
contribute to the recovery of Neath town centre post COVID. 
 
Business Consultation

During the previous two months Neath Inspired has been consulting with 
businesses within the area to inform them of the current situation and to
determine what improvements for the next term would be beneficial.  A 
business perception questionnaire has been carried out to determine 
what businesses would like to be addressed and what improvements 
they would wish see.  This information will be utilised to form their next 
five year proposal that will be made available to all businesses within the 
BID area prior to the ballot.

The consultation was carried out with over 50% of levy payers, from 
which 87 of the 125 consulted with returned their questionnaires.  The 
results from the questionnaire showed that 72% were in favour of the 
BID continuing, 10% were not in favour and 13% had not yet decided.  A 
further 5% failed to comment on that particular question. 

BID Levy

Neath Inspired set their levy at 1.25% for their 5 year term and propose 
to increase the levy for the following term to 1.5%. This decision was 
made in order to generate a similar income as the previous term in order 
for the BID to operate effectively.  If the levy was to remain at the current 
rate then the income would be greatly reduced due to the decrease in 
business rates on which the levy is calculated.  
Expected levy collection 
£100k pa 2016 - 2021

Page 202



£85k pa  2021 -2026

Due to the current COVID situation Neath Inspired made a decision in 
March not to collect the BID levy as they recognised the importance of 
supporting businesses through this difficult time and made the payment 
voluntary.  The levy will be compulsory from April if the ballot produces a 
positive outcome.

Financial Appraisal

The financial impact upon the authority will be the costs incurred as a 
result of holding the ballot at approximately £2k.  These costs will be 
retrieved under Regulation 10 of Business Improvement Districts 
(Wales) 2005 Regulations if unsuccessful or fail to meet the criteria and 
this has been confirmed with Neath Inspired.

Post ballot, if successful, NPTCBC will be required to pay the BID levy 
for all properties they are responsible for in the BID area.

Integrated Impact Assessment

Integrated Impact Screening Assessment complete no requirement to 
make a full assessment.

Valleys Communities Impact

There are no valley community impacts associated with this report.

Workforce Impact

NPTCBC will act as ballot holder for the purpose of re ballot as per 
regulations.

Legal Impact

The Council as ballot holder will need to comply with Business 
Improvement District (Wales) Regulations 2005. 

Risk Management

There is no requirement under the Constitution for external consultation 
at this time.

Page 203



Recommendations

It is recommended that the re ballot for Neath BID is supported by the 
Council to aid the recovery of town centres and that the Council be 
authorised to act as ballot holder for the purpose of the re ballot .  

Reason for Proposed Decision

Neath BID has been supported over the past 5 year term and has 
improved the town centre, as a result a BID in Port Talbot was supported 
by NPTCBC in 2019.  Neath BID is approaching the end of its term 
(March 21) and is keen to continue.  

Implementation of Decision

The decision is proposed for the 3 day call in period.

List of Background Papers

N/A

Appendices

Bid Area – Appendix 1
Integrated Impact Assessment – Appendix 2

Officer Contact

Jo Hillier-Raikes
NPTCBC Town Centres Manager
j.hillier@npt.go.uk

Page 204



Appendix 1

BID area

Alfred Street, Angel Place, Angel Street, Castle Street, Cattle Street, Charlesville 
Place, Church Place, Croft Road, Fairfield Way, Gnoll Park Road, Green Street, 
High Street, New Street, Old Market Street, Orchard Street, Prince of Wales Drive, 
Queen Street, Queen Street Back Road, St David’s Street, Station Square, The 
Parade, Victoria Gardens, Water Street, Wind Street and Windsor Road.

Time Lines

Draft Business Plan Nov 2020
Intensive BID Campaign Sept 2020 – Feb 2021
Ballot Period 10th Dec 2020 – 4th Feb 2021
Ballot Result Announcement 5th Feb 2021
Billing Period 1st April 2021 – 31st Mar 2026
New BID term commences 1st April 2021

Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Impact Assessment - First Stage

It is essential that all initiatives undergo a first stage impact assessment to identify relevance to equalities and the Welsh language 
as well as an evaluation of how the proposal has taken into account the sustainable development principle (the five ways of 
working); an incorrect assessment could ultimately be open to legal challenge.
The first stage is to carry out a short assessment to help determine the need to undertake a more in-depth analysis (the second 
stage).   

Relevance will depend not only on the number of people/service users affected, but also the significance of the effect on them.

When completing the first step you must have regard to the following: 

 Does the initiative relate to an area where important equality issues have been, or are likely to be, raised? (For example, 
funding for services to assist people who are victims of rape/sexual violence or individuals with particular care need; disabled 
people's access to public transport; the gender pay gap; racist or homophobic bullying in schools)

 Is there a significant potential for reducing inequalities, or improving outcomes? (For example, increasing recruitment 
opportunities for disabled people). 

 Does the initiative relate to instances where opportunities to use the Welsh language are likely to be affected or where the 
language is likely to be treated less favourably? (For example, increase the number of Welsh speakers moving from/to a 
certain area; closing specific Welsh language services or put those services at risk services;  

 Does the initiative relate to the improvement of economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being? To what extent 
does the initiative prevent things getting worse? (For example, funding for services to assist in cultural well-being;  changes 
in polices that promote independence and/or assist carers)

1. Provide a description and summary of the initiative. 
Identify which service area and directorate has responsibility for the initiative.
 

2. Identify who will be affected by the initiative. 
If you answer Yes to service users, staff or wider community continue with the first stage of the assessment  
If you answer No to service users, staff or wider community or Yes to ‘Internal administrative process only’, go to Question 5 – 
sustainable development principle.  

3. Using relevant and appropriate information and data that is available to you think about what impact there could be on people who 
share protected characteristics; whether they are service users, staff or the wider community.

P
age 207



2

Some things to consider include: 

 transport issues 
 accessibility 
 customer service
 cultural sensitivity
 financial implications  
 loss of jobs  

Definitions of impacts (either positive or negative): 

 High – likely to be highly affected by the initiative  
 Medium - likely to be affected in some way 
 Low - likely to be affected by the initiative in a small way
 Don’t know - the potential impact is unknown

You must provide reasons, and indicate what evidence you used, in coming to your decision. 

4. Using relevant and appropriate information and data that is available, think about what impact there could be on opportunities to 
use the Welsh language and in treating the language no less favourably than English. 
Definitions of impacts are the same as in Question 3.
The classification ‘Don’t Know’ should be categorised as ‘High Impact’ in both questions 3 & 4.

 
5. Consider how the initiative has embraced the sustainable development principle in accordance with the Section 7c of the Well-

being of Future Generations Act 2015.

Give details of the initiative in relation to the 5 ways of working:

 Long term - how the initiative supports the long term well-being of people 
 Integration -  how the initiative impacts upon our wellbeing objectives 
 Involvement -  how people have been involved in developing the initiative 
 Collaboration - how we have worked with other services/organisations to find shared sustainable solutions; 
 Prevention -  how the initiative will prevent problems occurring or getting worse 

P
age 208



3

6. The most appropriate statement must be selected (and the relevant box ticked) based on the first stage of the assessment and an 
explanation of how you have arrived at this decision must be given. 

In addition a summary of the how the initiative has embraced the sustainable development principle must also be included. 

Where the first stage of the assessment indicates that a more in-depth analysis is required the second stage of the assessment will 
need to be completed and this will need to be started immediately. 

A first stage assessment must be included as a background paper for all Cabinet/Cabinet Board/ Scrutiny Committee Reports.

Where the first stage assessment is completed by an accountable manager it must be signed off by a Head of Service/Director. 

 

 
 

P
age 209



4

Impact Assessment - First Stage 

1. Details of the initiative 

Initiative description and summary:

Neath Inspired (Business Improvement District) Re ballot
In order for the company to continue, in line with Business Improvement District (Wales) 2005 Regulations, a re ballot is 
required to be held and a positive result would enable the company to continue.

Service Area:   Property & Regeneration

Directorate:       Environment

2. Does the initiative affect:  
Yes No

Service users X
Staff X
Wider community X
Internal administrative process only X

3. Does the initiative impact on people because of their: 

Yes No None/ 
Negligible

Don’t 
Know

Impact 
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including evidence)/How 
might it impact?

Age X The re ballot voting papers and business plan will be 
sent to the businesses within the BID area who are liable 
for the levy and does not have any impact on this.

Disability X As above
Gender Reassignment X As above
Marriage/Civil Partnership X As above

P
age 210



5

Pregnancy/Maternity X As above
Race X As above
Religion/Belief X As above
Sex X As above
Sexual orientation X As above

4. Does the initiative impact on:

Yes No None/
Negligible

Don’t 
know

Impact 
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including evidence used) / 
How might it impact?

People’s opportunities 
to use the Welsh 
language 

X Proposal has no impact on the use of the Welsh language 
only the opportunity for the business owner to vote whereby 
all literature will be produced bilingually. 

Treating the Welsh 
language no less 
favourably than English 

X All literature will be produced bilingually.

5. Does the initiative impact on biodiversity:

Yes No None/ 
Negligible

Don’t 
know

Impact 
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including evidence) / 
How might it impact?

To maintain and 
enhance biodiversity X Re ballot has no impact on biodiversity.

P
age 211



6

To promote the 
resilience of 
ecosystems, i.e. 
supporting protection of 
the wider environment, 
such as air quality, flood 
alleviation, etc. 

X N/A

6. Does the initiative embrace the sustainable development principle (5 ways of working):

Yes No Details

Long term - how the initiative 
supports the long term well-being of 
people 

X The Business Improvement District re ballot will contribute to the well-being 
of town centre businesses supporting those people who have businesses 
within the BID area.

Integration -  how the initiative 
impacts upon our wellbeing 
objectives 

X The re ballot if successful will support business in the local economy.

Involvement -  how people have 
been involved in developing the 
initiative 

X The re ballot is a result of business consultation as Neath Inspired 
approaches the end of its first 5 year term and is required to re ballot to 
continue.  

Collaboration - how we have worked 
with other services/organisations to 
find shared sustainable solutions

X NPTCBC has collaborated with Neath Inspired in order to facilitate re ballot 
in order for the organisation to proceed for a further 5 years.

Prevention -  how the initiative will 
prevent problems occurring or getting 
worse 

X A re ballot will give each business in the BID area a chance to vote on 
whether or not they wish for the existing Business Improvement District to 
continue.  A positive result will enable Neath Inspired to deliver their 

P
age 212



7

7. Declaration - based on above assessment (tick as appropriate):

A full impact assessment (second stage) is not required √
Reasons for this conclusion   

A re ballot is at the request of Neath Inspired in accordance with regulations.  NPTCBC will be the ballot holder.  A re ballot will 
not have a significant impact on any specific group of people so a full impact assessment is not required.

A full impact assessment (second stage) is required 

Reasons for this conclusion   

business plan to improve the vitality and recovery of Neath Town Centre.

Name Position Signature Date

P
age 213



8

Completed by Jo Hillier-Raikes Town Centres Manager Jo Hiilier-Raikes 16.11.2020
Signed off by Simon Brennan Head of Service/Director 

P
age 214



NEATH PORT-TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

CABINET

                                        25th NOVEMBER 2020

Report of Head of Engineering & Transportation – D.W.Griffiths

Matter for Decision

Wards affected: Aberdulais / Cadoxton.

(PENSCYNOR. CILFREW) (REVOCATION) (20 MPH SPEED LIMITS) 
ORDER 2020 AND TRAFFIC CALMING MEASURES AT PENSCYNOR, 
CILFREW

Purpose of Report 

To consider the objections and comments received following the 
advertisement of the above scheme, as indicated in Appendix A.  

Executive Summary 

The report outlines the comments received and the recommendations for 
the scheme.

Background 

Residents and the local Members have expressed concerns regarding the 
speed of traffic on Penscynor Road, Cilfrew between both Cilfrew Primary 
School and Llangatwg Community School. Traffic has been recorded as 
exceeding the legal speed limit.

The proposed 20 mph Zone and the proposed traffic calming measures will 
replace part of the 20 mph advisory zone with a self-enforcing 20 mph Zone 
which includes speed cushions on Penscynor Road.

Page 215

Agenda Item 5



The proposed measures will help reduce traffic speed in the interest of road 
safety.

Financial Impact 

The work will be funded by the Welsh Government

Integrated Impact Assessment

A first stage impact assessment has been undertaken to assist the Council 
in discharging its legislative duties (under the Equality Act 2010, the Welsh 
Language Standards (No.1) Regulations 2015, the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016.  

The first stage assessment, attached at Appendix B, has indicated that a 
more in-depth assessment is not required.  A summary is included below:-

A full impact assessment is not required as the proposed traffic regulation 
order will provide a safe environment for motorists, pedestrians, cyclists, 
school children and residents.

Valleys Community Impacts

There are ‘No implications’ associated with this report.

Workforce Impacts

There are ‘No Implications’ associated with this report.

Legal Impacts

The scheme was advertised for a 21-day period as part of the statutory 
process.  

Risk Management Impacts

There are no risk management impacts associated with this report.

Page 216



Consultation

A consultation exercise was undertaken in September 2020 with 
approximately 30 properties receiving hand delivered letters with a plan.

There were 17 objections to the Traffic Calming measures proposed and 2 
expressions of support received for the scheme. 

The objections received included the perceived damage to vehicles, 
distress to livestock, perceived traffic pollution, perceived traffic noise, and 
a comment that there are seven ramps already with a proposal for a further 
six which have to be negotiated every time the residents enter or leave the 
village. It should be noted that of the 17 objections, five suggested that we 
need an alternative to speed humps with a further five requesting a speed 
camera.

Residents have since submitted a petition over a month outside of the 
consultation period ‘objecting to the proposal of additional speed cushions 
in the village of Cilfrew’ going on to state that ‘the petitioners therefore 
request that Neath Port Talbot Council explore alternative measures to their 
plans’  

The objections have been discussed with the local member who also raised 
concerns to the proposed traffic regulation orders as advertised.

In response to the Community and Local Member concerns officers have 
entered into dialogue with Welsh Government and our Go Safe partners to 
seek permanent, alternative speed reduction measures for the Village.

In the interim Go Safe have agreed to monitor the speeds through their 
Community Watch scheme.

Recommendations

It is recommended:

That the objections are upheld with alternative permanent speed reduction 
measures be sought in conjunction with Welsh Government and Go Safe.

That Welsh Government be advised accordingly.

The objectors be informed of the decision.

Page 217



Reason for Proposed Decision

To permanently reduce traffic speed in the interest of road safety.

Appendices

Appendix A – Plan - Proposed 20 mph Zone & Proposed Speed Cushions, 
Penscynor, Cilfrew.

Appendix B – Integrated Impact Assessment. 

Background Papers

None.

Officer Contact

Mrs Joy Smith, Road Safety and Business Performance Manager

Tel. No.01639 686715

Email j.smith@npt.gov.uk 

Mr Martin Brumby, Engineering & Transport

Tel. No. 01639 686013

Email m.brumby@npt.gov.uk

Page 218

mailto:j.smith@npt.gov.uk
mailto:m.brumby@npt.gov.uk


School

Cilffriw

Primary

V:\ts180-JCD\Traffic Schemes\School 20mph Zones\Llangatwg & Cilfrew\C20920.PEN.01.dwg

ENGINEERING AND TRANSPORT

NICOLA PEARCE

DIRECTOR OF ENVIRONMENT AND REGENERATION

THE QUAYS, BRUNEL WAY

BAGLAN ENERGY PARK

NEATH SA11 2GG

A3

J
o
b
 
T

i
t
l
e

D
r
g
.
 
N

o
.

Date

Approved

Drawing No.

File No.

Drawn

Date

Scales

Financial Code No.

Checked

Date

Job Title

Ch

Client

Rev Details Dr Ap Date

NOTES

2. Ordnance Survey Licence:

© Crown Copyright and Database Right

2013. Ordnance Survey 100023392.

© Hawlfraint a hawilau cronfa ddata’r goron

2013. Rhid trwydded yr arolwg ordnans

100023392.

1. All dimensions are in millimetres

unless   otherwise stated.

TR14     

Aug 20

MCB

Aug 20

HIH

Aug 20

NTS

C20920.PEN.01

Proposed Speed Cushions

Penscynor, Cilfrew

Key:-

Proposed Pair of

Speed Cushions

Proposed 20mph Zone

Proposed 20mph Zone &

P
age 219

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
Level

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
33

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
78

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
31

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
Drusgol

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
Goch

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
Bronwydd

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
4a

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
12

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
Mona

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
LB

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
El Sub Sta

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
Car Parks and

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
MAIN ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
56

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
(disused)

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
A 4230

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
44

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
(disused)

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
Neath Golf Course

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
Bryn-

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
amlwg

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
THE PINES

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
UNDERWOOD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
UNDERWOOD ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
Gas Governor

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
61

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
Greenacres

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
Works

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
Level

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
Maes Gwyn

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
MP 1.5

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
Picnic Areas

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
Level

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
FB

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
PENSCYNOR

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
Windsor Ho

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
Ynysllynlladd Cottages

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
The

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
Bungalow

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
Level

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
Chys

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
Path (um)

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
34

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
33a

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
Air Shaft

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
ESS

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
(disused)

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
(disused)

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
Ardwyn

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
Parc Craig Gwladus

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
Issues

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
Penscynor Ho

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
73

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
39

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
49

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
Tennant Canal

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
Plas Newydd

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
PENSCYNOR LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
18

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
67

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
17

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
10

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
28

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
26

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
43

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
36

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
38

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
25

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
PARC PENSCYNNOR

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
19

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
21

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
23

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
5

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
11

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
13

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
7

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
37

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
Gracelands

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
FFYNNON DAWEL

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
8

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
Standard

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
3

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
6

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
NANT

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
Y GLYN

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
L Twrs

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
L Twrs

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
FF

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
FF

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
CF

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
FF

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
CW

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
CS

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
ED Bdy

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
CF

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
DEF

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
Und

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
DEF

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
Summer

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
House

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
SM

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
Railway

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
Crossing

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
Shelter

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
Track

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
Pond

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
Shelters

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
Llangatwg Community School/

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
Ysgol Gymunedol Llangatwg

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
Waterfall

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
PENSCYNOR

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
%%UTHIS IS A C.A.D. PRODUCED DRAWING AND SHOULD NOT BE AMENDED BY HAND.



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

Impact Assessment - First Stage

It is essential that all initiatives undergo a first stage impact assessment to identify relevance to equalities and the Welsh language 
as well as an evaluation of how the proposal has taken into account the sustainable development principle (the five ways of 
working); an incorrect assessment could ultimately be open to legal challenge.
The first stage is to carry out a short assessment to help determine the need to undertake a more in-depth analysis (the second 
stage).   

Relevance will depend not only on the number of people/service users affected, but also the significance of the effect on them.

When completing the first step you must have regard to the following: 

 Does the initiative relate to an area where important equality issues have been, or are likely to be, raised? (For example, 
funding for services to assist people who are victims of rape/sexual violence or individuals with particular care need; disabled 
people's access to public transport; the gender pay gap; racist or homophobic bullying in schools)

 Is there a significant potential for reducing inequalities, or improving outcomes? (For example, increasing recruitment 
opportunities for disabled people). 

 Does the initiative relate to instances where opportunities to use the Welsh language are likely to be affected or where the 
language is likely to be treated less favourably? (For example, increase the number of Welsh speakers moving from/to a 
certain area; closing specific Welsh language services or put those services at risk services;  

 Does the initiative relate to the improvement of economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being? To what extent 
does the initiative prevent things getting worse? (For example, funding for services to assist in cultural well-being;  changes 
in polices that promote independence and/or assist carers)

1. Provide a description and summary of the initiative. 
Identify which service area and directorate has responsibility for the initiative.
 

2. Identify who will be affected by the initiative. 
If you answer Yes to service users, staff or wider community continue with the first stage of the assessment  
If you answer No to service users, staff or wider community or Yes to ‘Internal administrative process only’, go to Question 5 – 
sustainable development principle.  

3. Using relevant and appropriate information and data that is available to you think about what impact there could be on people who 
share protected characteristics; whether they are service users, staff or the wider community.

P
age 221



2

Some things to consider include: 

 transport issues 
 accessibility 
 customer service
 cultural sensitivity
 financial implications  
 loss of jobs  

Definitions of impacts (either positive or negative): 

 High – likely to be highly affected by the initiative  
 Medium - likely to be affected in some way 
 Low - likely to be affected by the initiative in a small way
 Don’t know - the potential impact is unknown

You must provide reasons, and indicate what evidence you used, in coming to your decision. 

4. Using relevant and appropriate information and data that is available, think about what impact there could be on opportunities to 
use the Welsh language and in treating the language no less favourably than English. 
Definitions of impacts are the same as in Question 3.
The classification ‘Don’t Know’ should be categorised as ‘High Impact’ in both questions 3 & 4.

 
5. Consider how the initiative has embraced the sustainable development principle in accordance with the Section 7c of the Well-

being of Future Generations Act 2015.

Give details of the initiative in relation to the 5 ways of working:

 Long term - how the initiative supports the long term well-being of people 
 Integration -  how the initiative impacts upon our wellbeing objectives 
 Involvement -  how people have been involved in developing the initiative 
 Collaboration - how we have worked with other services/organisations to find shared sustainable solutions; 
 Prevention -  how the initiative will prevent problems occurring or getting worse 

P
age 222



3

6. The most appropriate statement must be selected (and the relevant box ticked) based on the first stage of the assessment and an 
explanation of how you have arrived at this decision must be given. 

In addition a summary of the how the initiative has embraced the sustainable development principle must also be included. 

Where the first stage of the assessment indicates that a more in-depth analysis is required the second stage of the assessment will 
need to be completed and this will need to be started immediately. 

A first stage assessment must be included as a background paper for all Cabinet/Cabinet Board/ Scrutiny Committee Reports.

Where the first stage assessment is completed by an accountable manager it must be signed off by a Head of Service/Director. 

 

 
 

P
age 223



4

Impact Assessment - First Stage 

1. Details of the initiative 

Initiative description and summary: (PENSCYNOR. CILFREW) (REVOCATION) (20 MPH SPEED LIMITS) ORDER 
2020 AND TRAFFIC CALMING MEASURES AT PENSCYNOR, CILFREW
Service Area:  Aberdulais / Cadoxton

Directorate: Environment.

2. Does the initiative affect:  
Yes No

Service users        
Staff 

Wider community         
Internal administrative process only 

3. Does the initiative impact on people because of their: 

Yes No None/ 
Negligible

Don’t 
Know

Impact 
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including evidence)/How 
might it impact?

Age 

Disability 

Gender Reassignment 

Marriage/Civil Partnership 

Pregnancy/Maternity 

Race 

Religion/Belief 

Sex 

P
age 224



5

Sexual orientation 

4. Does the initiative impact on:

Yes No None/
Negligible

Don’t 
know

Impact 
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including evidence used) / 
How might it impact?

People’s opportunities 
to use the Welsh 
language 



Treating the Welsh 
language no less 
favourably than English 



5. Does the initiative impact on biodiversity:

Yes No None/ 
Negligible

Don’t 
know

Impact 
H/M/L

Reasons for your decision (including evidence) / 
How might it impact?

To maintain and 
enhance biodiversity 

To promote the 
resilience of 
ecosystems, i.e. 
supporting protection of 
the wider environment, 



P
age 225



6

such as air quality, flood 
alleviation, etc. 

6. Does the initiative embrace the sustainable development principle (5 ways of working):

Yes No Details

Long term - how the initiative 
supports the long term well-being of 
people 

 The proposed scheme will help to reduce traffic speed in the interest of 
road safety.

Integration -  how the initiative 
impacts upon our wellbeing 
objectives 

   The proposed scheme will help to reduce traffic speed in the interest of 
road safety.

Involvement -  how people have 
been involved in developing the 
initiative 

 The Highways section and the Local Members have worked together on 
this initiative.

Collaboration - how we have worked 
with other services/organisations to 
find shared sustainable solutions

 The Highways section and the Local Members have worked together on 
this initiative.

Prevention -  how the initiative will 
prevent problems occurring or getting 
worse 

 The proposed scheme will help to reduce traffic speed in the interest of 
road safety.

P
age 226



7

7. Declaration - based on above assessment (tick as appropriate):

A full impact assessment (second stage) is not required  

Reasons for this conclusion   

A full impact assessment is not required as the proposed traffic regulation order will provide a safer environment for the 
community.

A full impact assessment (second stage) is required 

Reasons for this conclusion   

P
age 227



8

Name Position Signature Date
Completed by Hasan Hasan Engineering Manager 18/11/2020
Signed off by David Griffiths Head of Service/Director 18/11/2020

P
age 228



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET 

25 NOVEMBER 2020

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 
& CORPORATE SERVICES – HYWEL JENKINS

Matters for Decision

Wards Affected: Baglan, Neath North, Coedffranc

Report Title – Miscellaneous Grant Fund Applications

Purpose of the Report:

1. To seek Member approval in relation to grant application 
received at Appendix 1 attached.

Background and Financial Impacts

2. The Council has a Miscellaneous Grants Scheme to support 
individual applications for grants in line with the criteria set out 
below:-  

Page 229

Agenda Item 6



Existing Policy Statement

a) Each application will be considered on its merits.
b) The Committee will only approve applications for financial 

assistance from voluntary or charitable organisations which 
are manifestly committed to voluntary endeavours of a local 
nature. This will not preclude the consideration of 
applications where the disposal of funds is outside the area 
but still provides significant benefits for the people from the 
Neath Port Talbot area.

c) No applications will be considered from religious bodies 
except relating to church halls and other premises where 
there is significant community use of the property for non-
religious activities.

d) No applications will be considered from other public funded 
bodies such as community councils, hospital trusts, etc. or 
where the benefit may be in lieu of their contributions such 
as appeals for hospital equipment.

e) Applications from individuals may be considered where both 
the person and the community derive a benefit.

f) No grants will be made to any individual or organisation 
whose prime purpose is to distribute their funds to other 
charitable bodies.

Miscellaneous Grant funding available 

3. Members have approved a budget of £2,500 for miscellaneous 
grants for 2020/21

Integrated Impact Assessment 

4. There are no impacts in respect of the obligations to the Council 
under the Equality Act 2010, the Welsh Language Standards (No 
1) Regulations 2015, the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 and 
support via this grant provides generally a positive impact in 

Page 230



respect of the Wellbeing and Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015.  

Valleys Communities Impacts

5. Applications for grant are available to voluntary and charitable 
organisations across the county borough.

Workforce Impacts

6. There are no workforce impacts.

Legal Impacts

7. Grants are provided in line with the approved scheme criteria.

Risk Management Impacts 

8. All grant applications are considered on their own merit and in 
line with the approved scheme criteria.

Consultation 

9. There is no requirement for external consultation on this item. 

Recommendation

10. It is recommended that Members approve the applications set 
out in Appendix 1 to this report.

Page 231



Reason for Proposed Decision

11. To decide on the amount of financial support in respect of the 
grant applications received.

Implementation of Decision

12. The decision is proposed for implementation after the three day 
call in period

Appendices

13. Appendix 1 – Schedule of grant applications.

List of Background Papers

14. Grant Applications

Officer Contact

Mr Hywel Jenkins – Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
Tel. No: 01639 763251
email: h.jenkins@npt.gov.uk 

Page 232

mailto:h.jenkins@npt.gov.uk


Appendix 1
Schedule of Grant Applications

Applicant Purpose Amount 
Request/Cost of 

“Project”

Previous 
Support

Comments

The Trustees of 
Baglan Boys & Girls 
Club, Baglan 
Dragons AFC & 
Baglan Cricket 
Club.

The trustees have applied 
for grant assistance in 
relation to the Lease of 
Playing Fields & 
Recreational Areas at 
Evans Bevan Playing Field, 
Baglan Port Talbot.

Grant towards the 
cost of rent of 
£880 which will be 
payable from 1st 
April 2021

P&R board 
19/02/2015 
approved 
100% grant of 
rent amount of 
£800 pa

Provide grant of 
£800 p.a. 
subject to 
review in line 
with rent 
reviews from 
April 2021.

Rhianna’s Swing The trustees have applied 
for grant assistance in 
relation to the lease of land 
at Gnoll Country Park  

Grant towards the 
cost of rent of 
£137.50 pa which 
will be payable 
from 24th April 
2021 

P&R Board 
24.01.2018 
approved 
100% grant of 
£125 pa

Provide grant of 
£125 p.a. 
subject to 
review in line 
with rent 
reviews from 
April 2021

P
age 233



Applicant Purpose Amount 
Request/Cost of 

“Project”

Previous 
Support

Comments

Coedffranc Town 
Council 

Coedffranc Town Council 
have applied for grant 
assistance in relation to the 
lease of Caewathan 
Community Centre

Grant towards the 
cost of rent of 
£2,196 pa which 
will be payable 
from 1st April 
2021. Rent 
increased from 
£1,996.50 pa.

P&R Board 
29.6.2016 
approved grant 
of £1,796.85

Provide grant of 
£1,800 p.a. 
subject to 
review in line 
with rent 
reviews from 
April 2021

P
age 234



Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council

Cabinet

25 November 2020

Joint Report of the 

Director of Education Leisure and Lifelong Learning – Aled Evans

and

Director of Finance and Corporate Services – Hywel Jenkins 

Matter for Decision: 

IT Equipment for Schools

Wards Affected: All

Purpose of report

1. To enable the Council to procure and provide IT equipment for 
children in all schools.  

Background 

2. The Welsh Government are over a 3 year period providing a specific 
grant to improve the availability of IT equipment and systems in 
schools across the whole of Wales via their HWB Grant initiative. 
This grant commenced in 2019/20 and is currently expected to end 
in 2021/22, although we are awaiting confirmation of such funding for 
next year which is due as part of the Welsh Government Budget 
approvals in early 2021. 

3. There are currently 21,300 children and 1,240 teachers in our 
schools that require the appropriate IT kit and systems to improve 
learning opportunities.

Page 235

Agenda Item 7



4. Year 1 grant was targeted towards network infrastructure to ensure 
that each school had a modern and performant network to underpin 
the changes in curriculum delivery.  An investment of £1.1m has 
already been made in network infrastructure.  By ensuring that the 
appropriate device was selected and a willingness to change 
suppliers it was possible to spend most of the allocation on the 
network leaving £705k to be allocated to purchase IT devices. An 
order was issued for 540 iPads, 1,089 Chromebooks, 300 Windows 
devices and 420 teacher devices which have been received and 
distributed to children and teachers via schools. 

IT Requirement for Learning

5. As a result of the Covid pandemic and the need to provide a blended 
education learning provision head teachers have reviewed 
requirements and wish to acquire technology to provide the following 
provision and support for learning: 

Key Stage Device Ratio Apple Chrome Windows 
Foundation 3.5 100%   
KS2 2 20% 70% 10%
KS3 1  90% 10%
KS4 /KS5 1  90% 10%
Teachers 1   100%

6. As mentioned earlier WG have provided the following funding 
available for the purchase of IT Devices:

 
Total Device 

Spend
Grant Funded 2019/20 £705,701
Grant Funded 2020/21 £1,196,421
Grant Funded 2021/22 - Expected Amount £591,716
Total Grant Funding £2,493,839
  
NPT Own Funding £303,506
  
Grand Total £2,797,345

Page 236



7. The above table shows that WG have already provided £1.9m to 
date with a further £592k expected in 2021/22. However to provide a 
device in line with the above mentioned ratios a further £303.5k is 
needed from the Council’s own capital programme.  As part of the 
HWB grant conditions there is a requirement for Schools to establish 
a replenishment reserve to ensure sufficient funds are available to 
replace the devices in future years.  Discussions have been had with 
LLAN and NAASH who have agreed that they will make annual 
budgetary provisions to establish/replenish the replacement 
programme from their delegated budgets. 

8. To meet the ratio of devices agreed for primary schools and a 1:1 
ratio for secondary school pupils, 718 iPads and an additional 2,984 
Chromebooks will need to be procured.

9. The Council has already placed orders for delivery of 4,527 devices. 
It was originally envisaged that these would have been delivered by 
now but due to the pandemic and the international demand for 
devices it is not expected that these will be delivered until early 
2021. 

10. In order to ensure that we are able to maximize learning 
opportunities via blended learning to our learners it is requested that 
authority be given to place orders for the remaining devices needed 
of 718 iPads and 2,984 Chromebooks and the allocation of 
£303,500 be made within the Council’s Capital Programme. This will 
be funded via loan repayment over a 5 year period and will initially 
this year, if required be first call on the Treasury Management 
Reserve, with future years funding built into the 2021/22 Budget. It 
is also proposed to place orders to procure £592k of devices for 
delivery from 1 April 2021 to utilise the expected HWB grant funding 
due for that financial year. Thus enabling IT devices be provided to 
children as soon as they become available.

Financial Impact

11. Welsh Government has provided a HWB grant to improve learning 
and to fund IT devices for schools over 3 financial years.  An 
additional £303,500 is required from the Council’s own capital 
programme to fund the required number of devices. This will be built 

Page 237



into the Council’s Capital Programme together with its funding from 
April 2021 onwards. Schools will set aside funds from their 
delegated budgets to establish an IT replacement fund.    

Integrated Impact Assessment

12. No integrated Impact Assessment has been carried out as this 
proposal is to provide 1:1 devices for all secondary aged pupils 
together with increased number of devices for pupils of primary school 
age.  Early placement of a procurement order will assist in securing 
devices as they become available which will then be distributed to 
schools. 

Valleys Community Impacts

13. The policy and device allocation will apply to schools across the 
whole of the County Borough

Workforce impacts

14. IT services have received additional grant funding to manage the 
implementation of IT infrastructure improvements.

Legal impact

15. Procurement of IT devices will be made via the agreed Welsh 
Government platform and contracts. 

Risk management

16. The Council have various IT security arrangements in place and will 
maximise the use of WG resources and support to acquire these 
devices and infrastructure to improve blended learning for children 
in our schools.  

Consultation 

17. There is no requirement under the Constitution for external 
consultation on this item.

Page 238



Recommendations

18. It is recommended that Members approve that:

 the ICT Service Manager places orders via the WG platform 
to purchase devices for schools as set out in this report. 

 That additional funding of £303,500 be made available from 
the Authority’s Capital Programme to fund the required 
additional devices. 

Reason for proposed decision

19. To enable the Council to make provide IT support for learners as 
set out in the report. 

Implementation of decision 

20. The decision is an urgent one for immediate implementation, 
subject to the consent of the relevant Scrutiny Chair and is 
therefore not subject to the call-in procedure. 

Appendices

21. None 

List of background papers

22. Welsh Government HWB Grant Scheme 

Officer contact

23. Aled Evans, Director of Education Leisure and Lifelong Learning
Email: a.evans@npt.gov.uk

Hywel Jenkins, Director of Finance and Corporate Services
Email: h.jenkins@npt.gov.uk

Page 239

mailto:a.evans@npt.gov.uk
mailto:h.jenkins@npt.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



NEATH PORT TALBOT COUNTY BOROUGH 
COUNCIL

 CABINET 

25th November 2020

REPORT OF HEAD OF TRANSFORMATION
ANDREW THOMAS

MATTER FOR DECISION

WARDS AFFECTED – ALL WARDS

ADMISSION TO COMMUNITY SCHOOLS: 2022/2023

Purpose of Report

1. To obtain Education Skills and Culture Cabinet Board approval to 
consult on the admission arrangements for community schools in 
relation to the 2022/2023 academic year.

Executive Summary

2. The Council is the admission authority for community schools in its 
area (the relevant area) and is required to determine by 15th April 
2021 its admission arrangements in relation to the 2022/ 2023 
academic year.

3. Proposed admission arrangements that detail the procedures to be 
followed when allocating school are attached as appendix A. It is 
these proposed arrangements that are to be consulted upon. These 
arrangements are the same as the previous year.

4. These proposed arrangements conform to the legislative 
requirements and the good practice guidelines set out in the Welsh 
Government’s School Admissions Code, 2013.

Page 241

Agenda Item 8



Background

5. The Council, as local authority for the relevant area, is responsible 
for determining the admission arrangements for community schools1 
and has a duty to consult annually on those arrangements.

6. In drawing up admission arrangements, the Council must ensure 
that the practices and the criteria used to decide on the allocation of 
school places:
 are clear in the sense of being free from doubt and easily 

understood
 are objective and based on demonstrable fact
 are procedurally fair and are also equitable for all groups of 

children
 provide parents or carers with easy access to helpful admission 

information
 comply with all relevant legislation and have been determined in 

accordance with the statutory requirements and the provisions of 
this Code 

Proposed admission arrangements for consultation

7. The proposed admission arrangements for consultation are 
attached as Appendix A. These arrangements are the same as the 
previous year.

8. They include oversubscription criteria specific to secondary school 
admissions that support the principle of partner2 schools. This 
reflects the need to ensure the admission arrangements give 
suitable priority to partner schools at secondary school transfer. 
This is the same as the previous year.

1 The Education (Determination of Admission Arrangements) (Wales) Regulations 2006
2 For the purpose of admission to community schools the term:

 ‘partner’ school is defined as a school that has a catchment area in common with another school of 
the same category, e.g. an English-medium community primary with an English-medium 
community secondary or a Welsh-medium community primary with a Welsh-medium community 
secondary.

 catchment area is defined as the geographical area served by a school, as determined by the 
Council.

Page 242



Consultation

9. The Council, as local authority is required to consult each year on 
the admission arrangements for those schools which it is the 
admission authority.

10. Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council is the admission 
authority for community schools.  Admission to voluntary aided (i.e. 
Faith) schools is the responsibility of the respective governing 
bodies.

11. The requirements of consultation are set out in the Welsh 
Government’s School Admissions Code3.

12. In the case of this Council, consultation is required with:

 the governing bodies of community schools
 the governing bodies of voluntary aided (i.e. Faith) schools
 all neighbouring local authorities.

13. In addition, the Council should also consult the Admission Forum for 
the relevant area.  The consultation process will cease on 29th 
January 2021.

Financial Impact

14. There is no financial impact directly associated with this proposal.  
The admission arrangements support the efficient and effective 
delivery of education across the County Borough.

15. Administration of the admission process is within the Council’s 
staffing cost envelope and is a statutory function that falls to the 
Council.

Equality Impact Assessment

31. A Screening Assessment has been undertaken to assist the Council 
in discharging its Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act 
2010. After completing the assessment it has been determined that 
this Policy does require an Equality Impact Assessment (EIA).  The 

3 School admissions code: Statutory Code document No. 005/2013
Page 243



EIA is currently being developed and will be informed by the 
outcomes of the consultation exercise.

Workforce Impact

32. As a statutory function of the Council, the admission process is 
administered centrally.  The current staffing complement associated 
with this function will be maintained and there will be no change to 
the staffing arrangements consequent upon the implementation of 
the proposal.

Legal Impacts

33. The Council, as an admission authority, has a statutory duty to act 
in accordance with the requirements of the Welsh Government’s 
School Admissions Code, 2013.

34. In relation to the specific purpose of this report, there is a legal 
requirement that school admission arrangements must be 
determined by 15th April 2021.

Risk Management

35. There are requirements placed on the Council, as an admission 
authority, intended to ensure the admission system works for the 
benefit of both schools and pupils.  Admission authorities are 
required to consult on their admission arrangements, and to offer 
places within timeframes and deadlines specified by legislation.

36. The proposed admission arrangements recommended for 
consultation in this report conform to the legislative requirements 
and the good practice guidelines set out in the Welsh Government’s 
School Admissions Code, 2013.

Recommendations

37. To approve for consultation the proposed 2022/2023 community 
schools admission policy.

Reasons for the Proposed Decision

38. To enable the Council to meet statutory duties and good practice 
guidelines in respect of the admission of pupils to community 
schools.

Page 244



Implementation of Decision

39. The decision is proposed for implementation after the three day call 
in period.

Appendix
Appendix A:  Proposed admission to community schools in Neath

   Port Talbot County Borough, 2022/2023

List of Background Papers
a. Welsh Government: School Admissions Code (No. 005/2013).
b. Welsh Government: Measuring the capacity of schools in Wales
c. Education (Determination of Admission Arrangements) (Wales) 

Regulations 2006
d. Education (Objections to Admission Arrangements) (Wales) 

Regulations 2006
e. Education (Relevant Areas for Consultation on Admission 

Arrangements) Regulations 1999
f. School Admissions (Common Offer Date) (Wales) regulations 

2013
g. The Education Act 2002 (Commencement No.8) (Wales) Order 

2006

Officer Contact
Mrs H Lewis, School Admissions.
h.lewis@npt.gov.uk  Tel: 01639 763580.

Page 245

mailto:h.lewis@npt.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Appendix A

Admission to Community Schools
2022/2023

1. Introduction

The Council is the admission authority for all community maintained schools in the 
County Borough.  As admission authority, the Council determines the criteria that 
will be applied when allocating places at community schools.  This document sets 
out the admission arrangements that will apply during 2022/2023 for: nursery 
classes based at community primary schools; community primary schools; 
community secondary schools; and the Welsh medium sixth form at a community 
secondary school. 

For voluntary aided (i.e. Faith) schools, it is each school’s governing body that 
determines the admission arrangements, details of which can be obtained from the 
respective governing body. 

This policy document sets out the principles underpinning the admission 
arrangements for community schools together with the procedures and the 
timetables for admission during the 2022/2023 school year (appendices 1, 2, 3 & 
4).  Further details to assist parents in applying for a school place choosing a 
school for their child will be set out in the ‘Information for Parents Handbook 
2022/2023’ which will be available to parents in October 2021, prior to the 
application date. The handbook will contain important information about schools in 
the County Borough including their admission numbers, the catchment areas they 
serve together and their partner school arrangements. The handbook also 
contains the published admission arrangements for individual voluntary aided (i.e. 
Faith) schools. In this respect, the ‘Information for Parents Handbook 2022/2023 
forms an integral part of the information available to parents on school admission.

2. Context
Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council aspires to deliver an inclusive 
education service that celebrates diversity and respects everyone’s right to 
education. The Council provides access to high quality learning experiences 
for every child and young person by encouraging and supporting individuals 

Page 247



2

to realise their ambitions, achieve their potential and become active and 
responsible members of society.

To meet the educational needs of children, the County Borough Council delivers 
a range of provision, including:

 part-time nursery education, available in all primary and ‘all-through’ 3-16/3-
18 schools.  Successful learning begins in the nursery where children have 
access to rich experiences in a secure environment;

 primary phase education at primary and ‘all-through’ 3-16/3-18 schools  
(including Welsh medium and voluntary aided schools), providing a broad 
education based on practical experiences designed to meet individual needs, 
including national curriculum areas of study.

 secondary phase education at secondary and ‘all-through’ 3-16/3-18 
schools, (including Welsh medium and a Roman Catholic school), setting high 
standards in examinations, sport and cultural activities, and personal and 
social education. Pupils in all schools have access to a wide range of 
curricular opportunities and the national curriculum;

 special schools, providing rich and stimulating learning experiences for pupils 
with severe and complex difficulties.  All pupils attending these schools have a 
statement of special educational needs.  Specialist support for primary and 
secondary age pupils with emotional and behavioural difficulties is available 
within the County Borough.

 learning support centres, based at a number of primary, secondary and ‘all-
through’ schools, provide specialist support in mainstream schools for pupils 
with statements of special educational needs.

The Council’s admission arrangements for community schools ensure that 
admission procedures do not unfairly advantage or disadvantage any groups 
through the application of the Welsh Government School Admissions Code 
005/2013.

3. Admission to nursery classes at community primary and ‘all-through’ 3-
16/3-18 schools

The Council is the admission authority for all nursery classes in community primary 
and ‘all-through’ 3-16/3-18 schools.

Children can access a part-time nursery place from the start of the term following 
their third birthday. Parents/carers who require a place in a nursery class will be 
required to submit an admission application.  Application forms are available from 
(and, when completed, to be returned to) the Admissions Officer, School and 
Family Support Team, Port Talbot Civic Centre, Port Talbot SA13 1PJ. 

Page 248



3

Parents/carers can apply for a place at the catchment school or express a 
preference for a placement at an alternative school.

Admission to a nursery class prior to the start of the term following the child’s third 
birthday can only be agreed in consultation with the Admissions Officer.

The number of nursery places available may differ to the admission number of   
full-time year groups within a school (Reception).

Children who are in receipt of a statement of special educational needs/ IDP 
which identifies mainstream nursery education within a community school will be 
guaranteed a place at that setting. Schools have a duty to admit children with a 
Statement of Special Educational Needs who have been placed in a school by 
the LA and these pupils are counted towards the number of pupils to be admitted 
unless their placement is within a school based Learning Support Centre. 

The Council will consider each individual application received.  If the number of 
applications exceeds the number of places available, places will be allocated 
according to the oversubscription criteria below, listed in priority order.

 Oversubscription Criteria 

a) Children looked after1 or previously looked after by a local authority in Wales, 
as defined in section 74 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 
2014 or England as defined in Section 22 of the Children Act 1989.

b) Children who live within the catchment area of the nursery class for which an 
application is made. 

c) Children who have an older sibling who will be on the register at the school at 
which the nursery class is based when they are admitted.  A “sibling” is defined 
as a full sibling, a half sibling (i.e. one shared parent), a step sibling (i.e. the 
child of a person co-habiting with a parent), a fostered sibling or an adopted 
sibling. In each case, at the time of the application the sibling must reside at 
the same address as the child or young person.  Any sibling connection must 
be clearly stated in the application.   In the case of multiple births, if it is not 
possible to offer all children a place in the nursery class, the parents will be 
asked to decide which child should be offered a place first or the parents may 
wish to consider an alternative setting for all children. 

1 A looked after child refers to a child who is looked after by the local authority, in accordance with section 
74 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 or under Section 22(1) of the Children Act 
1989 at the time an application to a school is made and who the local authority has confirmed will still be 
looked after at the time of admission to the school. Previously looked after children: looked after children 
who cease to be so because they were adopted or become subject to a residence order, or special 
guardianship order immediately following having been looked after.

Page 249



4

If children are equally entitled to a place in the nursery in categories a) to c) 
above, priority will be given to the child living nearest. This is measured by the 
shortest walking/travel route between the home and the school. The Council uses 
a Geographical Information System to calculate the shortest distance.

In all cases evidence of permanent residence of the pupil at time of application 
must be supplied.

Once an offer of a school place has been made the Council will only withdraw that 
offer where the place offered has been on the basis of a fraudulent or intentionally 
misleading application from a parent (for example, a false claim to residence in a 
catchment area) which effectively denied a place to a child with a stronger claim.  
A school place will not be withdrawn once a child or young person has started at 
the school, except where that place was fraudulently obtained.  In deciding 
whether to withdraw the place, the length of time that the child had been at the 
school will be taken into account.  Where a place is withdrawn on the basis of 
misleading information, the application will be considered afresh, and a right of 
appeal offered if a place is refused.

The home address is considered to be the child’s along with their parents’ 
principal place of residence on the published date, i.e. where they are normally 
and regularly living. If a child is resident with friends or relatives (for reasons other 
than fostering arrangements) the friends or relatives address will not be 
considered in relation to application for admission to schools in Neath Port Talbot. 

Where parents have shared responsibility for a child and the child lives with each 
parent for part of the school week then the home address will be determined as 
the address where the child lives for the majority of the school week, e.g. 3 out of 
5 days.  Parents will be required to provide documentary evidence to support the 
address they wish to be considered for allocation purposes.

No account will be taken of the particular primary school the child is likely to 
attend subsequently or to the length of time the school has been aware of the 
parental intention to apply for a place at the school.

Only applications received by the published closing date for receipt of application 
forms will be processed in the initial round of allocation of places. Application 
forms received after the closing date will be considered as late applications.  
These will be considered on a weekly basis once the initial allocation is complete 
and places will be allocated in accordance with availability.

As nursery education is non-statutory provision parents have no statutory right of 
appeal. If they are unsuccessful in gaining a nursery place, wherever possible, 
children will be offered a place within two miles of the child’s place of residence.

Page 250



5

Attendance at a nursery class does not automatically entitle a child to a 
place at a reception class in the same school. A separate application will 
have to be submitted for admission to the reception class at the school the 
parent wishes their child to attend.

Although a separate policy provision, the Council recognises the inter-relationship 
between admission and home to school transport and advises parents to refer to 
the Council’s Home to School Travel policy when applying for a place at a school 
for their child.  The policy is available at www.npt.gov.uk

4. Admission to community primary, secondary and ‘all-through’ schools 

The County Borough Council is the admission authority for all community 
maintained primary, secondary and ‘all-though’ schools, (including Welsh-medium 
schools and sixth form provision).

All admissions to mainstream schools are approved by the Admissions Officer, 
School and Family Support Team. Children are admitted to reception classes in 
the September following their fourth birthday. Parents may defer entry until the 
term following their child’s fifth birthday.  Children transfer to secondary phase 
education in the September following their eleventh birthday.

Application forms are available from the School Admissions Section, Neath Port 
Talbot County Borough Council which the parent should complete and return to 
the Admissions Officer, School and Family Support Team, Port Talbot Civic 
Centre, Port Talbot SA13 1PJ or parents can apply online at www.npt.gov.uk.  
Requests for a place will be granted unless to do so would prejudice the provision 
of efficient education or the efficient use of resources.

Those parents who apply on time for a place at any school will be given priority 
over those who apply late.

The closing date for applications is 26th November 2021.

Parents of pupils due to transfer from one educational phase to another at the end 
of the academic year will be sent an admission application letter by the Council 
during the Autumn Term. Parents will be advised of their child’s allocated 
secondary phase education place on 1st March 2022 and primary phase education 
place on 19th April 2022.

Attendance at a nursery class does not automatically entitle a child to a reception 
class place in the same school.

Page 251

http://www.npt.gov.uk/
http://www.npt.gov.uk/


6

Children who are in receipt of a statement of special educational needs/ IDP 
which identifies mainstream education within a community school will be 
guaranteed a place at that school.

Oversubscription criteria primary phase education

Parents have the right to express a preference which will be considered 
individually and complied with wherever possible. Some schools have more 
requests for places than there are places available. Where a school is 
oversubscribed preferences will still be considered but the priorities set by the 
Council will be applied.  In deciding which children to admit to a school the 
Council applies the criteria set out below in the order of priority shown - a) being 
the highest priority.

The Council will only admit up to a school’s admission number and will not breach 
the Infant Class Size Regulations of 30 or less, save exceptional circumstances.

a) Children looked after or previously looked after by a local authority in Wales, 
section as defined in 74 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 or 
England as defined in Section 22 of the Children Act 1989.

b) Children who live within the catchment area of the nursery class for which an 
application is made.

c) Children who have an older sibling / a sibling of statutory school age 
(statutory school age is defined as pupils who are between the age of 5 and 16 i.e. 
pupils in any year group between and including reception to year 11) who will be 
on the register at the school at which the nursery class is based when they are 
admitted.  A “sibling” is defined as a full sibling, a half sibling (i.e. one shared 
parent), a step sibling (i.e. the child of a person co-habiting with a parent), a 
fostered sibling or an adopted sibling. In each case, at the time of the application 
the sibling must reside at the same address as the child or young person. Any 
sibling connection must be clearly stated in the application. In the case of multiple 
births, if it is not possible to offer all children a place in the school, the parents will 
be asked to decide which child should be offered a place first or the parents may 
wish to consider an alternative setting for all children. 

d) Children who live outside the preferred school’s catchment area

If children are equally entitled to a place in the school in categories - a) to d) 
above, then priority will be given to the child living nearest. This is measured by 

Page 252



7

the shortest suitable walking/travel route between the home and the school. The 
Council uses a Geographical Information System to calculate the shortest 
distance.

Only applications received by the published closing date for receipt of application 
forms will be considered in the initial round of allocation of places. Application 
forms received after the closing date will be considered as late applications.  
These will be considered on a weekly basis once the initial allocation is complete 
and places will be allocated in accordance with availability.

In all cases evidence of permanent residence of the pupil at time of application 
must be supplied.

Once an offer of a school place has been made the Council will only withdraw that 
offer where the place offered has been on the basis of a fraudulent or intentionally 
misleading application from a parent or young person (for example, a false claim 
to residence in a catchment area) which effectively denied a place to a child or 
young person with a stronger claim.  A school place will not be withdrawn once a 
child or young person has started at the school except where that place was 
fraudulently obtained.  In deciding whether to withdraw the place the length of time 
that the child had been at the school will be taken into account.  Where a place is 
withdrawn on the basis of misleading information the application will be considered 
afresh and a right of appeal offered if a place is refused.

The home address is considered to be the child’s along with their parents’ 
principal place of residence on the published date, i.e. where they are normally 
and regularly living.  If a child is resident with friends or relatives (for reasons 
other than fostering arrangements) the friends or relatives address will not be 
considered for allocation purposes.

Where parents have shared responsibility for a child and the child lives with both 
parents for part of the school week then the home address will be determined as 
the address where the child lives for the majority of the school week, e.g. 3 out of 
5 days.  Parents will be required to provide documentary evidence to support the 
address they wish to be considered for allocation purposes.

Right of Appeal

Parents/carers will be informed, in writing, as to whether their application has 
been successful.  Where their application has been refused parents/carers will be 
informed in writing that they have right of appeal to an Independent Admission 
Appeals Panel. In the case of Primary phase education admission appeals to be 
submitted by 20th May 2022.  Any decision made by the Panel being binding on 
the Council If the appeal is not successful a further application for a place at the 
same school will not be considered for the same academic year unless the 

Page 253



8

Admissions Officer, School and Family Support Team, determines that there are 
significant and material changes to the circumstances. 

Waiting lists
The Council will keep a waiting list of unsuccessful applicants ranked in order of 
priority according to the Council's oversubscription criteria.  As places become 
available these will be offered on the basis of the ranked order of priority.  A 
waiting list will be maintained until 30th September in the school year in which the 
applicants applied.

Although a separate policy provision, the Council recognises the inter-relationship 
between admission and home to school transport and advises parents to refer to 
the Council’s Home to School Travel policy when applying for a place at a school 
for their child.  The policy is available at www.npt.gov.uk

Oversubscription criteria secondary phase education

Parents have the right to express a preference which will be considered 
individually and complied with wherever possible. Some schools have more 
requests for places than there are places available. Where a school is 
oversubscribed preferences will still be considered but the priorities set by the 
Council will be applied.
 
In deciding which children to admit to a school the Council applies the criteria set 
out below in the order of priority shown - a) being the highest priority.

The Council will only admit up to a school’s admission number. 

Parents/carers can apply for a place at the catchment school or express a 
preference for a placement at an alternative school. Requests for a place will be 
granted unless to do so would prejudice the provision of efficient education or the 
efficient use of resources

Those parents who apply on time for a place at any school will be given priority 
over those who apply late.

a) Children and young people looked after or previously looked after by a local 
authority in Wales as defined in section 74 of the Social Services and Well-being 
(Wales) Act 2014 or England as defined in Section 22 of the Children Act 1989. 

b) Children and young people attending a partner primary school2 who live within 
the catchment area of the school for which the application is made. 

2 Reference to a partner primary school is in relation to the school for which the application is made.  For the definition of a 
partner primary school see para. 8

Page 254

http://www.npt.gov.uk/


9

c) Other children and young people who live within the catchment area of the 
school for which the application is made but do not attend a partner primary 
school.
 
d) Children and young people who have an older sibling who will be on register at 
the school when they are admitted. A “sibling” is defined as a full sibling, a half 
sibling (i.e. one shared parent), a step sibling (i.e. the child of a person co-habiting 
with a parent), a fostered sibling or an adopted sibling. In each case, at the time of 
the application the sibling must reside at the same address as the child or young 
person. Any sibling connection must be clearly stated in the application. In the 
case of multiple births, if it is not possible to offer all children a place in the school, 
parents will be asked to decide which child should be offered a place first or 
parents may wish to consider an alternative setting for all children.

e) Children and young people attending a partner primary school3, but who live 
outside the catchment area of the school for which the application is made. 

If children are equally entitled to a place in the school in categories - a) to e) 
above, then priority will be given to the child living nearest.  This is measured 
by the shortest suitable walking/travel route between the home and the 
school.  The Council uses a Geographical Information System to calculate 
the shortest distance.

Only applications received by the published closing date for receipt of application 
forms will be considered in the initial round of allocation of places. Application 
forms received after the closing date will be considered as late applications.  
These will be considered on a weekly basis once the initial allocation is complete 
and places will be allocated in accordance with availability.
In all cases evidence of permanent residence of the pupil at time of application 
must be supplied.

Once an offer of a school place has been made the Council will only withdraw that 
offer where the place offered has been on the basis of a fraudulent or intentionally 
misleading application from a parent or young person (for example, a false claim 
to residence in a catchment area) which effectively denied a place to a child or 
young person with a stronger claim. A school place will not be withdrawn once a 
child or young person has started at the school except where that place was 
fraudulently obtained.  In deciding whether to withdraw the place the length of time 
that the child had been at the school will be taken into account. Where a place is 
withdrawn on the basis of misleading information the application will be considered 
afresh and a right of appeal offered if a place is refused.

3 Reference to a partner primary school is in relation to the school for which the application is made.
For the definition of a partner primary school see para. 8

Page 255



10

The home address is considered to be the child’s along with their parents’ 
principal place of residence on the published date, i.e. where they are normally 
and regularly living. If a child is resident with friends or relatives (for reasons other 
than fostering arrangements) the friends or relatives address will not be 
considered for allocation purposes.

Where parents have shared responsibility for a child/young person and the 
child/young person lives with both parents for part of the school week then the 
home address will be determined as the address where the child lives for the 
majority of the school week, e.g. 3 out of 5 days. Parents will be required to 
provide documentary evidence to support the address they wish to be considered 
for allocation purposes.

Right of Appeal

Parents/carers will be informed, in writing, as to whether their application has 
been successful.  Where their application has been refused parents/carers will be 
informed in writing that they have right of appeal to an Independent Admission 
Appeals Panel. In the case of Secondary phase education admission appeals to 
be submitted by 25th March 2022.  Any decision made by the Panel being binding 
on the Council.  If the appeal is not successful a further application for a place at 
the same school will not be considered for the same academic year unless the 
Admissions Officer, School and Family Support Team, determines that there are 
significant and material changes to the circumstances. 

The Council will keep a waiting list of unsuccessful applicants ranked in order of 
priority according to the Council's oversubscription criteria. As places become 
available these will be offered on the basis of the ranked order of priority.  A 
waiting list will be maintained until 30th September in the school year in which the 
applicants applied.

The LA will be under no duty to comply with preference expressed otherwise than 
in accordance with its arrangements.

Although a separate policy provision, the Council recognises the inter-relationship 
between admission and home to school transport and advises parents to refer to 
the Council’s Home to School Travel policy when applying for a place at a school 
for their child.  The policy is available at www.npt.gov.uk

Page 256



11

5. Admission to Sixth Form 

There are two sixth forms within the County Borough - a community school Welsh-
medium sixth form at Ysgol Gymraeg Ystalyfera Bro Dur for which the Council is 
the admission authority and a voluntary aided school sixth form at St Joseph’s RC 
School & 6th Form Centre for which the school’s governing body is the admission 
authority

Young people who are in receipt of a statement of special educational needs 
which identifies a particular sixth form provision will be guaranteed a place at that 
school.

 Oversubscription criteria (Welsh-medium 6th Form)

Parents and pupils have the right to express a preference which will be 
considered individually and complied with wherever possible.  In the event of the 
number of requests for places exceeding the number of places available, 
preferences will still be considered but the priorities set by the Council will be 
applied.  In deciding which young people to admit to the sixth form, the Council 
applies the criteria set out below in the order of priority shown - a) being the 
highest priority.  The Council will not normally exceed the sixth form’s admission 
number.

a) Young people looked after or previously looked after by a local authority in 
Wales, as defined in section 74 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) 
Act 2014 or, or England as defined in Section 22 of the Children Act 1989.

b) Young people who have an older sibling who will be on register at the sixth 
form when they are admitted.  A “sibling” is defined as a full sibling, a half 
sibling (i.e. one shared parent), a step sibling (i.e. the child of a person co-
habiting with a parent), a fostered sibling or an adopted sibling.  In each case, 
at the time of the application the sibling must reside at the same address as 
the child or young person.  Any sibling connection must be clearly stated in 
the application.  In the case of multiple births, if it is not possible to offer all 
young people a place in the sixth form, the parents will be asked to decide 
which young person should be offered a place first or parents may wish to 
consider an alternative setting for all young people.

If young people are equally entitled to a place in the sixth form in categories a) 
and b) above then priority will be given to the young person living nearest.  This is 
measured by the shortest suitable walking/travel route between the home and the 
sixth form.  The Council uses a Geographical Information System to calculate the 
shortest distance.

Only applications received by the published closing date for receipt of application 

Page 257



12

forms will be considered in the initial round of allocation of places.  Application 
forms received after the closing date will be considered as late applications.  
These will be considered on a weekly basis once the initial allocation is complete 
and places will be allocated in accordance with availability.

In all cases evidence of permanent residence of the pupil at time of application 
must be supplied if required.

Once an offer of a school place has been made the Council will only withdraw that 
offer where the place offered has been on the basis of a fraudulent or intentionally 
misleading application from a parent or young person (for example, a false claim 
to residence in a catchment area) which effectively denied a place to a child with a 
stronger claim.  A school place will not be withdrawn once a child or young person 
has started at the school except where that place was fraudulently obtained.  In 
deciding whether to withdraw the place the length of time that the child had been 
at the school will be taken into account.  Where a place is withdrawn on the basis 
of misleading information the application will be considered afresh and a right of 
appeal offered if a place is refused.

The home address is considered to be the young person’s along with their 
parent’s principal place of residence (or the young person’s alone if they are living 
independently) on the published date, i.e. where they are normally and regularly 
living.  If a young person is resident with friends or relatives (for reasons other 
than fostering arrangements) the friends or relatives address will not be 
considered for allocation purposes.

Where parents have shared responsibility for a young person and the young 
person lives with both parents for part of the school week then the home address 
will be determined as the address where the young person lives for the majority of 
the school week, e.g. 3 out of 5 days. Parents and young people living 
independently will be required to provide documentary evidence to support the 
address they wish to be considered for allocation purposes.

If a parent or young person is dissatisfied with the result of an application for a 
particular sixth form an appeal may be submitted to the independent Admission 
Appeals Panel by 25th March 2022.  Any decision made by the Panel being 
binding on the Council. If the appeal is not successful, further applications for a 
place at the same sixth form will not be considered for the same academic year 
unless the Admissions Officer, School and Family Support Team determines that 
there are significant and material changes the circumstances.

Although a separate policy provision, the Council recognises the inter-relationship 
between admission and home to school transport and advises parents to refer to 
the Council’s Home to School Travel policy when applying for a place a school for 
their child.  The policy is available at www.npt.gov.uk

Page 258



13

6. Admission during the academic year

Requests for children and young people to transfer between schools at periods 
other than at the normal transfer age will be determined by applying the above 
arrangements.  Application forms are available from the School Admissions 
Section, Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council which the parent (or young 
person in the case of a sixth form application) should complete and return to the 
Admissions Officer, School and Family Support Team, Port Talbot Civic Centre, 
Port Talbot SA13 1PJ. Successful applicants will receive a leaving date from the 
school at which they are currently enrolled and a start date for the receiving 
school. Moving children and young people during the academic year is not 
encouraged and, unless otherwise stated, admission to the receiving school will 
be from the beginning of the following term.

Transfer into a school within the County Borough from another local authority, or 
a change of school necessitated by a change of address, will be authorised as 
soon as possible but within 15 school days or 28 calendar days whichever is the 
sooner.

Children and young people who transfer due to being in receipt of a statement of 
special educational needs will be admitted into the named school as soon as 
possible but within 15 working days.

7. Admission number and class sizes – community schools

The admission number means the number of pupils that the Council can admit to 
a school.  Each school has an admission number which is calculated using the 
Welsh Government’s ‘Measuring the capacity of schools in Wales’ assessment.  
Admission to a school cannot be refused unless the admission number has been 
reached (appendix 5)

Legislation requires the class size for classes containing pupils the majority of 
whom will attain the age of 5, 6 and 7 during the course of the school year not to 
exceed 30 pupils save for 'excepted pupils' as specified by Regulation.  The 
relevant age group is the group at which children and young people are normally 
admitted, i.e. reception for primary schools and Y7 for secondary schools.

8. Catchment areas and partner schools – community schools
For the purpose of admission to community schools, the term catchment area is 
defined as the geographical area served by a school, as determined by the 
Council.

For the purpose of admission to community schools, the term ‘partner’ school is 

Page 259



14

defined as a school that has a catchment area in common with another school of 
the same category, e.g. an English-medium community primary with an English-
medium community secondary or a Welsh-medium community primary with a 
Welsh-medium community secondary (voluntary aided schools excepted).  An 
indicative list as at 1st September 2019 is attached as appendix 4.

Copies of school catchment area maps may be obtained from the Admissions 
Officer, School and Family Support Team.

9. Admission Process overview - Community Schools

All applications for admission into a community school (including sixth form) 
within the County Borough must be made on the appropriate form to the Council 
and not to the school. Parents can apply online at www.npt.gov.uk 

Head teachers do not have the authority to admit children to their school.  
Applications have to be made to the admission authority which, for community 
schools, is the Council / LA.

All parents of children known to the Council and residing within the County 
Borough will be forwarded an admission application letter and accompanying 
admission arrangement notes during the Autumn Term prior to entry into school 
in September of the following academic year.

Parents should request an admission application form and, when completed, 
return it to the Admissions Officer or apply online, by the date given on the 
admission arrangements.

The outcome of all admission applications will be notified to parents in writing or 
by email as appropriate, with all outcomes sent from the central office on the date 
given on the admission arrangements.

Parents who are satisfied with the placement offered should confirm acceptance 
of the offer in writing to the Council or via the school admission website.  Unfilled 
places will be allocated to children and young people whose parents have applied 
for admission ahead of those who have not formally accepted the initial offer of a 
place.

Parents who are not satisfied with the placement offered have a right of appeal.

Information regarding appeals will be within the contents of the letter received.  
Appeals will be heard by an Independent Appeal Panel constituted for the sole 
purpose of hearing appeals.

Requests for admission to the relevant age group submitted on or before the 

Page 260

http://www.npt.gov.uk/


15

administrative closing date will be processed collectively.  In this respect, no 
advantage shall be gained from the early submission of an admission request.  
Requests submitted after the closing date will be processed on a weekly basis.

Admissions will not be determined on the basis of selection criteria involving the 
sitting of tests, viewing of school reports, interviewing pupils, with or without 
parents for the purpose of assessing ability or aptitude.

Where requests for admission exceed the number of places available, places will 
be allocated by applying the Council's oversubscription criteria.

The Council will keep a waiting list of unsuccessful applicants ranked in order of 
priority according to the Council's oversubscription criteria. As places become 
available, these will be offered on the basis of the ranked order of priority.  A 
waiting list will be maintained until 30th September in the school year in which 
applications were received applied.

Right of Appeal

Parents/carers will be informed, in writing, as to whether their application has 
been successful.  Where their application has been refused parents/carers will be 
informed in writing that they have right of appeal to an Independent Admission 
Appeals Panel. In the case of primary phase education admission appeals to be 
submitted by 20th May 2022.  Any decision made by the Panel being binding on 
the Council. If the appeal is not successful a further application for a place at the 
same school will not be considered for the same academic year unless the 
Admissions Officer, School and Family Support Team, determines that there are 
significant and material changes to the circumstances. 

Children attending the nursery class will not have an automatic right of admission 
to full time education at the same school.  Similarly, children transferring from 
primary phase education to secondary phase education do not have an automatic 
right of admission to any school4.

The Council will be under no duty to comply with preferences expressed 
otherwise than in accordance with its arrangements.

Separate admission arrangements apply to pupils for whom the Council holds a 
statement of special educational need. Pupils with a statement of educational 
needs must be admitted to the school named on their statement.

Looked after and previously looked after children must, after children with a 
statement of educational needs, be given first priority in the case of 

4 Children admitted to the primary phase of an ‘all-through’ school do not have to apply for a place at the same school at 
secondary transfer.

Page 261



16

oversubscription. 

10. Admission to Voluntary Aided (i.e. Faith) Schools

Although voluntary aided (i.e. Faith) schools are their own admission authority, 
through its on-line application system the Council assists the application process 
for St Joseph’s RC School & 6th Form Centre.(This applies to year 7 applications 
only) Requests for admission will be determined by reference to admission 
criteria set by the governing body. (The governing bodies of Voluntary Aided 
Schools are responsible for determining their own admission arrangements)

Page 262



17

appendix 1

Schedule of Events 
Community Schools 

Secondary Phase Education & Sixth Form Admission 2022/23

4th  October 2021

Application forms / School Prospectus / Information for Parents Handbook 
distributed to parents.  Parents of young people entering a new school (Year 7) 
have a minimum of 6 weeks to apply to a school of their choice.

Application forms to be returned to:
Mrs H Lewis, Schools Admissions Officer, Neath Port Talbot County Borough 
Council, Port Talbot Civic Centre, Port Talbot SA13 1PJ

26th November 2021

Closing date of submission of Admission Application Forms

Applications processed

1st February 2022

Children with statements of special educational needs/idp have placements 
confirmed.

1st March 2022

Parents and schools informed of allocation of secondary places to mainstream 
pupils.

25thMarch 2022

Appeals against refusal to admit

Page 263



18

appendix 2

Schedule of Events 
Community Schools

Primary Phase Education Admission 2022/23

4th October 2021

Application forms / School Prospectus, Information for Parents Handbook 
distributed to parents.  Parents of children entering a new school (Reception) 
have a minimum of 6 weeks to apply to a school of their choice.

Application forms to be returned to:
Mrs H Lewis, Schools Admissions Officer, Neath Port Talbot County Borough 
Council, Port Talbot Civic Centre, Port Talbot SA13 1PJ

26th /November 2021

Closing date of submission of Admission Application Forms
Applications processed

1st /February 2022

Children with statements of special educational needs/idp have placements 
confirmed.

19th /April 2022

Parents and schools informed of allocation of primary places to mainstream 
pupils.

20th /May 2022

Appeals against refusal to admit

Page 264



19

appendix 3

Schedule of Events for
Community Schools 

Nursery Class Admission 2022/23

5th October, 2020

Application forms distributed to parents.

Application forms to be returned to:
Mrs H Lewis, Schools Admissions Officer, Neath Port Talbot County Borough 
Council, Port Talbot Civic Centre, Port Talbot SA13 1PJ

18th /March 2022

Closing date of submission of Admission Application Forms
Applications processed

13 th /May  2022

Parents and schools informed of allocation of nursery places.

Page 265



20

appendix 4

Partner Community Schools
(Indicative list as at 01/09/19)

PARTNER COMMUNITY SCHOOLS

Secondary Primary

CEFN SAESON Crynallt Primary, Gnoll Primary, Melin Primary, Tonnau 
Primary.

CWMTAWE Alltwen Primary, Godre’rgraig Primary, Llangiwg Primary, 
Rhos Primary, Rhydyfro Primary, Tairgwaith Primary.

YSGOL BAE 
BAGLAN

Awel Y Mor Primary, Ysgol Carreg Hir, Baglan Primary, 
Blaenbaglan Primary, Sandfields Primary, Tywyn Primary.

DWR Y FELIN Abbey Primary, Blaenhonddan Primary, Coedffranc 
Primary, Crymlyn Primary, Waunceirch Primary.

YSGOL CWM 
BROMBIL

Central Primary, Coed Hirwaun Primary, Cwmafan 
Primary, Eastern Primary, Croeserw Primary, Cymer Afan 
Primary, Glyncorrwg Primary, Pen Afan Primary.

LLANGATWG Blaendulais Primary, Blaengwrach Primary, Catwg 
Primary, Cilffriw Primary, Creunant Primary, Cwmnedd 
Primary, Maesmarchog Primary, Ynysfach Primary.

YSGOL Gymraeg 
Ystalyfera – Bro Dur

YGG Blaendulais, YGG Castell-Nedd, YGG Cwmllynfell, 
YGG Cwmnedd, YGG Gwaun Cae Gurwen, YGG 
Pontardawe, YGG Rhosafan, YGG Trebannws, YGG 
Tyle’r Ynn.

NB:  Attendance at a partner school does not guarantee a place at the 
preferred school nor does it prevent parents applying to alternative schools 
of their choice.

This table does not include voluntary aided schools which are subject to 
separate admission arrangements.

Page 266



21

appendix 5

Admission Number5

September 2020

Name of school Primary Phase
Admission Number

Abbey Primary 53
Alderman Davies CIW Primary 59
Alltwen Primary 34
Awel Y Mor Primary 42
Baglan Primary 38
Blaenbaglan Primary 40
Blaendulais Primary 23
Blaengwrach Primary 20
Blaenhonddan Primary 32
Bryncoch CIW Primary 31
Catwg Primary 29
Central Primary 55
Cilffriw Primary 30
Coed Hirwaun Primary 22
Coedffranc Primary 62
Creunant Primary 19
Croeserw Primary 25
Crymlyn Primary 8
Crynallt Primary 57
Cwmafan Primary 60
Cwmnedd Primary 30
Cymer Afan Primary 12
Eastern Primary 26
Glyncorrwg Primary 19
Gnoll Primary 48
Godre'rgraig Primary 23
Llangiwg Primary 21
Maesmarchog Primary 16
Melin Primary 34
Pen Afan Primary 18
Rhos Primary 25
Rhydyfro Primary 24
Sandfields Primary 53
St Joseph's Infant 34
St Joseph's Junior 39
St Joseph's Primary 29

5 Voluntary aided (i.e. Faith) schools admission numbers included

Page 267



22

St Therese's Primary 28
Tairgwaith Primary 21
Tonnau Primary 30
Tywyn Primary 52
Waunceirch Primary 30
Ysgol Bae Baglan Primary Phase 40
Ynysfach Primary 25
Ysgol Carreg Hir 60
Ysgol Cwm Brombil Primary Phase 30
Ysgol Gymraeg Ystalyfera Bro Dur Primary 
Phase 26
YGG Blaendulais 17
YGG Castell Nedd 48
YGG Cwm Nedd 26
YGG Gwaun Cae Gurwen 25
YGG Pontardawe 51
YGG Rhosafan 45
YGG Tyle'r Ynn 29
YGG Cwmllynfell 13
YGG Trebannws 18

Name of School  Secondary Phase Sixth Form
 Admission Number Admission Number
Cefn Saeson Comprehensive 184  
Cwmtawe Community 256  
Dwr-y-Felin Comprehensive 220  
Ysgol Cwm Brombil Secondary Phase 210  
Llangatwg Community 233  
St Joseph's RC School and 6th Form Centre 144 143
Ysgol Bae Baglan Secondary Phase 220
Ysgol Gymraeg Ystalyfera Bro Dur 240 130

Page 268



Document is Restricted

Page 269

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 277

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Gnoll Estate Country Park Masterplan
	Appendix 1 - Visitor Experience Action Plan Gnoll Estate Country Park
	Appendix 2 Gnoll Estate Country Park Visitor Experience and Accommodation Masterplan Report
	Appendix 3 - Woodland Trust Location Plan
	Appendix 4 First Stage IIA Assessment

	4 Neath Business Improvement District Ballot
	Re ballot BID area - Appendix 1
	Integrated Imapct Assessment - Neath Inspired - Re ballot 2021- Appendix 2

	5 Traffic Order 2020 and Traffic Calming Measures at Penscynor, Cilfrew (Revocation) (20 MPH Speed Limits)
	C20920.PEN.01-Layout1
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	APPENDIX B -IIA- WG Funded scheme 20 mph Zone, Cilfrew -2020

	6 Miscellaneous Grant Fund Applications
	7 Information Technology Equipment for Schools
	8 Admission to Community Schools:2022/2023
	NPTCBC Community School Admission Arrangements 20222023 Consult DRAFT

	11 Leisure Services Financial Arrangements (Exempt Under Paragraph 14)
	200309 First Stage Assessment Leisure Contract Funding


